








































































































































































































































































Infibeam Avenues Limited

Annual Report 2020-21130

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended March 31, 2021

(` in Million)

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

A Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 604.49 598.48 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Depreciation and amortization expense 688.77 712.18 

Employee stock option expense (net) 23.54 42.04 

Finance costs 35.52 42.18 

Interest Income (64.14) (69.86)

Short term capital gain on sale of mutual fund (0.29) (1.46)

Profit on sale of Investment in subsidiary (3.00) - 

Excess Allowance written back (10.92) - 

Unrealised foreign currency loss / (gain) (net) 0.96 (7.50)

Liability No Longer reuired (3.58) - 

Balances written off 10.92 - 

Allowance for doubtful debts 29.74 12.45 

Operating profit before working capital changes 1,312.01 1,328.52 

Adjustments for:

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 3,342.11 (1,005.34)

Movement in provisions 7.89 7.20 

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (234.39) (73.73)

(Increase)/decrease in other assets (2,711.79) 162.20 

Net changes in working capital 403.81 (909.66)

Cash generated from operations 1,715.82 418.85 

Direct Taxes paid (Net of Income Tax refund) (137.87) (178.71)

Net cash flows from operating activities (A) 1,577.94 240.14 

B Cash flow from investing activities

Payment for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible asset 
(including capital work-in-progress, intangible under development and capital 
advances)

(432.08) (413.26)

Government grant received - 95.85 

Loans and advances given to subsidiaries (net) 16.76 78.26 

Repayment of Loans and advances by others (net) 11.01 (11.04)

Interest received 63.68 71.62 

Fixed deposits with bank (net) 117.65 (114.38)

Investments for acquisition of shares (900.45) (190.26)

Purchase of mutual fund (152.49) (550.50)

Proceeds from sale of mutual fund 152.79 551.96 

Proceeds from sale of Investment (Net) 3.00 - 

Net cash (used in) Investing Activities (B) (1,120.12) (481.74)
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Statement of cash flows (Continued)
for the year ended March 31, 2021

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

C Cash flow from financing activities

Dividend paid (0.00) (65.28)

Dividend distribution tax paid - (14.06)

Proceeds from exercise of ESOP 0.81 1.33 

Interest paid (28.01) (42.21)

Proceeds / repayment of borrowings (net) (65.40) (87.89)

Net Cash (used in) Financing Activities ( C ) (92.61) (208.12)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents (A+B+C) 365.21 (449.71)

Cash & Cash equivalent at the beginning of the year 734.14 1,228.65 

Less: Cash & Cash equivalent of demerged undertakings - (44.79)

Cash & Cash equivalent at the end of the year 1,099.35 734.14 

The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in Indian Accounting Standard (IND AS) - 7 
‘’Statement of Cash Flows’’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

(` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of: (Note 7)

Balance with Bank

(a)	 Current accounts 351.51 521.41 

(b)	 Balance with bank in Nodal Accounts 747.80 212.42 

Cash on hand 0.05 0.31 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,099.35 734.14 

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes - 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,099.35 734.14 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these standalone financial statements.
As per our report of even date
For Shah & Taparia For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Infibeam Avenues Limited 
ICAI Firm Registration No. 109463W (formerly known as Infibeam Incorporation Limited) 

CIN: L64203GJ2010PLC061366 

Ramesh Pipalawa Vishal Mehta Ajit Mehta 
Partner Managing Director Chairman 
Membership No.: 103840 DIN: 03093563 DIN: 01234707 

Gandhinagar Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021

Hiren Padhya Shyamal Trivedi
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

1.	 Corporate Information

	 Infibeam Avenues Limited (formerly known as 
Infibeam Incorporation Limited) (‘the Company’) was 
incorporated on June 30, 2010 under the Companies 
Act, 1956. The Company is primarily engaged in business 
of software development services, maintenance, web 
development, payment gateway services, e-commerce 
and other ancillary services.

	 The Company is a public company domiciled in India 
and is incorporated under the provisions of the 
Companies Act applicable in India. The Company’s 
shares are listed on the BSE Limited and National Stock 
Exchange of India Limited in India. The registered 
office of the company is located at 28th Floor, GIFT 
Two Building, Block No. 56, Road-5C, Zone-5, GIFT CITY, 
Gandhinagar, Taluka & District - Gandhinagar – 382 
355. 

	 The financial statements were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on May 
27, 2021.

2.	 Basis of preparation

	 These financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) under the 
historical cost convention on an accrual basis except 
for certain financial instruments which are measured at 
fair values, the provisions of the Companies Act , 2013 
(`Act’) (to the extent notified) and guidelines issued by 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI). The 
Ind AS are prescribed under Section 133 of the Act 
read with Rule 3 of the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015 and Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2016. 

	 The Company has adopted all the Ind AS standards 
and the adoption was carried out in accordance with 
Ind AS 101 First time adoption of Indian Accounting 
Standards. The transition was carried out from Indian 
Accounting Principles generally accepted in India as 
prescribed under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 
7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (IGAAP), 
which was the previous GAAP. 

	 The financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for the following :

	 Certain financial assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding 
financial instruments),

	 The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee 
(‘`’) which is also the Company’s functional currency and 
all values are rounded to the nearest millions, except 
when otherwise indicated. 

3.	 Critical accounting estimates

	 In the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies, management has made the following 
judgements, which have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

3.1.	 Estimates and assumption

	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are described 
below. The Company based its assumptions and 
estimates on parameters available when the financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments, however, 
may change due to market changes or circumstances 
arising that are beyond the control of the Company. 
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when 
they occur.

3.2.	 Defined benefit plans

	 The cost of the defined benefit plans and the 
present value of the obligation are determined using 
actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves 
making various assumptions that may differ from 
actual developments in the future. These include 
the determination of the discount rate, future salary 
increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities 
involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a 
defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes 
in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at 
each reporting date. The parameter most subject to 
change is the discount rate. Discount rate has been 
determined by reference to market yields on the 
government bonds as at the balance sheet date. The 
mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality 
tables. Those mortality tables tend to change only at 
intervals in response to demographic changes. Future 
salary increases are based on expected future inflation 
rates for the country.

	 Further details about defined benefit obligations are 
provided in Note 25.

3.3.	 Share-based payments

	 The Company initially measures the cost of equity-
settled transactions with employees using a black 
schole model to determine the fair value of the 
liability incurred. Estimating fair value for share-based 
payment transactions requires determination of the 
most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent 
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate 
also requires determination of the most appropriate 
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inputs to the valuation model including the expected 
life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and 
making assumptions about them. For equity-settled 
share-based payment transactions, the liability needs 
to be measured at the time of grant. 

	 The Company has also approved the grant of Employee 
Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) to the eligible 
employees of the Company. Each SAR shall confer the 
right to the eligible employee to receive appreciation 
(cash settled / equity settled) with respect to the 
underlying Equity Share on the entitled shares after 
it has been exercised in accordance with terms of the 
Scheme.

	 The assumptions and models used for estimating 
fair value for share-based payment transactions are 
disclosed in Note 28.

3.4.	 Taxes

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax 
credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the losses can 
be utilised. Significant management judgement is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely 
timing and the level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies. 

	 The Company has ` 215.39 million of MAT tax credits 
carried forward. These credits expire in 10 - 15 years. 
The Company does not have tax planning opportunities 
available that could support the recognition of these 
credits as deferred tax assets. On this basis, the 
Company has determined that it cannot recognise 
deferred tax assets on the MAT tax credits carried 
forward. 

	 If the Company was able to recognise unrecognised 
deferred MAT tax assets, profit and equity would have 
increased by ` 215.39 million. Further details on taxes 
are disclosed in Note 24.

3.5.	 Intangible asset including intangible asset under 
development

	 Intangible development costs are capitalised as and 
when technical and commercial feasibility of the 
asset is demonstrated, future economic benefits are 
probable. The costs which can be capitalized include 
the salary and ESOP cost of employees that are directly 
attributable to development of the asset for its intended 
use. Research and maintenance costs are expensed as 
incurred. Intangible assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
Refer Note 4.6 for the estimated useful life of Intangible 

assets. The carrying value of Intangible assets has been 
disclosed in Note 6.

3.6.	 Property, plant and equipment

	 Refer Note 4.5 for the estimated useful life of Property, 
plant and equipment. The carrying value of Property, 
plant and equipment has been disclosed in Note 5.

3.7.	 Revenue recognition

	 Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control of 
promised services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration which the Company expects 
to receive in exchange for those services.

3.8.	 Investments

	 Investment in subsidiaries and associates is carried at 
cost in the standalone financial statements.

3.9.	 Estimation of uncertainties relating to the global 
health pandemic from COVID-19

	 In assessing the recoverability of assets including trade 
receivables, unbilled receivables and investments, 
the Company has considered internal and external 
information upto the date of approval of these financial 
statements including credit reports and economic 
forecasts. The Company has performed sensitivity 
analysis on the assumptions used and based on current 
indicators of future economic conditions, the Company 
expects to recover the carrying amount of these assets. 
The eventual outcome of impact of the global health 
pandemic may be different from those estimated on the 
date of approval of these financial statements.

4.	 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

	 The following are the significant accounting policies 
applied by the company in preparing its financial 
statements:

4.1.	 Current versus non-current classification 

	 The Company presents assets and liabilities in 
the Balance Sheet based on current/non-current 
classification.

An asset is treated as current when it is:

	 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or 
consumed in the normal operating cycle;

	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

	 Expected to be realised within twelve months 
after the reporting period; or

	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from 
being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period.

05 Financials Statements



Infibeam Avenues Limited

Annual Report 2020-21134

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

	 It is expected to be settled in the normal operating 
cycle;

	 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after 
the reporting period; or

	 There is no unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period.

	 The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-
current.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-
current assets and liabilities.

	 The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition 
of assets for processing and their realisation in cash 
and cash equivalents. The Company has identified 
twelve months as its operating cycle.

4.2.	 Business combinations and goodwill

	 Business combinations are accounted for using the 
acquisition method prescribed under IND AS. The cost 
of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred measured at acquisition 
date fair value. 

	 Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.

	 At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised 
at their acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, 
the liabilities assumed include contingent liabilities 
representing present obligation and they are 
measured at their acquisition fair values irrespective of 
the fact that outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is not probable. However, the following assets 
and liabilities acquired in a business combination are 
measured at the basis indicated below:

	 Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and the assets or 
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements 
are recognised and measured in accordance with Ind 
AS 12 Income Tax and Ind AS 19 Employee Benefits 
respectively. 

	 When the Company acquires a business, it assesses the 
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with 
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This 
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in 
host contracts by the acquiree.

	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, any 
previously held equity interest is re-measured at its 
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss.

	 Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess 
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and 
any previous interest held, over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

	 A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been 
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit 
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the 
cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, 
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit 
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based 
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any 
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or 
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 
reversed in subsequent periods. 

	 Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit and part of the operation within that 
unit is disposed off, the goodwill associated with the 
disposed operation is included in the carrying amount 
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is 
measured based on the relative values of the disposed 
operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit 
retained. 

	 If the initial accounting for a business combination 
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period 
in which the combination occurs, the Company 
reports provisional amounts for the items for which 
the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional 
amounts are adjusted through goodwill during the 
measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities 
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained 
about facts and circumstances that existed at the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the 
amounts recognized at that date. These adjustments 
are called as measurement period adjustments. The 
measurement period does not exceed one year from 
the acquisition date.

4.3.	 Foreign currencies

	 The company’s financial statements are presented in `, 
which is also the company’s functional currency. 

Transactions and balances

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded 
by the Company at the functional currency spot rate at 
the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.
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	 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the functional currency 
spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Exchange 
differences arising on settlement or translation of 
monetary items are recognised in statement of profit 
or loss. 

	 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial 
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is 
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of 
non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated 
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on 
the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation 
differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is 
recognised in OCI or statement of profit or loss are also 
recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

4.4.	 Fair value measurement

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell 
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

	 In the principal market for the asset or liability

Or

	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability.

	 The principal or the most advantageous market must 
be accessible by the Company.

	 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured 
using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their economic best interest.

	 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes 
into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

	 The company uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, 
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 

within the fair value hierarchy, as described below, 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole:

	 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

	 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable.

	 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable.

	 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the 
financial statements on a recurring basis, the company 
determines whether transfers have occurred between 
levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company 
has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the 
asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, 
as explained above.

	 This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. 
Other fair value related disclosures are given in the 
relevant notes.

	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions

	 Quantitative disclosures of fair value 
measurement hierarchy

	 Financial instruments (including those carried at 
amortised cost)

4.5.	 Property, plant and equipment

	 The Company has elected to continue with the carrying 
value for all of its property, plant and equipment’s 
assets as recognised in its previous GAAP financial as 
deemed cost at the transition date, i.e., 1 April 2015.

	 Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, 
net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost 
of replacing part of the plant and equipment and 
borrowing costs for long-term construction projects 
if the recognition criteria are met. The cost of assets 
acquired in a business combination is their fair value 
at the date of acquisition. When significant parts of 
Property, plant and equipment are required to be 
replaced at intervals, the Company recognises such 
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parts as individual assets with specific useful lives 
and depreciates them accordingly. All repair and 
maintenance costs are recognised in statement of 
profit or loss as incurred. 

	 Capital work-in-progress comprises cost of fixed assets 
that are not yet installed and ready for their intended 
use at the balance sheet date.

	 Depreciation is calculated on a written down value 
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as 
follows: 

	 Building – 60 years 

	 Leasehold Improvements - 10 years 

	 Plant and equipment - 5 to 10 years

	 Furniture & Fixtures - 10 years

	 Vehicles - 8 years

	 Computer & Peripherals - 3 to 6 years

	 An item of property, plant and equipment and any 
significant part initially recognised is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or 
loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss when the asset is 
derecognised.

4.6.	 Intangible Assets

	 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured 
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is their 
fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost include acquisition and other 
incidental cost related to acquiring the intangible asset.

	 Research costs are expensed as incurred. Intangible 
development costs are capitalised as and when 
technical and commercial feasibility of the asset is 
demonstrated, future economic benefits are probable. 
The costs which can be capitalized include the salary and 
ESOP cost of employees that are directly attributable to 
development of the asset for its intended use. 

	 The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as 
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite 
lives are amortised over the useful economic life 
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset are considered to modify the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and 
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
lives is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

	 Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an 
intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset and are recognised in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss when the asset is derecognised.

Amortisation 

	 Period of Amortisation of Intangibles is calculated as 
follows:

	 Computer software acquired on Amalgamation - 
6 years

	 Computer software acquired - 10 years (w.e.f. 
April 01, 2020)

 	 Trademark acquired on Amalgamation - 25 years 
(w.e.f. April 01, 2020)

	 IT Platform acquired on Amalgamation - 5 years 
(w.e.f. April 01, 2020)

	 Customer Relationship acquired on Amalgamation 
- 25 years (w.e.f. April 01, 2020)

	 Internally generated Computer Software - 5 years 
(w.e.f. April 01, 2020)

Intangible assets under development

	 Expenditure incurred on acquisition /construction 
of intangible assets which are not ready for their 
intended use at balance sheet date are disclosed 
under Intangible assets under development. During 
the period of development, the asset is tested for 
impairment annually.

4.7.	 Leases

	 The Company assesses at contract inception whether a 
contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Company as a lessee 

	 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily comprise 
of lease for building. The Company assesses whether a 
contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys 
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the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether: 
(i) the contract involves the use of an identified asset 
(ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic 
benefits from use of the asset through the period 
of the lease and (iii) the Company has the right to 
direct the use of the asset. The Company applies a 
single recognition and measurement approach for 
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets. For these short-term and low value 
leases, the Company recognizes the lease payments 
as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. The Company recognises lease 
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying 
assets as below:

i)	 Right-of-use assets 

	 The Company recognises right-of-use assets at 
the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the 
date the underlying asset is available for use). 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement 
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use 
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentives received. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the shorter of the lease term and the 
estimated useful lives of the underlying assets 
(i.e. 30 and 60 years) If ownership of the leased 
asset transfers to the Company at the end of the 
lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a 
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using 
the estimated useful life of the asset. The right-of-
use assets are also subject to impairment. 

ii) 	 Lease Liabilities 

	 At the commencement date of the lease, the 
Company recognises lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in substance fixed 
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index 
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees. The lease payments 
also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by 

the Company and payments of penalties for 
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects 
the Company exercising the option to terminate. 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on 
an index or a rate are recognised as expenses 
(unless they are incurred to produce inventories) 
in the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers the payment occurs.

	 In calculating the present value of lease 
payments, the Company uses its incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date because the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion 
of interest and reduced for the lease payments 
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease 
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 
a change in the lease term, a change in the lease 
payments (e.g., changes to future payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used 
to determine such lease payments) or a change 
in the assessment of an option to purchase the 
underlying asset. The Company’s lease liabilities 
are included in other current and non-current 
financial liabilities.

(iii) 	 Short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets 

	 The Company applies the short-term lease 
recognition exemption to its short-term leases 
(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date 
and do not contain a purchase option). It also 
applies the lease of low-value assets recognition 
exemption to leases that are considered to be 
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. “Lease liability” and “Right of Use” asset 
have been separately presented in the Balance 
Sheet and lease payments have been classified 
as financing cash flows.

Company as a lessor

	 Leases for which the Company is a lessor is 
classified as finance or operating lease. Leases 
in which the Company does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset are classified as operating 
leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on 
a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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4.8.	 Government Grants
	 Government grants are recognised at their fair value 

where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Company will comply with all 
attached conditions.

	 Government grants relating to expense item is 
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the 
period that the related costs, for which it is intended to 
compensate, are expensed.

	 Government grants related to assets (i.e. those whose 
primary condition is that an entity qualifying for them 
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire long-
term assets), including non-monetary grants at fair 
value, are presented in the balance sheet by deducting 
the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the 
asset, in which case the grant is recognised in profit or 
loss as a reduction of depreciation expense.

4.9.	 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations

	 Non-current assets and Disposal Group are classified 
as held for sale if their carrying amount is intended 
to be recovered principally through sale rather than 
through continuing use. The condition for classification 
of held for sale is met when the non-current asset or 
the Disposal Group is available for immediate sale 
and the same is highly probable of being completed 
within one year from the date of classification as held 
for sale. Non-current assets and Disposal Group held 
for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less cost to sell. Non-current assets and 
Disposal Group that ceases to be classified as held for 
sale shall be measured at the lower of carrying amount 
before the non-current asset and Disposal Group was 
classified as held for sale adjusted for any depreciation/ 
amortization and its recoverable amount at the date 
when the Disposal Group no longer meets the “Held 
for sale” criteria.

	 A discontinued operation is a component of the 
undertaking that has been disposed off or is classified 
as held for sale and 
	 represents a separate line of business or 

graphical area of operations and;
	 is a part of a single coordinated plan to dispose 

off such a line of business or area of operations.
	 The results of discontinued operations are presented 

separately in the Standalone Statement of Profit and 
Loss.

4.10.	Impairment of non-financial assets
	 Non-financial assets are evaluated for recoverability 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable 
amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell 
and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual 
asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash 
flows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets. In such cases, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash generated unit (CGU) to which 
the asset belongs.

	 If such assets are considered to be impaired, the 
impairment to be recognized in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss is measured by the amount by which 
the carrying value of the assets exceeds the estimated 
recoverable amount of the asset. An impairment loss 
is reversed in the statement of profit and loss if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. The carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, 
provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of any 
accumulated amortization or depreciation) had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior 
years.

	 Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired.

	 Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the 
recoverable amount of each CGU to which the goodwill 
relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is 
less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill 
cannot be reversed in future periods. 

	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
tested for impairment annually at the CGU level, as 
appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired.

4.11.	Borrowing cost

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its 
intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost 
of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the period in which they occur.

4.12.	Revenue Recognition

Rendering of services

	 Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control of 
promised services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration which the Company expects 
to receive in exchange for those services.
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	 Revenue from payment gateway services is recognised 
on settlement of transactions measured by value of 
transactions processed as per the rates and terms 
agreed between parties.

	 Revenue from Web Services is recognised upfront 
at the point in time when the service is delivered to 
the customer. In cases where implementation and 
/ or customisation services rendered significantly 
modifies or customises, these service is recognised 
proportionally over the period.

	 Registry Services revenues primarily arise from fixed 
fees charged to registrars for the initial registration 
or renewal of .ooo domain names. Revenues from the 
initial registration or renewal of domain names are 
deferred and recognized rateably over the registration 
term, generally one year and up to ten years. Fees 
for renewals and advance extensions to the existing 
term are deferred until the new incremental period 
commences. These fees are then recognized rateably 
over the renewal term.

	 Revenue is measured based on the consideration 
specified in a contract with the customer and 
excludes amounts collected on behalf of customers. 
The Company presents revenue net of discounts 
and collection charges. Revenue also excludes taxes 
collected from customers.

	 Revenue from subsidiaries is recognised based on 
transaction price which is at arm’s length.

	 Contract assets are recognised when there is excess 
of revenue earned over billings on contracts. Contract 
assets are classified as unbilled revenue (only act of 
invoicing is pending) when there is unconditional right 
to receive cash, and only passage of time is required, as 
per contractual terms. 

	 Excess billing over revenue (“contract liability”) is 
recognised when there is billing in excess of revenues.

	 In accordance with Ind AS 37, the Company recognises 
an onerous contract provision when the unavoidable 
costs of meeting the obligations under a contract 
exceed the economic benefits to be received.

	 Contracts are subject to modification to account for 
changes in contract specification and requirements. 
The Company reviews modification to contract in 
conjunction with the original contract, basis which 
the transaction price could be allocated to a new 
performance obligation, or transaction price of an 
existing obligation could undergo a change. In the 
event transaction price is revised for existing obligation, 
a cumulative adjustment is accounted for.

	 The Company disaggregates revenue from contracts 
with customers by offering and geography.

	 The Company exercises judgement in determining 
whether the performance obligation is satisfied at a 
point in time or over a period of time. The Company 
considers indicators such as how customer consumes 
benefits as services are rendered or who controls the 
asset as it is being created or existence of enforceable 
right to payment for performance to date as per 
contract.

Interest income

	 For all financial instruments measured at amortised 
cost, interest income is recorded using the effective 
interest rate (EIR). The EIR is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the 
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost 
of a financial liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Company estimates the expected 
cash flows by considering all the contractual terms 
of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, 
extension, call and similar options) but does not 
consider the expected credit losses. Interest income is 
included in other income in the statement of profit or 
loss.

Rental income

	 Rental income arising from operating leases is 
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
terms and is included in other income in the statement 
of profit or loss due to its nature.

Export incentives

	 Export incentives are accounted on accrual basis based 
on services rendered.

4.13.	Financial instruments – initial recognition and 
subsequent measurement

	 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity.

a)	 Financial assets

(i)	 Initial recognition and measurement.

	 All financial assets, except investment in 
subsidiaries and joint ventures, are recognised 
initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial 
assets not recorded at fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial assets.
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(ii)	 Subsequent measurement

	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, 
financial assets are classified in four categories:

	 Debt instruments at amortised cost

	 Debt instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

	 Debt instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL)

	 Equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 
(FVTOCI)

	 Equity instruments measured at fair value 
through statement of profit and loss (FVTPL)

	 Debt instruments at amortised cost: 

	 A debt instrument is measured at amortised 
cost if both the following conditions are met:

-	 the asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is to hold 
assets for collecting contractual cash 
flows, and

-	 Contractual terms of the asset give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal 
and interest (SPPI) on the principal 
amount outstanding.

	 After initial measurement, such financial 
assets are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of 
the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in 
other income in the statement of profit and 
loss. The losses arising from impairment 
are recognised in the statement of profit 
and loss. This category generally applies to 
trade and other receivables.

	 Debt instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

	 A debt instrument is measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income if 
both of the following criteria are met:

-	 the objective of the business model is 
achieved both by collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial assets, 
and

-	 the asset’s contractual cash flows represent 
SPPI.

	 Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI 
category are measured initially as well as at each 
reporting date at fair value. Fair value movements 
are recognized in the other comprehensive 
income (OCI). However, interest income, 
impairment losses & reversals and foreign 
exchange gain or loss are recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss. On derecognition 
of the asset, cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in OCI is reclassified from the equity 
to statement of profit and loss. Interest earned 
whilst holding FVTOCI debt instrument is reported 
as interest income using the EIR method. 

	 Debt instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL)

	 FVTPL is a residual category for debt 
instruments. Any debt instrument, which 
does not meet the criteria for categorization 
as at amortized cost or as FVTOCI, is 
classified as at FVTPL.

	 In addition, the Company may elect to 
designate a debt instrument, which 
otherwise meets amortized cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income 
criteria, as at fair value through profit or 
loss. However, such election is allowed 
only if doing so reduces or eliminates a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency 
(referred to as ‘accounting mismatch’). The 
Company has not designated any debt 
instrument as at FVTPL.

	 Debt instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with 
all changes recognised in the Statement of 
profit and loss.

	 Equity instruments:

	 All equity investments in scope of Ind-
AS 109 are measured at fair value. 
Equity instruments which are held for 
trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all 
other equity instruments, the Company 
may make an irrevocable election to  
present in other comprehensive income 
subsequent changes in the fair value. 
The Company makes such election on 
an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition 
and is irrevocable.
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	 If the Company decides to classify an equity 
instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value 
changes on the instrument, excluding 
dividends, are recognized in the OCI. There 
is no recycling of the amounts from OCI to 
P&L, even on sale of investment. However, 
the Company may transfer the cumulative 
gain or loss within equity.

	 Equity instruments included within the 
FVTPL category are measured at fair 
value with all changes recognized in the 
statement of profit and loss.

	 Investment in subsidiaries and 
associates: 

	 Investment in subsidiaries and associates 
is carried at cost in the standalone financial 
statements.

(iii)	 Derecognition of financial assets

	 A financial asset (or where applicable a part of 
a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. 
removed from the Company’s balance sheet) 
when:

	 The rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired, or

	 The Company has transferred its rights 
to receive cash flows from the asset or 
has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement; and either (a) the 
Company has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) the Company has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

	 When the Company has transferred its rights to 
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered 
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates 
if and to what extent it has retained the risks 
and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Company continues to 
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of 
the Company’s continuing involvement. In that 
case, the Company also recognises an associated 
liability. The transferred asset and the associated 
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the 

rights and obligations that the Company has 
retained.

	 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the 
asset and the maximum amount of consideration 
that the Company could be required to repay.

(iv)	 Impairment of financial assets

	 The Company recognizes loss allowances using 
the expected credit loss (ECL) model for the 
financial assets which are not fair valued through 
profit or loss. Loss allowance for trade receivables 
with no significant financing component is 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. 
For all other financial assets, expected credit 
losses are measured at an amount equal to the 
12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk from initial recognition in 
which case those are measured at lifetime ECL. 
The amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) 
that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the 
reporting date to the amount that is required to 
be recognised is recognized as an impairment 
gain or loss in profit or loss.

b)	 Financial Liabilities

(i)	 Initial recognition and measurement

	 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial 
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, 
payables, as appropriate.

	 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction 
costs. 

	 The Company’s financial liabilities include trade 
and other payables, loans and borrowings.

(ii)	 Subsequent measurement of financial 
liabilities

	 The measurement of financial liabilities depends 
on their classification, as described below:

	 Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss

	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss include financial liabilities held for 
trading and financial liabilities designated 
upon initial recognition as at fair value 
through profit or loss. Financial liabilities 
are classified as held for trading if they are 
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incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in 
the near term.

	 Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading 
are recognised in the profit or loss.

	 Financial liabilities designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through profit or loss 
are designated as such at the initial date of 
recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind-AS 
109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated as 
FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to 
changes in own credit risks are recognized in 
OCI. These gains/ loss are not subsequently 
transferred to P&L. However, the Company 
may transfer the cumulative gain or loss 
within equity. All other changes in fair 
value of such liability are recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss. The Company 
has not designated any financial liability as at 
fair value through profit and loss.

	 Loans and Borrowings

	 After initial recognition, interest-bearing 
borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognised as well 
as through the EIR amortisation process. 

	 Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation 
is included as finance costs in the statement 
of profit and loss.

This category generally applies to borrowings.

(iii)	 Derecognition of financial liabilities

	 A financial liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires.

	 When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability. The difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit 
and loss.

c)	 Offsetting of financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 
and the net amount is reported in the balance 

sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right 
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

4.14.	Cash and cash equivalent

	 Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise 
cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less, which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

	 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term 
deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of 
the Company’s cash management.

4.15.	Treasury shares

	 The Company has created an Employee Benefit 
Trust (EBT) for providing share-based payment to its 
employees. The Company uses EBT as a vehicle for 
distributing shares to employees under the employee 
remuneration schemes. The EBT buys shares of 
the company from the market, for giving shares to 
employees. The Company treats EBT as its extension 
and shares held by EBT are treated as treasury shares. 

	 Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury 
shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the 
Company’s own equity instruments. 

4.16.	Taxes

	 Tax expense comprises of current income tax and 
deferred tax.

Current income tax

	 Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

	 Current income tax relating to items recognised 
outside Statement of profit and loss is recognised 
outside Statement of profit and loss (either in other 
comprehensive income or equity). Current tax items 
are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulations are 
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate.



Purpose Fuels Growth 143

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes at the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except:

	 When the deferred tax liability arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss;

	 In respect of taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint arrangements, when the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary differences 
can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax 
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except:

	 When the deferred tax asset relating to the 
deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

	 In respect of deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint arrangements, 
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 
and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed 
at each reporting date and are recognised to the 

extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to 
be recovered.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside 
Statement of profit and loss is recognised outside 
Statement of profit and loss. Deferred tax items 
are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity.

	 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority.

	 The Company does not recognizes tax credits in 
the nature of MAT credit as an asset since there is 
no convincing evidence that the Company will pay 
normal income tax during the specified period, 
i.e., the period for which tax credit is allowed to 
be carried forward. In the future year in which the 
Company recognizes tax credits as an asset, the 
said asset will be created by way of tax credit to 
the Statement of profit and loss.

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT)

	 Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) is in the nature of 
unused tax credit which can be carried forward 
and utilised when the Company will pay normal 
income tax during the specified period. Deferred 
tax assets on such tax credit is recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that the unused 
tax credit can be utilised in the specified future 
period.

	 Acquired deferred tax benefits recognised 
within the measurement period reduce goodwill 
related to that acquisition if they result from 
new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances existing at the acquisition date. 
All other acquired tax benefits realised are 
recognised in profit or loss.

4.17.	Retirement and other employee benefits

a)	 Short Term Employee Benefits

	 All employee benefits payable within twelve 
months of rendering the service are classified as 
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short term employee benefits. The undiscounted 
amount of short term employee benefits 
expected to be paid in exchange for the services 
rendered by employees is recognised during the 
year. 

b)	 Post-Employment Benefits

(i)	 Defined benefit plan

	 Gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit 
plan. The present value of the obligation under 
such defined benefit plans is determined 
based on the actuarial valuation using the  
Projected Unit Credit Method as at the date 
of the Balance sheet reduced by the fair value 
of any plan assets. The discount rate used for 
determining the present value of the obligation 
under defined benefit plan, are based on the 
market yields on Government securities as at the 
balance sheet date. 

	 Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial 
gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, 
excluding amounts included in net interest on 
the net defined benefit liability and the return 
on plan assets (excluding amounts included in 
net interest on the net defined benefit liability), 
are recognised immediately in the Balance Sheet 
with a corresponding debit or credit to retained 
earnings through OCI in the period in which they 
occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified 
to Statement of Profit and Loss in subsequent 
periods.

	 Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss 
on the earlier of:

	 The date of the plan amendment or 
curtailment, and

	 The date that the Company recognises 
related restructuring costs 

	 Net interest is calculated by applying the discount 
rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 
The Company recognises the following changes 
in the net defined benefit obligation as an 
expense in the Statement of profit and loss:

	 Service costs comprising current service 
costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements; 
and 

	 Net interest expense or income
	 The Company has not invested in any fund for 

meeting liability.

4.18.	Share-based payments
	 Employees of the Company receive remuneration in the 

form of share-based payments, whereby employees 
render services as consideration for equity instruments 
(equity-settled transactions).
Equity-settled transactions

	 The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined 
by the fair value at the date when the grant is made 
using an appropriate valuation model.

	 That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding 
increase in share-based payment (SBP) reserves in 
equity, over the period in which the performance and/
or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefits 
expense. The cumulative expense recognised for 
equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until 
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting 
period has expired and the Company’s best estimate of 
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately 
vest. The statement of profit and loss expense or credit 
for a period represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of 
that period and is recognised in employee benefits 
expense. No expense is recognised for awards that do 
not ultimately vest because non-market performance 
and/or service conditions have not been met. 

	 The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share.
Employee Stock Appreciation Rights (SAR)

	 The company has formed ‘Infibeam Employee Welfare 
Trust’ (IEW trust) for implementation of the schemes 
that are notified or may be notified from time to time 
by the Company under the plan, providing share 
based payment to its employees. IEW trust purchases 
Company’s shares out of funds provided by the 
Company. Accordingly, the Company has approved the 
grant of Employee Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) to 
the eligible employees of the Company. Each SAR shall 
confer the right to the eligible employee to receive 
appreciation (cash settled / equity settled) with respect 
to the underlying Equity Share on the entitled shares 
after it has been exercised in accordance with terms of 
the Scheme.

	 The Company follows the intrinsic value method to 
account for its Employee Stock Appreciation Rights 
(SARs). Compensation cost is measured by the excess, 
if any, of the market price of the underlying stock over 
the exercise price as determined under the option 
plan. The market price is the closing price on the stock 
exchange where there is highest trading volume on 
the working day immediately preceding the date of 
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grant. Compensation cost, if any, is amortised over the 
vesting period.

4.19.	Earnings per share

	 Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit 
or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders 
for the period by the weighted average number of 
equity shares outstanding during the year.

	 Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the 
profit or loss attributable to equity shareholders for 
the period by the weighted average number of equity 
shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted 
average number of equity shares that would be issued 
on conversion of all the dilutive potential equity shares 
into equity shares. The dilutive potential equity shares 
are adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the equity 
shares been actually issued at fair value (i.e. the average 
market value of the outstanding equity shares). Dilutive 
potential equity shares are deemed converted as of 
the beginning of the period, unless issued at a later 
date. Dilutive potential equity shares are determined 
independently for each period presented.

4.20.	Segment reporting

	 Based on “Management Approach” as defined in Ind 
AS 108 -Operating Segments, the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker evaluates the Company’s performance 
and allocates the resources based on an analysis of 
various performance indicators by business segments. 
Unallocable items includes general corporate income 
and expense items which are not allocated to any 
business segment.

	 Segment policies:

	 The Company prepares its segment information in 
conformity with the accounting policies adopted for 
preparing and presenting the financial statements of 
the Company as a whole. Common allocable costs are 
allocated to each segment on an appropriate basis.

4.21.	Dividend distribution

	 The Company recognises a liability to make cash 
distributions to equity holders of the Company when 
the distribution is authorised and the distribution is 
no longer at the discretion of the Company. As per the 
Companies Act, 2013, a distribution is authorised when 
it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding 
amount is recognised directly in equity.

4.22.	Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Company has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. When the Company 
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, 
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, 
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the 
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

	 If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost.

Contingencies

	 Provision in respect of contingencies relating to 
claims, litigation, assessment, fines, penalties etc. are 
recognised when it is probable that a liability has been 
incurred and the amount can be estimated reliably. 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets:

	 A contingent liability exists when there is a possible 
but not probable obligation, or a present obligation 
that may, but probably will not, require an outflow 
of resources, or a present obligation whose amount 
cannot be estimated reliably. Contingent liabilities 
do not warrant provisions, but are disclosed unless 
the possibility of outflow of resources is remote. 
Contingent assets are neither recognised nor disclosed 
in the financial statements. However, contingent assets 
are assessed continually and if it is virtually certain that 
an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset and 
related income are recognised in the period in which 
the change occurs.

4.23.	Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 
	 New and amended standards
	 Amendments to Ind AS 116: Covid-19- Related 

Rent Concessions

	 The amendments provide relief to lessees from 
applying Ind AS 116 guidance on lease modification 
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct 
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical 
expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether 
a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a 
lease modification. A lessee that makes this election 
accounts for any change in lease payments resulting 
from the Covid-19 related rent concession the same 
way it would account for the change under Ind AS 
116, if the change were not a lease modification. This 
amendment had no impact on the standalone financial 
statements of the Company.
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	 Amendments to Ind AS 1 and Ind AS 8: Definition 
of Material

	 The amendments provide a new definition of material 
that states, “information is material if omitting, 
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions that the primary 
users of general purpose financial statements make 
on the basis of those financial statements, which 
provide financial information about a specific reporting 
entity.” The amendments clarify that materiality will 
depend on the nature or magnitude of information, 
either individually or in combination with other 
information, in the context of the financial statements. 
A misstatement of information is material if it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by 
the primary users. These amendments had no impact 
on the standalone financial statements of, nor is there 
expected to be any future impact to the Company.

	 Amendments to Ind AS 107 and Ind AS 109: Interest 
Rate Benchmark Reform

	 The amendments to Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement provide a number of 
reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are 
directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. 
A hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives 
rise to uncertainty about the timing and/ or amount 
of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or 
the hedging instrument. These amendments have no 
impact on the standalone financial statements of the 
Company as it does not have any interest rate hedge 
relationships.

	 The amendments to Ind AS 107 prescribe the 
disclosures which entities are required to make for 
hedging relationships to which the reliefs as per 
the amendments in Ind AS 109 are applied. This 
amendment had no impact on the standalone financial 
statements of the Company.

4.24.	Standards issued but not yet effective

	 There are no standards that are issued but not yet 
effective on March 31, 2021.
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Note 6 : Goodwill, other intangible assets and intangible assets under development	 (` in Million)

Particulars Goodwill Computer 
Software

IT 
Platform Trademark Customer 

Relationship

Intangible 
assets under 
development

Total 

Cost
As at March 31, 2019 16,124.18 1,026.60 360.10 597.80 1,563.10 107.37 19,779.15 
Additions - 362.70 - - - - 362.70 
Deductions on account of Scheme 
of arrangement (Refer Note 36) - (312.88) - - - - (312.88)

Capitalised - - - - - (107.37) (107.37)
As at March 31, 2020 16,124.18 1,076.42 360.10 597.80 1,563.10 - 19,721.61 
Additions * - 41.24 - - - 144.06 185.30 
As at March 31,2021 16,124.18 1,117.66 360.10 597.80 1,563.10 144.06 19,906.91 
Amortisation 
As at March 31, 2019 - 265.03 144.04 47.82 312.62 - 769.52 
Amortisation for the Year - 204.21 72.02 23.91 156.31 - 456.46 
Deductions on account of Scheme 
of arrangement (Refer Note 36) - (220.08) - - - - (220.08)

As at March 31, 2020 - 249.17 216.06 71.74 468.93 - 1,005.89 
Amortisation for the Year # - 153.56 28.81 21.04 43.77 - 247.18 
As at March 31,2021 - 402.73 244.87 92.78 512.70 - 1,253.07 
Net Block
As at March 31,2021 16,124.18 714.94 115.23 505.02 1,050.40 144.06 18,653.84 
As at March 31, 2020 16,124.18 827.26 144.04 526.06 1,094.17 - 18,715.71 

Net book value	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Goodwill 16,124.18 16,124.18 
Other Intangible assets 2,385.59 2,591.53 
Intangible assets under development 144.06 - 

*Addition to the intangible assets under development includes ESOP cost and salary cost capitalised amounting to ` 75.61 
million (March 31, 2020: Nil) and ` 5.45 million (March 31, 2020: Nil) respectively.
Intangible assets under development as at 31st March 2021 comprises expenditure for the development of computer 
software i.e. IT framework.
# Based on the technical evaluation, the Company has revised the useful life of certain intangibles including those accquired 
on Amalgamation. As a result of this change in estimated useful life, the life of said intangibles assets got extended. 
Consequently the amortization for the year ended on March 31, 2021 has decreased by ` 223.52 millions.

Goodwill arising on Amalgamation

Goodwill includes goodwill arising on amalgamation of Avenues (India) Private Limited.

Goodwill is tested for impairment on annual basis and whenever there is an indication that the recoverable amount is less 
than its carrying amount based on a number of factors including business plan, operating results, future cash flows and 
economic conditions. The recoverable amount is determined based on higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell.

The Company uses discounted cash flows method to determine the recoverable amount. These discounted cash flow 
calculations use five-year projections that are based on financial forecasts. Cash flow projections take into account past 
experience and represent managements’s best estimate about future developments. Management determined budgeted 
gross margin based on past performance and its expectations of market development. The calculations performed indicate 
that there is no impairment of Goodwill of the company.
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Note 7 : Financial assets
7 - Investments	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

NON CURRENT
Investment stated at cost
(A)	 Investment in Equity Instrument

a.	 Investment in Subsidiaries (Unquoted)
lnfibeam Logistics Private Limited
3,75,09,990 ( 31 March 2020 :3,75,09,990) equity shares 375.10 375.10 
lnfibeam Digital Entertainment Private Limited
3,145,000 ( 31 March 2020 : 3,145,000) equity shares 31.45 31.45 
Less: Provision for diminution in value of investments in equity shares (31.45) (31.45)
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited
2,24,000 ( 31 March 2020 :1,00,000) equity shares 262.25 110.35 
DRC Systems India Limited (formerly known as DRC Systems India Private Limited)
Nil ( 31 March 2020 : 11,47,500) equity shares - 30.60 
Vavian International Limited
13,800 ( 31 March 2020 : 13,800) equity shares 289.99 289.99 
AI Fintech 
1,500 Class A ( 31 March 2020 : Nil ) equity shares 0.01 - 
1,250 Class B ( 31 March 2020 : Nil ) equity shares 92.69 - 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 
1,65,000 (31 March, 2020: Nil) equity shares 130.00 - 
So Hum Bharat Digital Payment Private Limited
5,05,000 ( 31 March 2020 : Nil ) equity shares 5.05 - 
Avenues Infinite Private Limited
39,36,000 ( 31 March 2020 : 20,00,000) equity shares 1,195.96 615.16 
Less: Allowance for diminution in value of investments in equity shares (10.00) (10.00)

2,341.04 1,411.20 
b.	 Investment in Associates (Unquoted)

Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 
Nil (31 March, 2020: 14,400) equity shares - 60.00 
Infibeam Global EMEA FZ - LLC
36,016 ( 31 March 2020 : 36,016) equity shares 675.86 675.86 
Avenues Payments India Private Limited
34,791 ( 31 March 2020 : 34,791) equity shares 214.03 214.03 

889.89 949.89 
c.	 Investment in Associates (Quoted)

DRC Systems India Limited (formerly known as DRC Systems India Private Limited)
11,47,500 ( 31 March 2020 : Nil) equity shares 30.60 - 

30.60 - 
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Particulars As at  
March 31,2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

(B)	 Investment in Preference Instrument in Associates (Unquoted)
Avenues Payments India Private Limited
4,876 (31 March 2020 : 4,876) preference shares 30.00 30.00 

30.00 30.00 
Investment stated at Fair Value through OCI 
(A)	 Investment in Equity Instrument

a.	 Investment in others (Unquoted)
JRI Technologies Private Limited
220,625 ( 31 March 2020 : 220,625) equity shares 15.79 15.79 

15.79 15.79 
Tradohub B2B Limited (formerly known as Ingenius E-Commerce Private Limited)
355,320 ( 31 March 2020 : 355,320) equity shares 600.00 600.00 

600.00 600.00 
Total Non - Current Investments 3,907.32 3,006.88 
Total Investments 3,907.32 3,006.88 
Total non-current investment 3,876.72 3,006.88 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 3,918.17 3,048.32 
Impairment of investment 41.45 41.45 
Market Value of quoted investments - 
DRC Systems India Limited (formerly known as DRC Systems India Private Limited)
11,47,500 ( 31 March 2020 : Nil) equity shares (market value ` 292.65 per share) 335.82 - 

7 - Loans	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Current
Unsecured, considered good
Loans to related parties* 12.77 29.54 
Loans to employees - 10.29 
Loan to others** 5.58 6.30 

18.35 46.13 
Total Loans 18.35 46.13 

*The above loans are unsecured, repayable on demand, interest free and the same has been given for the purpose of business operations. 
(Refer note 26)
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7 - Other financial assets	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Non Current

Unsecured, considered good

Security Deposits 8.31 5.60 

Bank deposits with original maturity of more than 12 months (including accrued interest) # 76.18 466.16 

84.49 471.76 

Current

Unsecured, considered good

Security deposits* 6.09 7.09 

Unbilled revenue 689.13 524.02 

Advance to employees 11.46 1.03 

Bank deposits maturing within 12 months from reporting date (including accrued interest) # 740.20 202.43 

Receivable from subsidiary company for reimbursement of expenses (net) (refer note 26) 0.14 2.80 

Other receivable 17.32 - 

Interest accrued on FD with original maturity of more than 3 months but less than 12 
months. 3.93 4.06 

Interest on loan receviable 0.59 - 

Unsecured, considered doubtful

Security deposits 1.35 1.35 

Less: Allowance for doubtful security deposits (1.35) (1.35)

1,468.86 741.42 

Total other financial assets 1,553.35 1,213.19 

* includes deposit given to the director of the Company (refer note 26)

# Fixed deposits of ` 645.34 million (March 31, 2020: ` 562.12 million) are under lien against credit facilities from banks.

7 - Trade receivables	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Trade receivables

Unsecured, considered good 393.96 190.32 

Unsecured, considered doubtful 72.86 54.04 

466.82 244.35 

Less: Allowance for bad debts (72.86) (54.04)

Total Trade receivables 393.96 190.32 

(i) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 180 days

(ii) For amount dues and terms and conditions relating to Related Party Transactions, refer note 26

(iii) For explanation on Company’s credit risk management process, refer note 33
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7 - Cash and cash equivalent	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Balance with Bank
Current accounts 351.51 521.41 
Balance with bank in Nodal Accounts 747.80 212.42 
Cash on hand 0.05 0.31 
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,099.35 734.14 

7 - Bank balance other than the above	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Deposits with original maturity of more than three months but less than 12 months (Refer 
notes below) 7.17 124.82 

Earmarked balances for unclaimed dividend 0.30 0.30 
Bank balance other than the above 7.47 125.13 

(i) Fixed deposit of ` 7.17 million (March 31, 2020: ` 10.53 million) are under lien against credit facilities from banks.

7 - Financial assets by category	 (` in Million)

Particulars Cost FVOCI FVTPL Amortised Cost 
March 31, 2021
Investments
- Equity shares 3,261.54 615.79 - 
- Prefrence shares 30.00 - - 
Trade receivables - - 393.96 
Loans - - 18.35 
Cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances - - 1,106.83 
Other financial assets - - 1,553.35 
Total Financial assets 3,291.53 615.79 - 3,072.49 
March 31, 2020
Investments
- Equity shares 2,361.09 615.79 - 
- Prefrence shares 30.00 - - 
Trade receivables - - 190.32 
Loans - - 46.13 
Cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances - - 859.27 
Other financial assets - - 1,213.19 
Total Financial assets 2,391.09 615.79 - 2,308.89 

For Financial instruments risk management objectives and policies, refer Note 33

Fair value disclosures for financial assets and liabilities and fair value hierarchy disclosures for investment are in Note 33.
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Note 8 : Other assets	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Non-current
Unsecured, considered good

Capital advances* 1.63 43.06 
Prepaid expense - 1.18 

Total Non-current asset 1.63 44.24 
Current
Unsecured, considered good

Advance to suppliers 533.60 555.52 
Less : Allowance for doubtfull advances (2.99) (2.99)
Balance with government authorities 26.58 152.20 
Receivable for settlement of payment gateway transaction (refer note 37) 3,977.59 1,398.22 
Prepaid expenses 48.13 100.27 
Other current asset 0.09 1.18 

Total current asset 4,582.99 2,204.41 
Total 4,584.62 2,248.65 

* Refer note 26 for advances given to related parties

Note 9 : Income tax assets (net)	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Tax paid in advance (net of provision) ( refer note 24) 242.81 182.34 
Total 242.81 182.34 
Provision for tax (net of advance tax) (refer note 24) 48.05 47.76 
Total 48.05 47.76 

Note 10 : Equity share capital	

Particulars
As at March 31,2021 As at March 31,2020

No. of Shares ` in Million No. of Shares ` in Million
Authorised share capital
Equity shares of ` 1 each 1,400,000,000 1,400.00 897,500,000 897.50 
0.01% Cumulative Compulsorily Convertible Preference 
Shares of ` 10 each ** - - 250,000 2.50 

Issued and subscribed share capital
Equity shares of ` 1 each 1,331,053,580 1,331.05 664,720,260 664.72 
Subscribed and fully paid up
Equity shares of `1 each 1,331,053,580 1,331.05 664,720,260 664.72 
Total 1,331,053,580 1,331.05 664,720,260 664.72 

** 2,50,000 (Two Lakhs Fifty Thousand) 0.01% Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of ` 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each, amounting to  
` 25,00,000 (Rupees Twenty Five Lakhs Only), forming a part of the Authorised Share Capital of the Company were reclassified into 25,00,000 
(Twenty Five Lakhs) Equity Shares having Face Value of Re. 1 (Rupee One Only) each amounting to ` 25,00,000 (Rupees Twenty Five Lakhs 
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Only) pursuant to the Equity Shareholders’ approval in the Extra Ordinary General Meeting of Infibeam Avenues Limited held on March 09, 
2021.

10.1. Reconciliation of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the Reporting period	

Particulars
As at March 31,2021 As at March 31,2020

No. of shares ` in Million No. of shares ` in Million
At the beginning of the year 664,720,260 664.72 663,392,240 663.39 
Add :
Shares allotted pursuant to exercise of Employee Stock 
Option Plan 806,530 0.81 1,328,020 1.33 

Issue of Bonus shares 665,526,790 665.53 - - 
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,331,053,580 1,331.05 664,720,260 664.72 

10.2. Terms/Rights attached to the equity shares

The Company has equity shares having a par value of Re.1 per share. All equity shares rank equally with regard to dividend 
and share in the Company’s residual assets in proportion of amount paid up. The equity shares are entitled to receive 
dividend as declared from time to time. Each holder of the equity shares is entitled to one vote per share.

On winding up of Company, the holder of equity shares will be entitled to receive the residual assets of Company, remaining 
after distribution of all preferential amounts in proportion to number of equity shares held. Terms attached to stock options 
granted to employees are described in note 28 regarding employee share based payments.

10.3. Number of Shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% Shares in the company	

Name of the Shareholder
As at March 31,2021 As at March 31,2020

No. of shares % of 
shareholding No. of shares % of 

shareholding
Vishal A Mehta 119,918,800 9.01% 59,959,400 9.02%
Infinium Motors Private Limited 115,763,750 8.70% 53,047,220 7.98%
L7 Hitech Private Limited 74,494,209 5.60% - 0.00%
Vishwas A Patel 153,191,324 11.51% 76,595,662 11.52%

Note: As per records of the Company, including its register of shareholders / members and other declarations received from the shareholders 
regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownerships of shares.

10.4. Shares reserved for issue under options

For information relating to Infibeam Avenues Limited Employee Stock Option Plan, including details of options issued, 
exercised and lapsed during the financial year and options outstanding at the end of the reporting period please refer to 
note 28.

10.5. Distribution made and proposed	 (` in Million)

Particulars 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Cash dividends on Equity Shares declared and paid:
Interim dividend for Year Ended 31 March, 2021: ` Nil Per share (31 March, 2020: ` 0.10 
Per Share) - 66.37 

Less: Paid to IEW Trust (refer note 29) - (0.28)
Net interim dividend paid - 66.09 

Proposed dividends on Equity Shares:

Final cash dividend for 31 March, 2021: ` 0.05 Per share (31 March, 2020: ` Nil Per Share) 66.55 
(including Payable to IEW trust)

Note: Refer note 26 for dividend paid to related party transactions
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Note 11 : Other Equity	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31,2020

General reserve
Opening balance (0.00) 105.22 

	 Distribution of Net assets of demerged undertakings adjusted on account of scheme 
of arrangement (refer note : 36) - (107.31)

Add: Addition on account of lapse of options 0.15 2.10 
Balance at the end of the year 0.15 (0.00)

Securities premium
Opening balance 25,136.73 25,054.39 
Add: on exercising of options 32.62 82.33 
Less: capitalisation on issue of bonus shares (665.53) - 
Balance at the end of the year 24,503.82 25,136.73 

Capital reserve
Opening balance 100.00 - 
Add: transfer on forfeiture of equity share warrants - 100.00 
Balance at the end of the year 100.00 100.00 

Employees Stock Options Outstanding (Net)- (refer note 28)
Opening balance 206.93 239.20 
Add : Employee compensation expense for the year 106.93 52.16 
Less: Transfer to securities premium on exercise of options (32.62) (82.33)
Less: Reversal due to lapse of options (0.15) (2.10)
Balance at the end of the year 281.08 206.93 

Treasury Shares (refer note 29)
Opening balance (396.06) (396.06)
Add : (Purchase) of treasury shares by the trust during the year - - 
Balance at the end of the year (396.06) (396.06)

Money received against share warrants
Opening balance - 100.00 
Less: transfer to Capital Reserve on forfeiture of equity share warrants - (100.00)
Balance at the end of the year - - 

IEW Trust Reserve (refer note 29)
Opening balance 0.00 0.00 
Add : Received during the year - - 
Balance at the end of the year 0.00 0.00 

Retained earnings
Opening balance 255.24 229.19 
Add: Profit for the year 494.02 385.93 
Add: OCI for the year 2.11 (1.17)

751.37 613.95 
Less: Appropriation
Additional dividend on equity shares 
Dividend distribution tax on additional dividend 
Dividend paid (refer note 26) - (65.39)

	 Distribution of Net assets of demerged undertakings adjusted on account of scheme 
of arrangement (refer note : 36) - (278.56)

Dividend distribution tax - (14.06)
Transition impact on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 “Leases" - (0.70)
Balance at the end of the year 751.37 255.24 

Total 25,240.37 25,302.84 

* Represents amount less than one million
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General reserve 

General Reserve is created out of the profits earned by the Company by way of transfer from surplus in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss as also on account of lapse of stock options. The Company can use this reserve for payment of dividend and 
issue of fully paid-up bonus shares.

Securities premium

Where the Company issues shares at a premium, whether for cash or otherwise, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of 
the premium received on those shares shall be transferred to “Securities Premium”. The Company may issue fully paid-up 
bonus shares to its members out of the Securities Premium and the Company can use this reserve for buy-back of shares

Employees Stock Options Outstanding

The share based option outstanding account is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees 
under group’s employee stock option schemes.

Money received against share warrants

The Board of Directors of Infibeam Avenues Limited in its meeting held on February 14, 2018 issued 21,45,002 warrants to 
TV18 Broadcast Limited (a company not forming part of promoter and promoter group) on preferential basis with a right to 
apply and get allotment of equity shares of the Company of face value of Re 1 each within a period of 18 months from the 
date of allotment of warrant at a price of ` 186.48 (including premium of ` 185.48 each) aggregating to consideration not 
exceeding ̀  40,00,00,000 (Rupees Forty crore only). Accordingly, Company has recived ̀  10,00,00,000 (Rupees Ten crore only) 
on 28 March 2018 and alloted warrants for the same on March 29, 2018. On expiry of right to apply and get allotement of 
equity shares, the money received against share warrants are forfeited and transfered to Capital Reserve.

Note 12 : Financial liabilities
12 - Borrowings	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31,2020

Long-term Borrowings 
Secured
Term loan from bank (refer note below) 110.41 175.81 

Total long-term borrowings 110.41 175.81 

Short-term Borrowings 
Secured
Term loan from bank (refer note below) 87.90 87.90 

Total short-term borrowings 87.90 87.90 
Total 198.31 263.71 

Terms of borrowings:

Term Loan:

The company has a Rupee Term Loan sanctioned facility of ` 507.1 million (previous year ` 427.5 million) from Indusind Bank 
Limited. The facility carries interest of 10.35% till May 13, 2020 and interest of 10% from May 14, 2020. The facility is secured 
against the mortgage of Gift Two building, Gift City , Gandhinagar. The term loan is repayable in quarterly installments of  
` 22.5 million each.

Loan Covenant

Bank term loan availed by the Company are subject to certain covenants relating to Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR), 
Interest Coverage Ratio and External Rating which Company has to maintain from Financial Year 2019.
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12 - Trade payable	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31,2020

Current

Creditors for Expenses

a)	 Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 0.18 2.30 

b)	 Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 
enterprises 76.88 73.90 

Total 77.06 76.20 

(i)	 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-90 days terms. 
(ii)	 For disclosure required under Section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006, refer note 35
(iii)	 For explanation on Company’s liability risk management process, refer note 33

12 - Other financial liabilities	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31,2020

Non Current

Lease liability (refer note 31) 42.84 34.66 

Total non current financial liabilities 42.84 34.66 

Current

Employee benefits payable 33.20 29.01 

Provision for expenses 91.25 64.17 

Interest accrued and due on term loan 7.58 0.08 

Lease liability (refer note 31) 19.04 13.13 

Creditor for capital goods 8.55 9.71 

Security deposits from merchants 14.35 20.26 

Unpaid dividends 0.30 0.30 

Other payables 69.55 22.04 

Total current financial liabilities 243.84 158.70 

Total 286.68 193.36 

12 Financial liabilities by category	 (` in Million)

Particulars FVTPL FVOCI Amortised Cost

March 31, 2021

Borrowings - 198.31 

Trade payable - 77.06 

Other financial liabilities - 286.68 

Total Financial liabilities - 562.05 
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Particulars FVTPL FVOCI Amortised Cost

March 31, 2020

Borrowings - 263.71 

Trade payable - 76.20 

Other financial liabilities - 193.36 

Total Financial liabilities - 533.27 

For Financial instruments risk management objectives and policies, refer Note 33
Fair value disclosures for financial assets and liabilities and fair value hierarchy disclosures for investment are in Note 33.

Note 13 : Provisions	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31,2020

Non - current

Provision for employee benefits (refer note 25)

Provision for gratuity 46.60 43.07 

Total Non Current Provisions 46.60 43.07 

Current

Provision for employee benefits (refer note 25)

Provision for gratuity 13.73 12.20 

Total Current Provisions 13.73 12.20 

Total 60.33 55.27 

Note 14 : Other current liabilities	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31,2020

Advance from customers 6.46 27.13 

Statutory dues including provident fund and tax deducted at source 17.80 17.42 

Payable for settlement of payment gateway transaction (refere note 37) 5,132.90 1,817.81 

Excess billing over revenue 10.25 55.71 

5,167.41 1,918.07 

Total 5,167.41 1,918.07 

Note 15 : Revenue from operations	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 

Sale of services 5,767.02 5,818.49 

Total 5,767.02 5,818.49 

Refer note 40 “Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 115 “Revenue from contract with customers”
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Note 16 : Other income	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Interest income on:
- Bank deposits 47.29 54.86 
- Others 16.85 15.00 
Exchange gain/loss - 7.35 
Excess Provision written back 10.92 - 
Short Term Capital Gain on sale of mutual funds 0.29 1.46 
Rental Income** 9.48 11.63 
Profit on sale of Investment 3.00 - 
Miscellaneous income 3.58 - 
Total 91.42 90.30 

** The Company has entered into lease agreement for office premises with its subsidiary and associate companies. The leasing agreement 
is cancellable, and renewable on a periodic basis by mutual consent on mutually accepted terms including escalation of lease rent. Lease 
income from related parties recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year amounts to ` 7.18 million (March 31, 2020: 11.63 
milion). (refer note 26)

Note 17 : Employee benefits expense	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Salaries, wages and bonus^ 450.87 419.83 
Contribution to provident fund and other funds (refer note 25) 14.00 12.39 
Share based payments to employees (refer note 28) 23.54 42.04 
Staff welfare expenses 1.08 3.84 
Total 489.49 478.10 
^Salaries,wages and bonus (net of capitalisation)
Salaries,wages and bonus 456.32 419.83 
Less : Cost capitalised (5.45) - 
Salaries,wages and bonus cost for the year 450.87 419.83 
* Employee stock option outstanding expenses
Share based payment expense 106.93 52.16 
Less : Cost capitalised (75.61) - 
Less : Expense recovered from the subsidary/associate companies (7.78) (10.12)
ESOP cost for the year 23.54 42.04 
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Note 18 : Finance costs	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Interest expense on:
- Bank Loan 26.63 34.49 
- Statutory dues 1.01 0.34 
Interest on lease payment (refer note 31) 5.74 5.25 
Other borrowing cost 2.14 2.11 
Total 35.52 42.18 

Note 19 : Depreciation and Amortization expense	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Depreciation on Tangible assets (refer note 5) 423.05 240.78 
Amortization on Intangible assets (refer note 6) 247.18 456.46 
Amortisation on Right of use assets (refer note 5) 18.54 14.94 
Total 688.77 712.18 

Note 20 : Other expenses	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Bank charges 3.44 2.54 
Communication expenses 8.84 9.32 
CSR expenses (refer note 32) 9.65 7.30 
Legal and consultancy expenses 33.51 25.07 
Office expenses 26.29 17.00 
Payments to auditors - statutory audit fees (refer note below) 6.06 6.15 
Rent 3.72 2.95 
Rate and taxes 1.53 46.85 
Web hosting and server support expense 34.91 46.09 
Advertisement expenses 57.73 47.69 
Net foreign exchange loss 7.27 - 
Electricity expenses* 9.78 10.89 
Traveling expenses 1.00 10.32 
Service charges 2.16 7.08 
Allowances for bad debts expenses 29.74 12.45 
Balances / Bad Debts written off 10.92 - 
Miscellaneous expenses 1.15 2.62 
Total 247.71 254.30 

* Electricity expenses is net of government grant amounting to ` 1.88 million (March 31, 2020: ` 1.48 million)
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Payment to auditors	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-2020 
As auditor:

Audit fees 1.50 1.50 
Limited review 4.50 4.50 
Certification charges 0.03 0.15 
Reimbursement of expense 0.03 - 

Total 6.06 6.15 

Note 21 : Contingent liabilities	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2021 

As at 
March 31, 2020 

Contingent liabilities not provided for
a.	 Claims against Company not acknowledged as debts - - 
b.	 Guarantees given by bank on behalf of the Company - - 

Note 22 : Capital commitment and other commitments	 (` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021 

Year ended  
March 31, 2020 

Capital commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not 
provided for (net of advance) 0.36 1,740.59 

Note 23 : Foreign Exchange Derivatives and Exposures not hedged
A.	 Foreign Exchange Derivatives: The Company does not have any foreign exchange derivatives

B.	 Exposure Not Hedged	

Nature of exposure Currency
Year ended March 31, 2021 Year ended March 31, 2020

Foreign 
currency

Local currency 
(` in Million) 

Foreign 
currency

Local currency 
(` in Million) 

Trade receivables USD 1,977,732 144.59 1,818,353 137.59 
AED 3,670,000 73.77 - - 

EURO 229,350 19.67 - - 
OMR 15,535 2.94 - - 

- - 
Accrued revenue USD 243,464 17.80 1,154,938 87.39 

AED - - 14,520 0.30 
SAR 376,200 7.33 468,500 9.44 

- - 
Provision for expenses USD 6,650 0.49 6,250 0.47 

- - 
Creditors for expenses USD 39,510 2.89 33,327 2.52 

- - 
Bank balance USD 1,601,725 117.10 28,110 2.13 
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Note 24 : Income tax	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Tax paid in advance (net of provision) 242.81 182.34 
Total 242.81 182.34 
Provision for tax (net of advance tax) 48.05 47.76 
Total 48.05 47.76 

The major component of income tax expense for the years ended March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 are : 

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Statement of Profit and Loss
Current tax (incl tax on OCI)
Current year 77.69 112.52 
Deferred tax
Deferred tax expense relating to origination and reversal of temporary difference 33.49 100.04 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss 111.19 212.56 

Note : The Company elected to exercise the option permitted under Section 115 BAA of the Income Tax Act, 1961 as introduced by the 
Taxation Laws (Amendment) ordinance, 2019. Accordingly, the Company has recognized the provision for income tax for the year ended 
March 31, 2021 and re-measured its deferred tax basis the rate prescribed in the said section. Accordingly, previous periods tax expenses 
are not comparable.

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by domestic tax rate for the year ended March 
31, 2021 and March 31, 2020.

A)	 Current tax	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Accounting profit before tax from continuing operations 604.49 598.48 
Enacted tax rate 25% 35%
Computed expected tax expense 152.14 209.13 
Adjustments
Non-deductable expenses (B)
Effect of non-deductable expenses (40.95) 3.42 

111.19 212.56 
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B)	 Deferred tax

	 The tax effects of significant temporary differences that resulted in deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as 
follows:

(` in Million)

Particulars
Balance Sheet Statement of Profit and Loss

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Deferred income tax assets
Provision for employee benefits 12.91 18.08 (5.18) 2.92 
IPO Expenses 55.05 98.30 (43.24) (21.86)
Allowance for Bad debts 19.43 20.40 (0.97) 4.35 
Lease hold property Ind AS 116 1.15 0.91 0.24 0.91 
Total deferred income tax assets 88.54 137.69 (49.15) (13.68)

Deferred income tax liabilities
Excess of amortization on fixed 
assets under income-tax law over 
amortization provided in accounts.

409.48 425.13 (15.65) 86.36 

Total deferred income tax 
liabilities 409.48 425.13 (15.65) 86.36 

Deferred tax expense/(income) 33.49 100.04 
Net deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) (320.94) (287.45)

Reflected in the balance sheet as 
follows
Deferred tax assets 88.54 137.69 
Deferred tax liabilities 409.48 425.13 
Deferred tax liability (net) (320.94) (287.45)

(` in Million)

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets / (liabilities), net

Opening balance as of April 1, (287.45) (187.41)

Tax income/(expense) during the period recognised in profit or loss (33.49) (100.04)

Closing balance as at March 31, (320.94) (287.45)

	 The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same tax authority.

	 In assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, management considers whether some portion or all of the 
deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon 
the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the temporary differences become deductible. 
Management considers the scheduled reversals of deferred income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and 
tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on the level of historical taxable income and projections for 
future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred income tax assets are deductible, management believes 
that the Company will realize the benefits of those deductible differences. The amount of the deferred income tax 
assets considered realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during 
the carry forward period are reduced.
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The principal assumptions used in determining above defined benefit obligations for the Company’s plans are shown below:

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021 

Year ended  
March 31, 2020 

Discount rate 5.58% - 5.60% 5.75% - 5.76%
Future salary increase 8% 8% 

Attrition rate
40% at younger ages 
reducing to 5.00% at 

older ages 

20% - 40% at younger 
ages reducing to 5% 

at older ages 

Morality rate 
IALM(2006-08) 

published table of 
mortality rates

IALM(2006-08) 
published table of 

mortality rates
Retirement age 58 years 58 years

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption is as shown below:

Gratuity	 (` in Million)

Particulars
(increase) / decrease in defined benefit obligation (Impact)

Sensitivity level Year ended  
March 31, 2021 

Year ended  
March 31, 2020 

Gratuity
Discount rate 0.5% - 1% increase (15.24) (15.74)

0.5% - 1% decrease 15.73 16.27 
Future Salary increase 0.5% - 1% increase 15.34 15.77 

0.5% - 1% decrease (15.01) (15.41)
Withdrawal rates (W.R.) 0.5% - 1% increase (13.81) (14.53)

0.5% - 1% decrease 14.08 14.89 
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The followings are the expected future benefit payments for the defined benefit plan :	 (` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Gratuity
Within one year 13.73 9.98 
After one year but not more than five years 32.33 28.63 
More than five years 29.02 30.18 

Risk Exposure :

i.	 Investment risk

	 For funded plans that rely on insurers for managing the assets, the value of assets certified by the insurer may not be 
the fair value of instruments backing the liability. In such cases, the present value of the assets is independent of the 
future discount rate. This can result in wide fluctuations in the net liability or the funded status if there are significant 
changes in the discount rate during the inter-valuation period.

ii.	 Market Risk (Interest Rate)

	 Market risk is a collective term for risks that are related to the changes and fluctuations of the financial markets. 
The discount rate reflects the time value of money. An increase in discount rate leads to decrease in Defined Benefit 
Obligation of the plan benefits & vice versa. This assumption depends on the yields on the corporate/government 
bonds and hence the valuation of liability is exposed to fluctuations in the yields as at the valuation date.

iii.	 Longevity Risk

	 The impact of longevity risk will depend on whether the benefits are paid before retirement age or after. Typically for 
the benefits paid on or before the retirement age, the longevity risk is not very material.

iv.	 Actuarial Risk

a.	 Salary Increase Assumption

	 Actual Salary increases that are higher than the assumed salary escalation, will result in increase to the Obligation 
at a rate that is higher than expected.

b.	 Attrition/Withdrawal Assumption

	 If actual withdrawal rates are higher than assumed withdrawal rates, the benefits will be paid earlier than expected. 
Similarly if the actual withdrawal rates are lower than assumed, the benefits will be paid later than expected. The 
impact of this will depend on the demography of the company and the financials assumptions.

v.	 Regulatory Risk 

	 Any Changes to the current Regulations by the Government, will increase (in most cases) or Decrease the obligation 
which is not anticipated. Sometimes, the increase is many fold which will impact the financials quite significantly.
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Note 26 : Related Party disclosures.
As per the Indian Accounting Standard on “Related Party Disclosures” (IND AS 24), the related parties of the Company are as 
follows :

Name of Related Parties and Nature of Relationship :

Sr. No. Relationship Name of company / person 
1 Subsidiary Company Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private Limited 

Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 
Infibeam Logistics Private Limited 
Avenues Infinite Private Limited 
Vavin International Limited 
DRC Systems India Limited (upto March 31, 2020) 
Avenues World FZ LLC 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited (with effect from May 06, 2020) 
Cardpay Technologies Private Limited (with effect from June 05, 2020) 
AI Fintech Inc (with effect from June 09, 2020) 
So Hum Bharat Digital Payment Limited (with effect from February 20, 2021) 

2 Associate Company Avenues Payments India Private Limited 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited (upto May 05, 2020) 
NSI Infinium Global Limited (upto March 31, 2020) 
DRC Systems India Limited (with effect from April 01, 2020) 
Infibeam Global EMEA FZ LLC 

3 Key Management Personnel
Managing Director Vishal Ajit Mehta 
Executive Director Vishwas Ambalal Patel 
Non-executive Directors Malav Ajit Mehta (upto June 05, 2020) 

Ajit Champaklal Mehta 
Roopkishan Sohanlal Dave 
Keyoor Madhusudan Bakshi 
Vijaylaxmi Tulsidas Sheth 
Piyushkumar Sinha 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Hiren Padhya 
Company Secretary (CS) Shyamal Trivedi 

4 Relatives of KMP Jayshree Ajit Mehta 
Nirali Vishal Mehta 
Malav A. Mehta (with effect from June 06, 2020) 
Anoli Malav Mehta 
Varini Vishwas Patel 
Vivek Vishwas Patel 

5 Company where Key Managerial personnel 
can exercise control / significant influence

Tripwheels and Drive Private Limited (formerly known as Infinium Automall 
Private Limited) (upto March 14, 2020) 
Infinium Communication Private Limited 
Infinity Drive Private Limited (upto April 20, 2020) 
Infinium Motors (Gujarat) Private Limited 
Infinium Motors Private Limited 
Avenues Enterprises Private Limited 
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Related party transactions (` in Million)

Particulars Period 
ending

Key 
Management 

Personnel 
(KMP) and 

relatives of 
KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company 

Subsidiary 
Companies Total 

Issue of equity shares on exercising of 
ESOP (Number of shares)
Chief Financial officer (CFO) 31-Mar-21 0.02 - - - 0.02 

31-Mar-20 0.01 - - - 0.01 
Company secretary (CS) 31-Mar-21 0.03 - - - 0.03 

31-Mar-20 0.04 - - - 0.04 
Issue of equity shares pursuant to Bonus 
Issue (Number of shares) 31-Mar-21 255.31 58.39 - - 313.70 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Issue of equity shares of DRC Systems 
India Limited pursuant to Scheme of 
Arrangement (Number of shares)

31-Mar-21 0.64 0.14 - - 0.78 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Issue of equity shares of Suvidhaa 
Infoserve Limited pursuant to Scheme of 
Arrangement (Number of shares)

31-Mar-21 34.48 7.67 - - 42.15 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Investment in equity shares - - - - 
Avenues Infinite Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 580.80 580.80 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
So Hum Bharat Digital Payment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 5.05 5.05 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 70.00 - 70.00 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
AI Fintech Inc 31-Mar-21 - - - 92.70 92.70 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 151.90 151.90 

31-Mar-20 - - - 110.25 110.25 
Cardpay Technologies Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 4.50 4.50 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Vavain International Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - - 80.01 80.01 
Sale of shares of Cardpay Technologies 
Private Limited
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 7.50 7.50 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Gift of shares of NSI Infinium Global 
Limited
Avenues Infinite Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - - 605.16 605.16 
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Related party transactions (` in Million)

Particulars Period 
ending

Key 
Management 

Personnel 
(KMP) and 

relatives of 
KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company 

Subsidiary 
Companies Total 

Loans given 
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.75 - 0.75 
Infibeam Logistics Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 110.87 110.87 

31-Mar-20 - - - 73.40 73.40 
Avenues Infinite Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.71 0.71 

31-Mar-20 - - - 1.98 1.98 
Avenues Payments India Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 10.00 - 10.00 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.01 - 0.01 
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 43.65 43.65 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 28.98 28.98 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 30.07 - 30.07 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Chief Financial Officer 31-Mar-21 0.30 - - - 0.30 

31-Mar-20 0.30 - - - 0.30 
Company Secretary (CS) 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 0.30 - - - 0.30 
Repayment of loan given - - - - 
Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 28.92 28.92 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 30.07 - 30.07 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Infibeam Logistics Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 138.41 138.41 

31-Mar-20 - - - 153.66 153.66 
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 43.65 43.65 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Chief Financial Officer 31-Mar-21 0.10 - - - 0.10 

31-Mar-20 0.10 - - - 0.10 
Company Secretary (CS) 31-Mar-21 0.30 - - - 0.30 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Advance received towards services
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 6.46 6.46 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Reimbursement of expenses from 
(amount receivable)
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 
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Related party transactions (` in Million)

Particulars Period 
ending

Key 
Management 

Personnel 
(KMP) and 

relatives of 
KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company 

Subsidiary 
Companies Total 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.93 - 0.93 
Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.32 0.32 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.06 0.06 

31-Mar-20 - - - 0.08 0.08 
Infibeam Logistics Pvt Ltd 31-Mar-21 - - - 2.00 2.00 

31-Mar-20 - - - 0.06 0.06 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 0.61 - 0.61 

31-Mar-20 - - - 0.38 0.38 
Infinium Motors Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - 0.02 - - 0.02 
Purchase of Go Cards - - - - 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 1.86 - 1.86 

31-Mar-20 - - 1.13 - 1.13 
Purchase of fixed assets
Infinium Motors Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - 9.88 - - 9.88 
Services given
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 220.53 220.53 

31-Mar-20 - - - 538.48 538.48 
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 1.87 - 1.87 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 1.73 22.30 24.03 

31-Mar-20 - - 21.39 - 21.39 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 92.13 - 92.13 

31-Mar-20 - - - 17.50 17.50 
Infinium Motors Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - 24.00 - - 24.00 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Avenues World FZ LLC 31-Mar-21 - - - 73.77 73.77 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Services taken
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 0.01 0.24 0.25 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Rental Income - - - - 
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 3.64 - 3.64 
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.09 0.09 
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Related party transactions (` in Million)

Particulars Period 
ending

Key 
Management 

Personnel 
(KMP) and 

relatives of 
KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company 

Subsidiary 
Companies Total 

31-Mar-20 - - - 0.39 0.39 
Infibeam Digial Entertainment Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.33 0.33 

31-Mar-20 - - - 0.60 0.60 
Infibeam Logistics Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.63 0.63 

31-Mar-20 - - - 1.20 1.20 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 5.80 - 5.80 

31-Mar-20 - - - 4.51 4.51 
Cardpay Technologies Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.04 0.04 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 0.03 0.27 0.30 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.30 - 0.30 
Interest income - - - - 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 0.22 - 0.22 

31-Mar-20 - - - 0.25 0.25 
Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.63 0.63 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
ESOP cost recovered
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.07 - 0.07 
Odigma consultancy solutions private limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.77 0.77 

31-Mar-20 - - - 0.55 0.55 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 6.94 - 6.94 

31-Mar-20 - - - 8.79 8.79 
Dividend paid 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 27.07 7.04 - - 34.11 
Transaction with key Management 
personnel
Salaries and ESOP to key managerial 
personnel
Chief Financial Officer 31-Mar-21 5.87 - - - 5.87 

31-Mar-20 5.01 - - - 5.01 
Company Secretary 31-Mar-21 5.39 - - - 5.39 

31-Mar-20 5.08 - - - 5.08 
Rent expense - - - - 
Vishwas Patel (Executive Director) 31-Mar-21 12.79 - - - 12.79 

31-Mar-20 12.79 - - - 12.79 
Rent Deposits - - - - 
Vishwas Patel (Executive Director) 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 
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Related party transactions (` in Million)

Particulars Period 
ending

Key 
Management 

Personnel 
(KMP) and 

relatives of 
KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company 

Subsidiary 
Companies Total 

31-Mar-20 2.45 - - - 2.45 
Directors sitting fees expense - - - - 
Director sitting fees to non-executive and 
independent directors 31-Mar-21 1.16 - - - 1.16 

31-Mar-20 1.46 - - - 1.46 
Closing balances
Investment
Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 31.45 31.45 

31-Mar-20 - - - 31.45 31.45 
Avenues Infinite Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 1,195.96 1,195.96 

31-Mar-20 - - - 615.16 615.16 
Infibeam Logistics Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 375.10 375.10 

31-Mar-20 - - - 375.10 375.10 
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 262.25 262.25 

31-Mar-20 - - - 110.35 110.35 
Infibeam Global EMEA FZ LLC 31-Mar-21 - - 675.86 - 675.86 

31-Mar-20 - - 675.86 - 675.86 
Avenue Payment India Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 214.03 - 214.03 

31-Mar-20 - - 214.03 - 214.03 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 30.60 - 30.60 

31-Mar-20 - - - 30.60 30.60 
Vavian International Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 289.99 289.99 

31-Mar-20 - - - 289.99 289.99 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 130.00 130.00 

31-Mar-20 - - 60.00 - 60.00 
AI Fintech 31-Mar-21 - - - 92.70 92.70 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
So Hum Bharat Digital Payment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 5.05 5.05 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Investment (in Preference Shares) 
Avenue Payment India Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 30.00 - 30.00 

31-Mar-20 - - 30.00 - 30.00 
Trade receivable
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - - 0.06 0.06 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 27.00 - 27.00 

31-Mar-20 - - - 13.40 13.40 
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Related party transactions (` in Million)

Particulars Period 
ending

Key 
Management 

Personnel 
(KMP) and 

relatives of 
KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company 

Subsidiary 
Companies Total 

Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 1.48 1.48 
31-Mar-20 - - - - - 

Unbilled revenue
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 2.34 2.34 

31-Mar-20 - - - 130.00 130.00 
Loans and advances given - - - - 
Infibeam Logistics Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - - 27.54 27.54 
Avenues Infinite Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 2.69 2.69 

31-Mar-20 - - - 1.98 1.98 
Avenue Payment India Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 10.01 - 10.01 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.01 - 0.01 
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.75 - 0.75 
Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.07 0.07 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Chief Financial Officer 31-Mar-21 0.70 - - - 0.70 

31-Mar-20 0.50 - - - 0.50 
Company Secretary 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 0.30 - - - 0.30 
Receivables for reimbursement - - - - 
Infibeam Logistics Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - - 0.86 0.86 
Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.14 0.14 

31-Mar-20 - - - 1.94 1.94 
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.93 - 0.93 
Receivables for interest on loan - - - - 
Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private 
Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.59 0.59 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Advance received towards services
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 6.46 6.46 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Rent Payable - - - - 
Vishwas Ambalal Patel 31-Mar-21 6.46 - - - 6.46 

31-Mar-20 1.10 - - - 1.10 
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Related party transactions (` in Million)

Particulars Period 
ending

Key 
Management 

Personnel 
(KMP) and 

relatives of 
KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company 

Subsidiary 
Companies Total 

Director sitting fees payable
Director sitting fees payable to non-executive 
and independent directors 31-Mar-21 - - - - - 

31-Mar-20 0.14 - - - 0.14 
Creditors for Expenses - - - - 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.12 0.12 

31-Mar-20 - - - - - 
Payable for settlement of payment 
gateway transactions - - - - 

Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 6.79 6.79 
31-Mar-20 - - 4.10 - 4.10 

Security deposit given - - - - 
Vishwas Ambalal Patel 31-Mar-21 3.20 - - - 3.20 

31-Mar-20 3.20 - - - 3.20 
Other receivables on account of scheme 
of arrangement - - - - 

DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 15.00 - 15.00 
31-Mar-20 - - - - - 

Security deposit taken - - - - 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - 0.10 0.10 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.10 - 0.10 
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

(1)	 Transaction entered into with related party are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 
transactions. Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. 
There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.

(2)	 For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts 
owed by related parties (31 March 2020: ` 10.92 million). This assessment is undertaken each financial year through 
examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

Commitments with related parties

The Company has not provided any commitment to the related party as at March 31, 2021 (March 31, 2020: Nil)
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Note 27 : Earning per share	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 

Earning per share (Basic and Diluted)

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders 494.02 385.93 

From continuing operations 494.02 394.46 

From discontinued operations - (8.54)

Total no. of equity shares at the end of the year 1,331,053,580 664,720,260 

Add: Issue of Bonus shares during FY-2020-21 in the ratio of 1:1 * - 664,720,260 

Total no. of equity shares at the end of the year 1,331,053,580 1,329,440,520 

* Since the bonus issue is an issue without consideration, the bonus issue is treated as if it 
had occurred prior to the beginning of the year FY-2020-21, the earliest period reported.

Weighted average number of equity shares 

For basic EPS 1,324,387,058 1,327,346,263 

For diluted EPS 1,340,367,904 1,335,801,971 

Nominal value of equity shares 1.00 1.00 

From continuing operations

Basic earning per share 0.37 0.30 

Diluted earning per share 0.37 0.30 

From discontinued operations

Basic earning per share - (0.01)

Diluted earning per share - (0.01)

Weighted average number of equity shares 

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic EPS 1,324,387,058 1,327,346,263 

Effect of dilution: Employee stock options 15,980,846 8,455,708 

Weighted average number of equity shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 1,340,367,904 1,335,801,971 

Note 28: Share based payments
Employee stock option (ESOP) scheme (2013-14):

The scheme has been adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to resolution passed at its meeting held on February 
17, 2013, read with Special Resolution passed by shareholder of the company at the extra ordinary general meeting held 
on March 30, 2013. The plan entitles senior employees to purchase shares in the Company at the stipulated exercise price, 
subject to compliance with vesting conditions. All exercised options shall be settled in demat mode. As per the plan, holders 
of vested options are entitled to purchase one equity share for every option at an exercise price of Re 1 which is 93% to 98% 
below the market price at the date of grant.

Employee stock option (ESOP) scheme (2014-15) 

The scheme has been adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to resolution passed at its meeting held on February 
27, 2014, read with Special Resolution passed by shareholder of the company at the extra ordinary general meeting held 
on March 31, 2014. The plan entitles senior employees to purchase shares in the Company at the stipulated exercise price, 
subject to compliance with vesting conditions. All exercised options shall be settled in demat mode. As per the plan, holders 
of vested options are entitled to purchase one equity share for every option at an exercise price of Re 1 which is 93% to 98% 
below the market price at the date of grant.
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Employee stock option (ESOP) scheme (2019-20) 

The scheme has been adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to resolution passed at its meeting held on June 29, 2019, 
read with Special Resolution passed by shareholder of the company at the extra ordinary general meeting held on July 30, 
2019. The plan entitles senior employees to purchase shares in the Company at the stipulated exercise price, subject to 
compliance with vesting conditions. All exercised options shall be settled in demat mode. As per the plan, holders of vested 
options are entitled to purchase one equity share for every option at an exercise price of Re 1 which is 93% to 98% below the 
market price at the date of grant.

Scheme ESOP Scheme 2013-14 ESOP Scheme 2019-20

Date of grant April 1 , 2020 July 01, 2020 October 25 , 
2020

January 01, 
2021 July 01, 2020 January 01, 

2021

Number of options granted 200,000 85,000 19,850 80,000 116 4,200,000 

Exercise price per option 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Vesting requirements

Vesting period 
as defined 

by the board 
in the letters 

issuing the 
options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined 

by the board 
in the letters 

issuing the 
options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined 

by the board 
in the letters 

issuing the 
options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined 

by the board 
in the letters 

issuing the 
options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined 

by the board 
in the letters 

issuing the 
options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined 

by the board 
in the letters 

issuing the 
options to 

employees.

Exercise period 1 years - 5 
years

1 years - 5 
years

1 years - 5 
years

1 years - 5 
years

1 years - 5 
years

1 years - 5 
years

Method of settlement Demat mode Demat mode Demat mode Demat mode Demat mode Demat mode

The following table sets forth a summary of the activity of options:	 (` in Million)

Particulars
2020-21 2019-20 

ESOP Scheme 
13-14

ESOP Scheme 
14-15

ESOP Scheme 
19-20

ESOP Scheme 
13-14

ESOP Scheme 
14-15

ESOP Scheme 
19-20

Options 

Outstanding at the beginning of 
the year 263,680 3,966,220 100,000 146,211 5,031,860 - 

Granted during the year 384,850 - 4,316,100 426,679 - 100,000 

Exercised during the year (369,380) (437,150) - (290,060) (1,037,960) - 

Lapse during the year (92,800) - (1,000) (19,150) (27,680) - 

Outstanding at the end of the 
year-Pre-Bonus 186,350 3,529,070 4,415,100 263,680 3,966,220 100,000 

Outstanding at the end of the 
year-Post-Bonus * 372,700 7,058,140 8,830,200 

Exercisable at the end of the year 372,700 7,058,140 8,830,200 263,680 3,966,220 100,000 

* In view of Bonus shares issued by the Company in the ratio of 1:1, the outstanding stock options as on the record date of Bonus are being 
entitled to bonus and hence the post bonus effect is considered for outstanding stock options as at March 31, 2021.
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Expense arising from share- based payment transactions

Total expenses arising from share- based payment transactions recognised in profit or loss as part of employee benefit 
expense were as follows :

(` in Million)

Particulars
2020-21 2019-20 

Indian Rupees. Indian Rupees.
Employee stock option plan 23.54 42.04 
Total employee share based payment expense 23.54 42.04 

The fair value of the share based payment options granted on is determined using the black scholes model using the 
following inputs at the grant date which takes in to account the exercise price, the term of the option, the share price at the 
grant date, and the expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest 
rate for the term of the option.

Particulars 31st March 2021 31st March 2020 

Option grant date April 1,  
2020

July 01,  
2020 

October 25 , 
2020 

January 01, 
2021

April 01, 
2019 

October 25, 
2019 

January 01, 
2020 

Weighted average share price 35.97 60.82 83.07 86.41 43.19 45.01 55.12 
Exercise price 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Expected volatility 64% 56% 50% 49% 50% 71% 71%
Expected life (years) 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 
Dividend yield 0.29% 0.29% 0.29% 0.29% 0.47% 0.47% 0.47%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 5.83% 4.66% 4.94% 4.99% 6.31% 5.41% 5.03%
Fair market value share 36.12 61.01 82.62 84.72 41.67 43.99 52.92
Weighted average remaining 
contractual life (Years)

Employee Stock Appreciation Rights (SAR)

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the Board of Directors of the Company, at its meeting held on July 13, 2017 and the 
special resolution passed by the Members of the Company on August 11, 2017, the Infibeam Stock Appreciation Rights 
Scheme 2017 (“SAR Scheme 2017”) was approved in accordance with the provisions of SEBI (SBEB) Regulations, having 
face value of ` 1.00 each. The Company has created “Infibeam Employees Welfare Fund” by way of a trust on September 
5, 2017 which will be involved in the execution of Infibeam Stock Appreciation Rights Scheme 2017 (SAR). Barclays Wealth 
Trustees (India) Private Limited (Barclays) are appointed as trustees of the same. Each SAR shall confer the right to the eligible 
employee to receive appreciation (cash settled / equity settled) with respect to the underlying Equity Share on the entitled 
shares after it has been exercised in accordance with terms of the Scheme.

SARs granted are as under:

Particulars Approval Date No. of SAR's post-
bonus 

No. of SAR's pre-
bonus 

SAR Price 
Indian Rupees 
per SAR ( post-

bonus) 

SAR Price 
Indian Rupees 
per SAR ( pre-

bonus) 
Option grant date February 14, 2019 5,592,622 2,796,311 70.50 141.00 
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Movement in options:	

Particulars
SAR Scheme 2017 

As at  
March 31, 2021 

SAR Scheme 2017 
As at  

March 31, 2020

SAR Scheme 2017

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,031,311 2,276,311 

Granted during the year 951,311 - 

Exercised during the year - - 

Lapse during the year (186,311) (245,000)

Outstanding at the end of the year -Pre-Bonus 2,796,311 2,031,311 

Outstanding at the end of the year-Post-Bonus * 5,592,622 - 

Exercisable at the end of the year-Pre-Bonus 1,845,000 2,031,311 

Exercisable at the end of the year-Post-Bonus * 3,690,000 - 
* In view of Bonus shares issued by the Company in the ratio of 1:1, the outstanding SAR as on the record date of Bonus are being entitled 
to bonus and hence the post bonus effect is considered for outstanding SAR as at March 31, 2021.

Note 29: Consolidation of Trust
The company has formed ‘Infibeam Employee Welfare Trust’ (IEW trust) for implementation of the schemes that are notified 
or may be notified from time to time by the Company under the plan, providing share based payment to its employees. IEW 
trust purchases Company’s shares out of funds provided by the Company. The Company treats IEW as its extension and 
accordingly shares held by IEW are treated as treasury shares.

The Consolidation of the IEW trust financials statements with that of the Company does not in any manner affect the 
independence of the trustees where the rights and obligations are regulated by the trust deed.

Own equity instruments (treasury shares) are deducted from equity.

(i)	 The sources and application of funds of the IEW Trust consolidated as at 31st March, 2021 were as follows:
(` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20
Corpus Fund 0.00 0.00 
Borrowing 402.19 401.96 
Current liabilities and provision 40.44 40.29 
Cash & Bank equivalents 0.01 0.26 
Non current investments 396.06 396.06 
Net asset / (liability) (46.56) (45.94)

(ii)	 Impact on the Company’s profit and loss post IEW Trust consolidation for the year 31st March, 2021
(` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20
Income
Dividend on equity - 0.28 
Expenses
Administrative expese 0.62 0.62 
Impact on profit before tax (0.62) (0.34)
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(iii)	 Summarised statement of cash flows of the Trust consolidated for the year ended 31st March, 2021
(` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20
Cash and cash equivalents 1st April, 0.26 0.02 
Cash flow from operating activities (0.48) (4.00)
Cash flow from investing activities - 0.28 
Cash flow from financing activities 0.23 3.96 
Cash and cash equivalents 31 March 0.01 0.26 

Other items adjusted owing to the Trust consolidation include :
(a)	 Treasury shares 
	 Upon consolidation, the investment in the Parent Company’s equity shares made by IEW Trust is debited to the 

Group’s equity as treasury shares amounting to ` 396. 06 million as at 31st March, 2021 (previous year: ` 396.06 
million).

(b)	 Dividend Income
	 The dividend income of the Trust is debited to the Group’s retained earning amounting to Nil as at 31st March, 

2021 (previous year: ` 0.28 million) (shown as deduction from dividend paid).
(c)	 Other Non Current Financial Assets and other income
	 Loan advanced to the Trust is eliminated on consolidation amounting to ` 402.19 million as at 31st March, 2021 

(previous year: ` 401.96 million) forming a part of current loans. Accordingly, interest on above loan is also 
eliminated amounting to ` Nil (previous year: ` Nil).

(d) 	 Interest Expenses
	 Due to significant difference in the purchase price of the shares accquired and prevailing market price of the share, 

the Group foresees inability of the ESOP Trust to service its loan obligations and interest payment temporirly. 
Accordingly the Group has reduced the interest on loan to zero.

Note 30: Segment reporting
Geographical segments for the Company are secondary segments. Segment revenue is analysed based on the location of 
customers regardless of where the services are provided from. The following provides an analysis of the Company’s sales by 
Geographical Markets. For management purpose, the Company operates in three principal geographical areas of the world, 
in India, in UAE and other countries.

A.	 Information about geographical areas

	 The Company operates in three principal geographical areas of the world, in India, middle east, and the other countries. 
As the Company does not operate in more than one business segment, disclosures for primary segment as required 
under Ind AS 108 have not been given.

B.	 Unallocated items:

	 Domestic geographical segment includes certain assets which are comman to all the geographical segments (i.e. India, 
UAE and Others).

Non-current assets exclude financial instruments, deferred tax asets and tax assets.

C.	 Segment policies:

	 The Company prepares its segment information in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and 
presenting the financial statements of the Company as a whole.

D. 	 Major customer

	 Revenue from one customer of the Company’s India segment is ` 1633.57 million which is more than 10 percent of the 
Company’s total revenue for the year ended March 31, 2021.
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	 Revenue from one customer of the Company’s India segment is ` 1,644.58 million which is more than 10 percent of the 
Company’s total revenue for the year ended March 31, 2020.

(` in Million)

Period 
ending India UAE Others Total

Revenue from operations and other operating 
revenue 31-03-21 5,351.73 157.48 257.81 5,767.02 

31-03-20 5,329.90 365.41 123.18 5,818.49 
Carrying amount of segment non current assets * 31-03-21 24,916.40 24,916.40 

31-03-20 24,585.48 - - 24,585.48 

	 * The carrying amount of Non Current Assets which do not include Deferred Tax Asset, Income Tax Assets and Financial Assets 
analysed the geographical area in which the Assets are located.

Note 31: Lease
Company as Lessee

The Company’s lease asset primarily consist of leases of buildings offices having the various lease terms. Effective April 1, 
2019, the Company adopted Ind AS 116 “Leases” and applied the standard to all lease contracts existing on April 1, 2019 
using the modified retrospective method. Consequently, the Company recorded the lease liability at the present value of the 
remaining lease payments discounted at the incremental borrowing rate as on the date of transition and has measured right 
of use asset at an amount equal to lease liability adjusted for any related prepaid and accrued lease payments previously 
recognised.

The following is the summary of practical expedients elected on initial application:

(a) 	 Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases of similar assets in similar economic environment with a similar 
end date

(b)	 Applied the exemption not to recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease 
term on the date of initial application

(c)	 Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application

(d)	 Applied the practical expedient by not reassessing whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the date of initial 
application. Instead applied the standards only to contracts that were previously identified as leases under Ind AS 17.

(e) 	 Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or terminate the lease.

Following is carrying value of right of use assets recognised on date of transition and the movements thereof during the year 
ended March 31, 2021 and March 31,2020:

(` in Million)

Particulars
Right to use asset Leasehold Building
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Opening Balance - 
Transition impact on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 “Leases” (refer Note 3) 45.19 60.13 
Total Right of Use on the date of transition 45.19 60.13 
Additions during the year 32.15 - 
Deletion during the year - - 
Depreciation of Right of use assets (refer note 5) 18.54 14.94 
Closing Balance 58.81 45.19 
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The following is the carrying value of lease liability on the date of transition and movement thereof during the year ended 
March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 :

(` in Million)

Particulars
Lease Liability Leasehold Building

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020
Opening Balance 47.79 - 
Transition impact on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 “Leases” - 60.13 
Additions during the year 29.25 - 
Finance cost accrued during the year 5.74 5.25 
Deletions - - 
Payment of lease liabilities (20.89) (17.59)
Closing Balance 61.89 47.79 
Current maturities of Lease liability (refer note 12) 19.04 13.13 
Non-Current Lease Liability (refer note 12) 42.84 34.66 

The following are the amounts recognised in statement of Profit & Loss :	 (` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Amortisation of Right to use assets 18.54 14.94 
Interest on Lease obligation 5.74 5.25 

24.27 20.19 

The adoption of the new standard has also resulted in decrease in profit before tax and profit for the year 2019-20 by 

` 2.60 million (Increase in depreciation expense and finance cost by ` 14.94 million and ` 5.25 million respectively with 
corresponding decrease in other expense by ` 17.59 million). The effect of this adoption is insignificant on earnings per 
share. Ind AS 116 has also resulted in an increase in cash inflows from operating activities and an increase in cash outflows 
from financing activities on account of lease payments by ` 17.59 million each. Total Deferred tax expense and deferred tax 
liabilities are decreased by ` 0.91 million.

The Company had total cash out flows for leases of ` 20.89 million in the current year (year ended March 31, 2020 ` 17.59 
million). The entire amount is in the nature of fixed lease payments. The Company had non-cash addition to right of use 
assets of ` 32.15 million and lease liabilities of ` 29.25 million in the current year (year ended March 31, 2020 ` 60.13 million) 
on account of acquisition of right to use assets.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 10.65%

The Company does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities as the current assets are sufficient to 
meet the obligations related to lease liabilities as and when they fall due.
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Note 32 : Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Activities:
a.	 The Company is required to spend ` 9.65 Million (Previous Year ` 7.30 Million) on CSR activities.

b.	 Amount spent during the year on:	 (` in Million)

Year ended 
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

In cash Yet to be paid 
in cash Total In cash Yet to be paid 

in cash Total

(i) Construction / Acquisition of an 
Assets - - - - - - 

(ii) Contribution to Trust/Universities 9.65 - 9.65 7.30 - 7.30 
(iii) On Purposes other than above - - - - - - 

Note 33 : Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management
The significant accounting policies, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are 
disclosed in Note 2 to the Financial Statements.

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities:

As at 31 March 2021	 (` in Million)

Particulars

Carrying amount Fair value

Amortised 
Cost

Fair value through

Total

Level 1 - 
Quoted price 

in active 
markets

Level 2 - 
Significant 
observable 

inputs

Level 3 - 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs

TotalOther 
comprehensive 

income

Profit 
and loss

Financial assets
Non current investment 615.79 - 615.79 - 615.79 - 615.79 
Current investment - - - - - - - - 
Other Non-current 
financial asset* 84.49 - - 84.49 84.49 - 84.49 

84.49 615.79 - 700.28 - 700.28 - 700.28 
Financial liabilities
Long term borrowing 110.41 - - 110.41 - 110.41 - 110.41 
Other financial 
liabilities-non-current 42.84 42.84 42.84 42.84 

153.25 - - 153.25 - 153.25 - 153.25 
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As at 31 March 2020	 (` in Million)

Particulars

Carrying amount Fair value

Amortised 
Cost

Fair value through

Total

Level 1 - 
Quoted price 

in active 
markets

Level 2 - 
Significant 
observable 

inputs

Level 3 - 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs

TotalOther 
comprehensive 

income

Profit 
and loss

Financial assets
Non current investment - 615.79 - 615.79 - 615.79 - 615.79 
Current investment - - - - - - - - 
Other Non-current 
financial asset* 471.76 - - 471.76 471.76 - 471.76 

471.76 615.79 - 1,087.55 - 1,087.55 - 1,087.55 
Financial liabilities
Long term borrowing 175.81 - - 175.81 - 175.81 - 175.81 
Other financial 
liabilities-non-current 34.66 - - 34.66 - 34.66 - 34.66 

210.47 - - 210.47 - 210.47 - 210.47 

The management assessed that cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, loans, trade receivables, trade payables, other current 
financial assets and other current financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments

* The management assessed that carrying value approximates to the fair value

Fair value hierarchy

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 - Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 1 - Valuation technique and significant observable inputs for assets and liabilities

Current Investment represents investment in mututal funds. The fair value of investment is derived based on the fund 
statement provided by the fund manager.

Reconciliation of Level 1 fair values

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 1 fair values.

(` in Million)

Paticulars FY 2020-21 FY 2019-20
Opening Balance on April 1, - - 
Net change in fair value (unrealised) - - 
Purchases 152.49 550.50
Sales (152.49) (550.50)
Closing Balance on March 31, - - 
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Level 2 - Valuation technique and significant observable inputs for assets and liabilities

Long term borrowings represents loan taken from bank. The fair value of borrowing is derived based on market observable 
interest rate. 

The fair values of the unquoted non current investment have been estimated using a DCF model. The valuation requires 
management to make certain assumptions about the model inputs, including forecast cash flows and discount rate. The 
probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and are used in management’s estimate 
of fair value for these unquoted investments.

B.	 Financial risk management

The Company has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
	 Credit risk ;
	 Liquidity risk ; and
	 Market risk

i.	 Risk management framework

	 The Company’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 
management framework. The Company manages market risk through a treasury operations, which evaluates and 
exercises independent control over the entire process of market risk management. The Finance team recommends 
risk management objectives and policies. The activities of this operations include management of cash resources, 
borrowing strategies, and ensuring compliance with market risk limits and policies.

	 The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to 
set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company, 
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

	 The audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the company’s risk management policies 
and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the 
Company. 

ii.	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers and investments in 
debt securities. The carrying amount of following financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Financial Instruments and Cash Deposits

	 The credit risk from balances/deposits with Banks, current investments and other financial assets are managed in 
accordance with company’s policy. Investment of surplus funds are primarily made in Liquid/Short Term Plan of Mutual 
Funds and in Bank Deposits which carry a high external rating.

Trade receivables

	 Trade receivables of the company are typically unsecured. Credit risk is managed through credit approvals and periodic 
monitoring of the creditworthiness of customers to which company grants credit terms in the normal course of 
business. The allowance for impairment of Trade receivables is created to the extent and as and when required, based 
upon the expected collectability of accounts receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables by geographic region was as follows:	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Domestic 153.00 52.00 
Other regions 241.00 138.00 

394.00 190.00 
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Impairment

The ageing of trade and other receivables that were not impaired was as follows.	 (` in Million)

As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020
Particulars Upto 0-180 days More than 180 days Upto 0-180 days More than 180 days
Gross 312.34 154.47 165.94 78.42 
Less: Provision (22.73) (50.13) (11.75) (42.28)
Net 289.62 104.34 154.18 36.13 

The above receivables which are past due but not impaired are assessed on individual case to case basis and relate to a 
number of independent third party customers from whom there is no recent history of default. These financial assets were 
not impaired as there had not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts were still considered recoverable 
based on the nature of the activity of the customer portfolio to which they belong and the type of customers. There are no 
other classes of financial assets that are past due but not impaired except for Trade receivables as at March 31, 2021 and 
March 31, 2020.

iii.	 Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations 
without incurring unacceptable losses. The Company’s objective is to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity 
to meet its cash and collateral requirements. The Company closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a robust 
cash management system.

	 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments:

(` in Million)

Particulars Less than 1 year more than 1 year
Year ended March 31, 2021
Interest bearing borrowings 87.90 110.41 
Trade payables 77.06 - 
Other financial liabilities 243.84 42.84 

408.80 153.25 
Year ended March 31, 2020
Interest bearing borrowings 87.90 175.81 
Trade payables 76.20 - 
Other financial liabilities 158.70 34.66 

322.80 210.47 

(a)	 Market risk

	 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits.

Foreign currency risk

	 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Company transacts business in local currency and in foreign currency, primarily in USD, 
AED, SAR, EURO, OMR. The Company has foreign currency trade payables and receivables and is, therefore, exposed to 
foreign exchange risk. The Company does not use any derivative instruments to hedge its risks associated with foreign 
currency fluctuations.

Foreign currency sensitivity

	 The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in USD, AED, SAR, EURO and OMR 
rates to the functional currency of the Company, with all other variables held constant. The Company’s exposure to 
foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material. The impact on the Company’s profit before tax is due 
to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities.
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(` in Million)

Change in  
USD rate

Effect on profit  
before tax

March 31, 2021 +5% 13.81 
-5% (13.81)

March 31, 2020 +5% 11.21 
-5% (11.21)

Change in  
AED rate

Effect on profit  
before tax

March 31, 2021 +5% 3.69 
-5% (3.69)

March 31, 2020 +5% 0.01 
-5% (0.01)

Change in  
SAR rate

Effect on profit  
before tax

March 31, 2021 +5% 0.37 
-5% (0.37)

March 31, 2020 +5% 0.47 
-5% (0.47)

Change in  
EURO rate

Effect on profit  
before tax

March 31, 2021 +5% 0.98 
-5% (0.98)

March 31, 2020 +5% - 
-5% - 

Change in  
OMR rate

Effect on profit  
before tax

March 31, 2020 +5% 0.15 
-5% (0.15)

March 31, 2019 +5% - 
-5% - 

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the 
Company’s long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Company manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed plus variable rate borrowings.
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Note 34 : Capital management
For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company. The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure 
that it maintains an efficient capital structure in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions or 
its business requirements. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, 
which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Company includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and 
borrowings less cash and short-term deposits (including other bank balance).

(` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 12) 205.89 263.78 
Less: cash and cash equivalent (Note 7) (1,099.35) (734.14)
Net debt (893.46) (470.36)
Equity share capital (Note 10) 1,331.05 664.72 
Other equity (Note 11) 25,240.37 25,302.84 
Total capital 26,571.42 25,967.56 
Capital and net debt 25,677.96 25,497.20 
Gearing ratio - - 

Note 35 : Dues to micro, small and medium suppliers
The Ministry of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises has issued an office memorandum dated August 26, 2008 which 
recommends that the Micro and Small Enterprises should mention in their correspondence with its customers the 
Entrepreneurs Memorandum Number as allocated after filing of the Memorandum in accordance with the ‘Micro, Small 
and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006’ (‘the MSMED Act’) accordingly, the disclosure in respect of the amounts 
payable to such enterprises as at March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 has been made in the financial statements based on 
information received and available with the Company. Further in view of the Management, the impact of interest, if any, that 
may be payable in accordance with the provisions of the Act is not expected to be material. The Company has not received 
any claim for interest from any supplier as at the balance-sheet date.

(` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

The principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as at 
the end of accounting year; 0.18 2.30 

The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the MSMED Act along 
with the amounts of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during 
each accounting year;

- 

The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which 
has been paid but beyod the appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest 
specified under the MSMED Act;

- 

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of accounting year; and - 
The amount of further interest due and payable even in the succeeding period, until such 
date when the interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise, for the 
purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under section 23 of the MSMED Act.

- 

On basis of information and records available with the Company, the above disclosures are made in respect of amount due to the micro, 
small and medium enterprises, which have been registered with the relevant competent authorities. The above information takes into 
account only those suppliers who have submitted their registration details or has responded to the inquiries made by the Company for this 
purpose.
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Note 36 : Demerger of undertakings
The Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Ahmedabad Bench, vide its order dated November 27, 2020, sanctioned the 
Composite Scheme of Arrangement amongst Infibeam Avenues Limited (‘Infibeam’), Suvidhaa Infoserve Limited (‘Suvidhaa’), 
DRC Systems India Limited (‘DRC’) and NSI Infinium Global Limited (‘NSI’) and their respective shareholders and creditors 
under Sections 230 to 232 read with Section 66 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘Scheme’) 
leading to Transfer and vesting of the SME E-Commerce Services Undertaking from Infibeam to Suvidhaa and Themepark & 
Event Software Undertaking from Infibeam to DRC. The Scheme became effective upon filing of certified copy of the order 
with the Registrar of Companies (RoC) on December 2, 2020. The Appointed Date for the Composite Scheme of Arrangement 
was April 1, 2020 and the Record Date was set as December 11, 2020 for the purpose of determining the shareholders for 
issuance of Equity Shares. 

Demerger of Themepark & Event Software Undertaking :

In accordance with the provisions of the aforesaid scheme, upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and in consideration of 
the transfer and vesting of the Themepark & Event Software Undertaking into DRC pursuant to the provisions of this Scheme, 
DRC has, without any further act or deed, issued and allotted to each shareholder of lnfibeam, whose name is recorded in 
the register of members and records of the depositories as members of Infibeam, on the Record Date in the following ratio:

1 (One) equity share of ` 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each of DRC credited as fully paid-up for every 412 (Four Hundred Twelve) 
equity shares of Re. 1/- (Rupee One Only) each held by such shareholder in Infibeam.

Demarger of SME E-commerce Services Undertaking:

In accordance with the provisions of the aforesaid scheme, upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and in consideration 
of the transfer and vesting of the SME E-commerce Services Undertaking into Suvidhaa pursuant to the provisions of this 
Scheme, Suvidhaa has, without any further act or deed, issued and allotted to each shareholder of lnfibeam, whose name 
is recorded in the register of members and records of the depositories as members of lnfibeam, on the Record Date in the 
following ratio:

197 (One Hundred Ninety-Seven) equity shares of Re. 1 /- (Rupee One Only) each of Suvidhaa credited as fully paid-up 
for every 1,500 (One Thousand Five Hundred) equity shares of Re. 1/- (Rupee One Only) each held by such shareholder in 
Infibeam.

The shares have been allotted during the year post approval of scheme and the amount of distribution of net assets of the 
demerged undertakings have been adjusted against General Reserve and Retained Earnings under Other equity.

In accordance with the scheme, the demerger of undertakings has been accounted as prescribed by Ind AS 103 “Business 
Combinations”.

Accordingly, the accounting treatment has been given as under: -

All the assets and liabilities of demerged undertakings as at 1 April 2020 have been transferred at their book values from the 
financial statements of the Company and the net assets value have been adjusted against General Reserves and Retained 
earnings under Other Equity.

Further, the SME E-Commerce Services Undertaking and Themepark & Event Software Undertaking have been disclosed 
as discontinued operations and financial results of previous year presented have been restated accordingly, to disclose the 
results of demerged undertakings separately from the Company’s continuing business operations.
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Statement of Profit and Loss of demerged undertakings:	 (` in Million)

Particulars
Themepark & 

Event Software 
Undertaking 

SME E-commerce 
Services 

Undertaking
Total

Income
Revenue from operations 13.41 31.68 45.09 
Total income (I) 13.41 31.68 45.09 
Expenses
Employee benefits expenses 7.41 6.41 13.82 
Depreciation and amortization expenses 27.85 9.79 37.63 
Other expenses 2.01 4.75 6.76 
Total expenses (II) 37.27 20.95 58.21 
Profit / (Loss) before tax (23.85) 10.73 (13.12)
Tax expenses (8.34) 3.75 (4.59)
Profit / (Loss) after tax (15.52) 6.98 (8.54)

Assets and liabilities transferred

The book values of the assets and liabilities of demerged undertakings transferred at the appointed date (April 01 , 2020) 
were as follows:

(` in Million)

Particulars
Themepark & 

Event Software 
Undertaking 

SME E-commerce 
Services 

Undertaking
Total

Assets:
Property, Plant and Equipment 0.12 0.07 0.18 
Other intangible assets 50.87 4.49 55.36 
Investments (held for sale) - 302.72 302.72 
Trade receivables 1.06 1.53 2.59 
Cash and cash equivalents 3.99 40.80 44.79 

56.04 349.60 405.65 
Liabilities:
Other financial Liabilites 0.60 0.53 1.14 
Other current Liabilities 18.32 0.31 18.63 

18.93 0.84 19.77 

Net Assets Transferred 37.12 348.76 385.88 
Net Assets Transferred as on April 01, 2020 adjusted against 
following in previous year :
General Reserve (Note 11) 107.31 
Retained Earnings (Note 11) 278.56 

Total 385.88 
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Note 37 : Nodal balance
The Company maintains nodal account with ICICI Bank, HDFC Bank and Kotak Mahindra Bank. The nodal accounts are 
operated as per RBI guidelines pertaining to settlement of payment for electronic payment transactions for payment gateway 
business. The balance in the nodal accounts represents money collected from customers on transaction undertaken and is 
used for settling of dues to various merchants as per RBI guidelines.

Receivable for settlement of transactions:

The balance in receivable for settlement of transaction represents the amount pending to be received from pooling bank 
account and payment gateway for successful online transaction completed by the customer of the merchant into the nodal 
accounts. These amounts once collected in Nodal account will be utilized for payment to the merchants.

Payable for settlement of transactions:

The balance in payable for settlement of transaction represents the amount pending to be paid to merchant for successful 
online transaction completed by the customer of the merchant. The amount for the nodal accounts are transferred to the 
merchant designated bank account as per RBI guidelines, after deducting applicable charges.

38	 The Company’s transactions with associated enterprises are at arm’s length. Management believes that company’s 
domestic transactions with associated enterprises post March 31, 2021 continue to be at arm’s length and that the 
transfer pricing legislation will not have any impact on the financial statements particularly on the amount of the tax 
expense for the year and the amount of the provision for the taxation at the period end.

39	 During the year ended March 2020, the Company has received Government grant amounting to ` 95.85 million against purchase of 
qualifying assets (Office Building and Data Centre related infrastructure). The same have been deducted from the carrying amount of 
the qualified assets. Accordingly, depreciation expense on qualified assets has been less charged to the statement of profit and loss 
by ` 24.45 Million (Previous year: ` 9.67 million).

40 Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 115 “Revenue from contract with customers”:
a)	 Disaggregation of revenue

	 The table below presents disaggregated revenue from contract with customers for the year ended March 31, 2021 and 
March 31, 2020 by offerings.

i)	 Revenue by offerings	 (` in Million)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2021

For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

Digital Payments and Checkout Web Services 4,822.27 5,085.15 

E-Commerce Related Web Services 944.75 733.34 

Total 5,767.02 5,818.49 

Digital Payments and Checkout Web Services

	 It comprises revenue from providing complete, simple and secure online payment gateway and checkout web services, 
with a real-time Credit Card, Debit Card, Net Banking, Digital and Mobile Wallet including UPI Payments, Cash Card and 
Mobile Payment transaction validation process and platforms. This enables eCommerce websites to sell products and 
services online, and accept payments in real time.

E-Commerce Related Web Services

	 These primarily include a comprehensive suite of E-Commerce related web services comprising of domain registry, 
technical analysis and testing of software web services, digital advertising, and infrastructure related services.

ii)	 Refer note 30 for disaggregation of revenue by geographical segments

iii)	 The Company believes that this disaggregation best depicts how the nature, amount, timing of its revenues and cash 
flows are affected by industry, market and other economic factors.
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b)	 Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligation

	 The aggregate value of performance obligations that are completely or partially unsatisfied as of March 31, 2021 is 
` 0.54 million (March 31, 2020 is ` 48.96 million) which is expected to be recognize as revenue within the next one 
year. Remaining performance obligation estimates are subject to change and are affected by several factors, including 
changes in the scope of contracts, periodic revalidations, and adjustments for currency.

c)	 Changes in contract assets are as follows:	 (` in Million)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2021

For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year 524.02 178.33 
Revenue recognised during the year 535.53 483.35 
Invoices raised during the year (370.42) (137.66)
Translation exchange difference - - 
Balance at the end of the year 689.13 524.02 

d)	 Changes in unearned and deferred revenue are as follows:	 (` in Million)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2021

For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year 55.71 227.17 
Revenue recognised that was included in the excess billing over revenue at the 
beginning of the year (54.01) (177.23)

Increase due to invoicing during the year, excluding amounts recognised as revenue 
during the year 8.55 5.77 

Translation exchange difference - - 
Balance at the end of the year 10.25 55.71 

41	 World Health Organisation (WHO) declared outbreak of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) a global pandemic on March 
11, 2020. Consequent to this, Government of India declared lockdown on 24-03-2020 which has impacted the business 
activities of the Company. On account of this, the Company has prepared cash flow projections and also, assessed 
the recoverability of receivables, contract assets, factored assumptions used in annual impairment testing of goodwill 
and intangible assets having indefinite useful life, using the various internal and external information up to the date of 
approval of these financial statements. On the basis of evaluation and current indicators of future economic conditions, 
the Company expects to recover the carrying amount of these assets and does not anticipate any impairment to 
these financial and nonfinancial assets. The Company will continue to closely monitor any material changes to future 
economic conditions.

42	 Previous year figures have been regrouped or recast wherever necessary to make them comparable with those of the 
current year.

As per our report of even date
For Shah & Taparia For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Infibeam Avenues Limited 
ICAI Firm Registration No. 109463W (formerly known as Infibeam Incorporation Limited) 

CIN: L64203GJ2010PLC061366 

Ramesh Pipalawa Vishal Mehta Ajit Mehta 
Partner Managing Director Chairman 
Membership No.: 103840 DIN: 03093563 DIN: 01234707 

Gandhinagar Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021

Hiren Padhya Shyamal Trivedi
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Members of Infibeam Avenues Limited (formerly 
known as Infibeam Incorporation Ltd)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated IND AS 
financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements of Infibeam Avenues Limited (formerly 
known as Infibeam Incorporation Ltd) (hereinafter referred 
to as “the Holding Company”), its subsidiaries (the Holding 
Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the 
Group”) its associates, comprising of the consolidated Balance 
sheet as at March 31 2021, the consolidated Statement of 
Profit and Loss, including other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as 
“the consolidated Ind AS financial statements”)

In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us and based on 
the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate 
financial statements and on the other financial information 
of the subsidiaries and associates, the aforesaid consolidated 
Ind AS financial statements give the information required 
by the Companies Act, 2013, as amended (“the Act”) in 
the manner so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group and 
its associates as at March 31, 2021, their consolidated profit 
including other comprehensive income, their consolidated 

cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit of the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing (SAs), as specified under section 143(10) of the 
Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further 
described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements’ section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group and its 
associates in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and 
the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated IND AS financial statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2021. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated IND AS financial statements 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have 
determined the matters described below to be the key audit 
matters to be communicated in our report.

Sr No Key Audit Matter Auditors Response
1. Goodwill Impairment testing and Impact of COVID-19 

thereon
Principal Audit Procedures

Included on the balance sheet of parent company is an 
intangible assets balance of ` 18687.80 Million as on March 
31, 2021 which includes goodwill of ̀  16124.18 million which 
arose mainly from past acquisition and other intangible 
assets like Computer Software, IT Platform, Trademark and 
Customer relationship of ` 2489.61 million are classified as 
other Intangible assets.

On account of prevalent financial, economic and health crises 
caused due to global pandemic – COVID-19, having impact 
on the assumptions used for the continuity of operations 
and thus having further impact on the assessment of 
impairment of goodwill. 

Focusing on group’s business, we understood, evaluated and 
validated management’s key controls over the impairment 
assessment process. The group had obtained a valuation report 
from external independent valuer. On observing the same, following 
audit procedures were adopted:

•	 Evaluating the methodical and mathematical accuracy of the 
model used for the impairment testing, the appropriateness 
of the assumptions, and the methodology used to prepare its 
cash flow forecasts.

•	 gaining an understanding and assessing the reasonableness 
of business plans by comparing them to prior year’s 
assumptions;
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The group has prepared cash flow projections and believes 
it has sufficient liquidity based on the available liquid cash 
and the expected cash to be generated from operations 
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due for the 
following twelve months.

The group is required to perform impairment assessments 
of goodwill annually. For intangible assets with useful 
lives, the group is required to review these for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable, and at 
least annually, review whether there is any change in their 
expected useful lives.

For the purpose of performing impairment assessments, all 
intangible assets including goodwill have been allocated to 
groups of cash generating units (“CGUs”). The recoverable 
amount of the underlying CGUs is supported by value-in-
use calculations which are based on future discounted cash 
flows. Management concluded that the intangible assets 
including goodwill were not impaired as of March 31, 2021.

The above assessment factoring impact of COVID-19 on 
continuity of its operations and thereupon on annual 
impairment of goodwill is considered as significant 
accounting judgement and estimate to the consolidated Ind 
- AS financial statements) and a key audit matter because 
the assumptions on which the tests are based are highly 
judgmental and are affected by future market and economic 
conditions which are inherently uncertain, and because of 
the materiality of the balances to the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole.

	 comparing the current years actual results included in the 
model to consider whether forecasts including assumptions 
that, with hindsight, have been appropriate.

	 discussing the potential changes in key drivers as compared 
to previous year / actual performance with management and 
considering impact of COVID-19 in order to evaluate whether 
the inputs and assumptions used in the cash flow forecasts 
were suitable.

	 recalculating the value in use calculations

	 challenging the robustness of the key assumptions used to 
determine the value in use, including the allocation of goodwill 
to the adequate CGUs, cash flow forecasts, long-term growth 
rates and the discount rates based on our understanding 
of the commercial prospects of the related CGUs and by 
comparing them with publicly available data, where possible;

We also considered the appropriateness of disclosures in the 
consolidated IND AS financial statements and conclude that our 
audit procedures did not lead to any reservations regarding the 
goodwill impairment test.

Information Other than the Consolidated IND 
AS financial Statements and Auditor’s Report 
Thereon
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible 
for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Annual report, but does not 
include the consolidated Ind AS financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether such other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
Ind AS financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Management’s Responsibility for the 
Consolidated IND AS financial Statements
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for 
the preparation and presentation of these consolidated Ind 
AS financial statements in terms of the requirements of the 
Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position, consolidated financial performance including 
other comprehensive income, consolidated cash flows and 
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group 
including its associates in accordance with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 
of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. The respective Board 
of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of 
its associates are responsible for maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Group and of 
its associates and for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, 
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that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to 
the preparation and presentation of the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements by the Directors of 
the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, 
the respective Board of Directors of the companies 
included in the Group and of its associates are responsible 
for assessing the ability of the Group and of its associates 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those respective Board of Directors of the companies 
included in the Group and of its associates are also 
responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of 
the Group and of its associates.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated IND AS financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated Ind AS financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
Ind AS financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also::

	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3) 
(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing 
our opinion on whether the Holding Company has 
adequate internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements in place and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls.

	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group 
and its associates to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group and its associates to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
Ind AS financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group and its associates of which 
we are the independent auditors, to express an opinion 
on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit of the financial statements 
of such entities included in the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements of which we are the independent 
auditors. For the other entities included in the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements, which have 
been audited by other auditors, such other auditors 
remain responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audits carried out by them. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the 
Holding Company and such other entities included in the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements of which we are the 
independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2021 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Other Matter
We did not audit, the financial statements of ten subsidiaries 
whose financial statements reflects total assets of ` 2,766.19 
Millions as at March 31, 2021, total revenue of ` 1310.16 
Millions and net cash flow of ` 495.33 Millions for the year 
ended on that date. The consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements also include the Group’s share of net profit 
of ` 86.15 Millions for the year ended March 31, 2021, as 
considered in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, 
in respect of 3 associates. These financial statements and 
other financial information have been audited by other 
auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the 
management. Our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts 
and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and 
associates, and our report in terms of sub-sections (3) of 
Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid 
subsidiaries and associates, is based solely on the reports of 
such other auditors. Our opinion is not modified in respect 
of this matter.

Certain of these subsidiaries and associates are located 
outside India whose financial statements and other financial 
information have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in their respective 
countries and which have been audited by other auditors 
under generally accepted auditing standards applicable 
in their respective countries. The Holding Company’s 
management has converted the financial statements of 
such subsidiaries and associates located outside India from 
accounting principles generally accepted in their respective 
countries to accounting principles generally accepted in 
India. We have audited these conversion adjustments made 
by the Holding Company’s management. Our opinion in so 
far as it relates to the balances and affairs of such subsidiaries 

and associates located outside India is based on the report 
of other auditors and the conversion adjustments prepared 
by the management of the Holding Company and audited 
by us. 

Our opinion on the consolidated IND AS financial statements, 
and our report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with 
respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of 
the other auditors.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements
1.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our 

audit and on the consideration of report of the other 
auditors on separate financial statements and the other 
financial information of subsidiaries and associates, as 
noted in the ‘other matter’ paragraph we report, to the 
extent applicable, that:

a)	 We/the other auditors whose report we have 
relied upon have sought and obtained all the 
information and explanations which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law relating to preparation of 
the aforesaid consolidation of the financial 
statements have been kept so far as it appears 
from our examination of those books and reports 
of the other auditors;

c)	 The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
including the Statement of Other Comprehensive 
Income, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
dealt with by this Report are in agreement with 
the books of account maintained for the purpose 
of preparation of the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements;

d)	 In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards specified under Section 133 of the 
Act, read with Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended.

e)	 On the basis of the written representations 
received from the directors of the Holding 
Company as on March 31, 2021 taken on record 
by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company 
and the reports of the statutory auditors who 
are appointed under Section 139 of the Act, of 
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its subsidiary companies and associates, none 
of the directors of the Group’s companies, its 
associates incorporated in India is disqualified 
as on March 31, 2021 from being appointed as a 
director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act. 

f)	 With respect to the adequacy and the operating 
effectiveness of the internal financial controls 
over financial reporting with reference to these 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements of the 
Holding Company and its subsidiary companies, 
and associates incorporated in India, refer to our 
separate Report in “Annexure A” to this report.

g)	 In our opinion and based on the consideration 
of reports of other statutory auditors of the 
subsidiaries and associates incorporated in 
India, the managerial remuneration for the year 
ended March 31, 2021 has been paid / provided 
by the Holding Company, its subsidiaries and 
associates incorporated in India to their directors 
in accordance with the provisions of section 197 
read with Schedule V to the Act.

h)	 With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, 
as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations 
given to us and based on the consideration of the 
report of the other auditors on separate financial 
statements as also the other financial information 

of the subsidiaries and associates, as noted in the 
‘Other matter’ paragraph:

a.	 The consolidated IND AS financial 
statements disclose impact of pending 
litigations on the consolidated IND AS 
financial position of the Group and its 
associates in its consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements – Refer Note 25 to the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements;

b.	 The Group and its associates did not have 
any material foreseeable losses in long-term 
contracts including derivative contracts 
during the year ended March 31, 2021;

c.	 There has been no delay in transferring 
amounts, required to be transferred, to the 
Investor Education and Protection Fund by 
the Holding Company, its subsidiaries and 
associates incorporated in India during the 
year ended March 31, 2021. 

For Shah & Taparia
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No.: 109463W

Ramesh Pipalawa
Partner

Membership Number: 103840
UDIN: 21103840AAAALQ6987

Date : May 27, 2021
Place : Gandhinagar
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(Referred to in paragraph 1 (f) under ‘Report on Other Legal 
and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report to the 
Members of Infibeam Avenues Limited (formerly known as 
Infibeam Incorporation Ltd) of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements of of Infibeam Avenues Limited (formerly 
known as Infibeam Incorporation Ltd) as of and for the year 
ended March 31, 2021, we have audited the internal financial 
controls over financial reporting of Infibeam Avenues Limited 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company”) and its 
subsidiary companies and associates, which are companies 
incorporated in India, as of that date

Management’s Responsibility for Internal 
Financial Controls
The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, its 
subsidiary companies and associates, which are companies 
incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing and 
maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal 
control over financial reporting criteria established by the 
Holding Company considering the essential components 
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These 
responsibilities include the design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that 
were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to 
the respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its 
assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, 
as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s 
internal financial controls over financial reporting with 
reference to these consolidated Ind AS financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the 
Standards on Auditing, both, issued by Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India, and deemed to be prescribed under 
section 143 (10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an 
audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and 
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal 

Annexure “A” to the Independent Auditor’s 
Report

financial controls over financial reporting with reference 
to these consolidated Ind AS financial statements was 
established and maintained and if such controls operated 
effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls 
over financial reporting with reference to these consolidated 
Ind AS financial statements and their operating effectiveness. 
Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting 
included obtaining an understanding of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting with reference to these 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating 
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control 
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and 
the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms 
of their reports referred to in the Other Matters paragraph 
below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion on the internal financial controls over 
financial reporting with reference to these consolidated Ind 
AS financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting With Reference to these 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements
A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting 
with reference to these consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting 
with reference to these consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) 
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are 
being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of 
the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements.
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Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting With 
Reference to these consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements 
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting with reference to these 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements, including the 
possibility of collusion or improper management override of 
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may 
occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of the internal financial controls over financial reporting with 
reference to these consolidated Ind AS financial statements 
to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal 
financial control over financial reporting with reference to 
these consolidated Ind AS financial statements may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies 
and associates, which are companies incorporated in India, 
have, maintained in all material respects, adequate internal 
financial controls over financial reporting with reference to 
these consolidated Ind AS financial statements and such 
internal financial controls over financial reporting with 
reference to these consolidated Ind AS financial statements 

were operating effectively as at March 31, 2021, based on the 
internal control over financial reporting criteria established by 
the Holding Company considering the essential components 
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

Other Matters
Our report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy 
and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls 
over financial reporting with reference to these consolidated 
Ind AS financial statements of the Holding Company, 
insofar as it relates to these 10 subsidiary companies and 3 
associates, which are companies incorporated in India as well 
as outside India, is based on the corresponding reports of 
the auditors of such subsidiary and associates incorporated 
in India.

For Shah & Taparia
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration No.: 109463W

Ramesh Pipalawa
Partner

Membership Number: 103840
UDIN: 21103840AAAALQ6987

Date : May 27, 2021
Place : Gandhinagar
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(` in Million)

Particulars Notes As at  
March 31, 2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

ASSETS 
I.	 Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 5 2,319.87 2,417.35 
Goodwill 6 16,198.19 16,126.23 
Capital work-in-progress 5 0.00 0.00 
Other intangible assets 6 2,489.61 2,715.75 
Intangible assets under development 6 158.42 - 
Financial assets 7 
(i)	 Investments 4,566.91 3,920.97 
(ii)	 Loans - - 
(ii)	 Other financial assets 84.57 471.76 
Deferred tax assets (net) 22 0.42 5.15 
Other non-current assets 8 582.05 340.24 
Income tax assets (net) 9 270.92 205.76 
Total non-current assets 26,670.95 26,203.21 

II.	 Current assets 
Financial assets 7 
(i)	 Trade receivables 729.09 533.50 
(ii)	 Cash and cash equivalents 1,774.14 863.55 
(iii)	 Bank balance other than (ii) above 7.47 125.13 
(iv)	 Loans 15.60 16.60 
(v)	 Others financial assets 1,669.60 742.90 
Other current assets 8 4,629.54 2,249.48 
Total current assets 8,825.44 4,531.15 
Assets classified as held for sale 7 - 566.87 
Total Assets 35,496.39 31,301.23 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Equity share capital 10 1,331.05 664.72 
Other equity 11 27,550.85 27,368.63 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 28,881.90 28,033.35 
Non-controlling interests (2.82) (17.83)
Total equity 28,879.08 28,015.52 

LIABILITIES 
I. Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 12 
(i)	 Borrowings 110.41 175.81 
(ii)	 Other financial liabilities 42.84 34.66 
Provisions 13 49.51 44.27 
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 22 328.12 294.97 

- - 
Total non-current liabilities 530.87 549.70 
II.Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 12 
(i) Borrowings 87.90 87.90 
(ii) Trade payables 
(a) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 2.67 3.48 
(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises 212.81 295.99 
(iii) Other financial liabilities 559.77 250.79 
Other current liabilities 14 5,161.32 2,035.88 
Provisions 13 13.91 12.33 
Income tax liabilities (net) 9 48.05 49.64 
Total current liabilities 6,086.44 2,736.01 
Total equity and liabilities 35,496.39 31,301.23 
Summary of significant accounting policies 1 - 4 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
As per our report of even date
For Shah & Taparia For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Infibeam Avenues Limited 
ICAI Firm Registration No. 109463W (formerly known as Infibeam Incorporation Limited) 

CIN: L64203GJ2010PLC061366 

Ramesh Pipalawa Vishal Mehta Ajit Mehta 
Partner Managing Director Chairman 
Membership No.: 103840 DIN: 03093563 DIN: 01234707 

Gandhinagar Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021

Hiren Padhya Shyamal Trivedi
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021

Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at March 31, 2021
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Consolidated statement of profit and loss
for the year ended March 31, 2021

(` in Million)

Particulars Notes Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Income 
Revenue from operations 15 6,760.35 6,327.16 
Other income 16 100.19 116.65 
Total income (I) 6,860.54 6,443.81 
Expenses 
Operating expenses 4,427.26 3,963.80 
Employee benefits expenses 17 615.29 532.29 
Finance costs 18 36.56 42.42 
Depreciation and amortization expense 19 750.56 873.31 
Other expenses 20 299.34 319.45 
Total expenses (II) 6,129.01 5,731.27 
Profit before exceptional items, share of profit / (loss) of an associate and tax 
(III) - (I - II) 731.53 712.54 
Exceptional items (IV) 20 - 82.76 
Profit after exceptional items but before share of profit / (loss) of associates and 
tax (V) - (III + IV) 731.53 795.30 
Add : Share in net profit / (loss) of associates (VI) 86.15 527.76 
Profit before tax (VII) = (V + VI) 817.68 1,323.06 
Income Tax expenses 22 
Current tax 76.98 119.46 
Deferred tax (net) 38.22 96.81 
Total tax expense (VIII) 115.20 216.27 
Profit from continuing operations after tax (IX) = (VII - VIII) 702.48 1,106.79 
Profit / (loss) from discontinued operations before tax - (12.49)
Share in net profit/(loss) of associate from discontinued operations - (17.86)
Tax expense of discontinued operations - (4.06)
Profit / (loss) from discontinued operations after tax (X) (Refer Note 35) - (26.28)
Profit /(loss) for the year from continuing and discontinued operations (XI) = (IX 
+ X) 702.48 1,080.51 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
A. Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit 
or loss in subsequent periods: 
Re-measurement gains / (losses) on defined benefit plans 2.95 (0.73)
Income tax effect (0.71) - 
Gains and Losses from Investments in Equity Instruments (2.26) - 
Income tax effect - 
B. Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit 
or loss in subsequent periods: - - 
Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (X) (0.02) (0.73)
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (IX+X) 702.46 1,079.78 
Profit for the year attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent 723.34 1,079.92 
Non-controlling interest (20.86) 0.58 

702.48 1,106.79 
Total comprehensive income attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent 723.26 1,078.94 
Non-controlling interest (20.80) 0.84 

702.46 1,079.78 
Earning per equity share [nominal value per share Re.1/- (March 31, 2020: Re.1/- )] 28 
For continuing operations 

Basic 0.53 0.84 
Diluted 0.52 0.83 

For discontinued operations 
Basic - (0.02)
Diluted - (0.02)
Summary of significant accounting policies 1-4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
As per our report of even date
For Shah & Taparia For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Infibeam Avenues Limited 
ICAI Firm Registration No. 109463W (formerly known as Infibeam Incorporation Limited) 

CIN: L64203GJ2010PLC061366 

Ramesh Pipalawa Vishal Mehta Ajit Mehta 
Partner Managing Director Chairman 
Membership No.: 103840 DIN: 03093563 DIN: 01234707 

Gandhinagar Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021

Hiren Padhya Shyamal Trivedi
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021
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Statement of changes in Equity
for the year ended March 31, 2021
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Statement of cash flows
as at March 31, 2021

(` in Million)

Particulars March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

A Cash Flow from operating activities:
Profit Before taxation 731.53 782.81 
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net 
cash flows:
Depreciation and amortization expenses 750.56 873.31 
ESOP expense (net) 24.31 51.38 
Finance cost 36.56 43.48 
Allowance for doubtful debts 3.23 26.56 
Balance written off 14.10 4.16 
IND AS impact on fair value of investment - (82.76)
Unrealized foreign currency loss / (gain) 3.85 (17.40)
Liabilities / allowance written back (16.31) (20.04)
Interest income (66.64) (70.51)
Short term capital gain on sale of mutual fund (0.29) (1.46)
Loss on sale of fixed assets - 0.27 

749.36 806.99 
Operating Profit before Working Capital 
Changes 1,480.89 1,589.80 

Adjustments for:
Increase / (decrease) in trade payables (89.15) 129.14 
(Increase) in trade receivables (188.91) (337.37)
(Increase) / decrease in other assets (2,907.23) 187.62 
Increase /(decrease) in provisions and other 
liabilities 3,383.66 (1,163.45)

Net Changes in Working Capital 198.37 (1,184.06)
Cash Generated from Operations 1,679.26 405.74 
Direct Taxes paid (Net of Income Tax refund) (129.81) (181.78)
Net Cash flow from Operating Activities - (A) 1,549.45 223.95 

B Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets (including capital 
work-in-progress, intangible under development 
and capital advances)

(825.10) (552.61)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets - 143.17 

Government grant received - 95.85 
Repayment of Loans and advances by others - (11.05)
Purchase of mutual fund (152.49) (550.50)
Proceeds from sale of mutual fund 152.79 551.96 
Interest received 66.77 70.73 
Fixed deposits with bank (net) 117.65 (114.27)
Net cash (used in) Investing Activities - (B) (640.39) (366.72)
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Statement of cash flows (Continued)
as at March 31, 2021

Particulars March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 
C Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Dividend Paid (0.00) (65.28)
Dividend Distribution Tax Paid - (14.06)
Proceeds from exercise of ESOP 0.81 1.33 
Proceeds / Repayment of borrowings (net) (65.40) (139.30)
Interest paid (29.05) (43.51)
Net Cash (used in) Financing Activities - (C) (93.64) (260.82)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash & cash 
equivalents (A+B+C) 815.41 (403.58)

Cash & Cash equivalent at the beginning of the year 863.55 1,317.18 
Add : Cash & Cash equivalent acquired on 
acquisition of subsidiaries 95.18 - 

Less : Cash & Cash equivalent of Demerged 
undertakings/ subsidiaries pursuant to Scheme of 
Arrangement (Refer note 35)

- (50.05)

Cash & Cash equivalent at the end of the year 1,774.14 863.55 

The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in Indian Accounting Standard (IND AS) - 7 
‘’Statement of Cash Flows’’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

(` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of: (Note 5)
Cash and cash equivalents comprises of 
Balances with banks: 
- Current accounts 1,025.67 650.02 
- Balance with bank in Nodal Accounts 747.96 212.58 
Cash on hand 0.36 0.96 
Fixed deposit Having Maturity Less Than Three month 0.15 - 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,774.14 863.55 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
As per our report of even date
For Shah & Taparia For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Infibeam Avenues Limited 
ICAI Firm Registration No. 109463W (formerly known as Infibeam Incorporation Limited) 

CIN: L64203GJ2010PLC061366 

Ramesh Pipalawa Vishal Mehta Ajit Mehta 
Partner Managing Director Chairman 
Membership No.: 103840 DIN: 03093563 DIN: 01234707 

Gandhinagar Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021

Hiren Padhya Shyamal Trivedi
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

1.	 Corporate Information

	 Infibeam Avenues Limited (formerly known as 
Infibeam Incorporation Limited) (“the Company”) was 
incorporated on 30 June 2010 under the Companies 
Act, 1956. The Group [along with its subsidiaries and 
associate, collectively referred to as (the “Group”)] is 
primarily engaged in business software of development 
services, maintenance, web development, payment 
gateway services, e-commerce and other ancillary 
services.

	 The Company is a public company domiciled in India 
and is incorporated under the provisions of the 
Companies Act applicable in India. The Company’s 
shares are listed on the BSE Limited and National Stock 
Exchange of India Limited in India. The registered 
office of the Company is located at 28th Floor, GIFT 
Two Building, Block No. 56, Road-5C, Zone-5, GIFT CITY, 
Gandhinagar, Taluka & District - Gandhinagar – 382 
355.

	 The consolidated financial statements were authorised 
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors 
on May 27, 2021.

2.1	 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 
statements

	 These consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind 
AS) under the historical cost convention on an accrual 
basis except for certain financial instruments which 
are measured at fair values, the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act’) (to the extent notified) and 
guidelines issued by the Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (SEBI). The Ind AS are prescribed under Section 
133 of the Act read with Rule 3 of the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 
2016.

	 The Group has adopted all the Ind AS standards and 
the adoption was carried out in accordance with Ind 
AS 101 - First time adoption of Indian Accounting 
Standards. The transition was carried out from Indian 
Accounting Principles generally accepted in India as 
prescribed under Sec 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (IGAAP), which 
was the previous GAAP.

	 The financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for the following:

•	 Certain financial assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding 
financial instruments),

	 The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee 
(‘`’) which is also the Group’s functional currency and 
all values are rounded to the nearest millions, except 
when otherwise indicated.

2.2	 Basis of consolidation

	 The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial statements of the Company, its subsidiaries 
and associate as at 31 March 2021. 

	 Subsidiaries: Subsidiaries are entities controlled by 
the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in 
the consolidated financial statements from the date 
on which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases.

	 Equity accounted investees: The Group’s interests 
in equity accounted investees comprise interests in 
associate. An associate is an entity in which the Group 
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, 
over the financial and operating policies. Interests in 
associate are accounted for using the equity method. 
They are initially recognised at cost which includes 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s 
share of profit or loss and OCI of equity accounted 
investees until the date on which significant influence 
ceases.

	 Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed off during the year are included 
in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date the Group gains control until the date the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary. Consolidated financial 
statements are prepared using uniform accounting 
policies for like transactions and other events in 
similar circumstances. If a member of the group uses 
accounting policies other than those adopted in the 
consolidated financial statements for like transactions 
and events in similar circumstances, appropriate 
adjustments are made to that group member’s 
financial statements in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements to ensure conformity with the 
group’s accounting policies.

	 The financial statements of each of the subsidiaries 
and associate used for the purpose of consolidation 
are drawn up to same reporting date as that of the 
Company, i.e., year ended on 31 March. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

Consolidation procedure:

(a)	 Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, 
income, expenses and cash flows of the parent 
with those of its subsidiaries. For this purpose, 
income and expenses of the subsidiary are 
based on the amounts of the assets and 
liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements at the acquisition date. 

(b)	 Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the 
parent’s investment in each subsidiary and the 
parent’s portion of equity of each subsidiary. 
Business combinations policy explains how to 
account for any related goodwill.

(c)	 Eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, 
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating 
to transactions between entities of the group. 
Profit or loss and each component of other 

comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to 
the equity holders of the parent of the Group 
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this 
results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are 
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries 
to bring their accounting policies into line with 
the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group 
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on 
consolidation. When the Group loses control 
over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets 
and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related 
non-controlling interest and other components 
of equity. Any interest retained in the form of 
subsidiary is measured at fair value at the date 
the control is lost. Any resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

	 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company, and its subsidiaries and 
associate as disclosed below.

Name of the company Country of 
incorporation

% of shareholding

As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 March 2020
Subsidiaries:
Infibeam Digital Entertainment Private Limited India 74.00% 74.00%
Odigma Consultancy Solutions Private Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
Infibeam Logistics Private Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
Avenues Infinite Private Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
DRC Systems India Limited India - 51.00%
Vavian International Limited U.A.E 100.00% 100.00%
Avenues World FZ LLC U.A.E 100.00% 100.00%
AI Fintech Inc (From June 09, 2020) U.S.A. 100.00% -
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited (From May 06, 2020) India 52.38% -
Cardpay Technologies Private Limited (From June 05, 2020) India 52.38%  
So Hum Bharat Digital Payments Private Limited (From February 20, 
2021) India 50.50% -

Associate:
Avenues Payments India Private Limited India 22.69% 22.69%
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited India - 48.00%
NSI Infinium Global Limited India - 93.59%

Sine Qua Non Solutions Private Limited India - 93.59%

Infibeam Global EMEA FZ LLC U.A.E 49.00% 49.00%

Rich Relevants Limited U.A.E 49.00% 49.00%

DRC Systems India Limited India 29.69% -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

	 Business combinations (other than common 
control business combinations) on or after 1 April 
2015

	 As part of its transition to Ind AS, the Group has elected 
to apply the relevant Ind AS, viz. Ind AS 103, Business 
Combinations, to only those business combinations that 
occurred on or after the date of transition to Ind AS i.e. 
1 April 2015. In accordance with Ind AS 103, the Group 
accounts for these business combinations using the 
acquisition method when control is transferred to the 
Group. The consideration transferred for the business 
combination is generally measured at fair value as at 
the date the control is acquired (acquisition date), as 
are the net identifiable assets acquired. Any goodwill 
that arises is tested annually for impairment (see Note 
4.7). Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in 
OCI and accumulated in equity as capital reserve if 
there exists clear evidence of the underlying reasons 
for classifying the business combination as resulting in 
a bargain purchase; otherwise the gain is recognised 
directly in equity as capital reserve. Transaction costs 
are expensed as incurred, except to the extent related 
to the issue of debt or equity securities.

	 The consideration transferred does not include 
amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships with the acquiree. Such amounts are 
generally recognised in profit or loss.

	 Any contingent consideration is measured at fair 
value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay 
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a 
financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not 
remeasured subsequently and settlement is accounted 
for within equity.

	 Other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair 
value at each reporting date and changes in the fair 
value of the contingent consideration are recognised 
in profit or loss.

	 If a business combination is achieved in stages, any 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured at its acquisition date fair value and any 
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or 
OCI, as appropriate.

	 Business combinations prior to 1 April 2015

	 In respect of such business combinations, goodwill 
represents the amount recognised under the Group’s 
previous accounting framework under Previous GAAP 
adjusted for the reclassification of certain intangibles.

Common control business combinations

	 Business combinations arising from transfers of 
interests in entities that are under the control of the 

shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for 
as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of 
the earliest comparative period presented or, if later, 
at the date that common control was established; for 
this purpose, comparatives are revised. The assets 
and liabilities acquired are recognised at their carrying 
amounts. The identity of the reserves is preserved and 
they appear in the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group in the same form in which they appeared 
in the financial statements of the acquired entity. 
The difference, if any, between the consideration and 
the amount of share capital of the acquired entity is 
transferred to capital reserve.

3.	 Critical accounting estimates
	 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting 

policies, management has made the following 
judgements, which have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

3.1	 Estimate and assumption
	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other 

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are described 
below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates 
on parameters available when the consolidated financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments, however, 
may change due to market changes or circumstances 
arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such 
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they 
occur.

3.2	 Defined benefit plans
	 The cost of the defined benefit plans and the 

present value of the obligation are determined using 
actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves 
making various assumptions that may differ from 
actual developments in the future. These include 
the determination of the discount rate, future salary 
increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities 
involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a 
defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes 
in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at 
each reporting date. The parameter most subject to 
change is the discount rate. Discount rate has been 
determined by reference to market yields on the 
government bonds as at the balance sheet date. The 
mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality 
tables. Those mortality tables tend to change only at 
intervals in response to demographic changes. Future 
salary increases are based on expected future inflation 
rates for the country.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

	 Further details about defined benefit obligations are 
provided in Note 28.

3.3	 Share-based payments

	 The Group initially measures the cost of equity-
settled transactions with employees using a black 
schole model to determine the fair value of the 
liability incurred. Estimating fair value for share-based 
payment transactions requires determination of the 
most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent 
on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate 
also requires determination of the most appropriate 
inputs to the valuation model including the expected 
life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and 
making assumptions about them. For equity-settled 
share-based payment transactions, the liability needs 
to be measured at the time of grant.

	 The Group has also approved the grant of Employee 
Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) to the eligible 
employees of the Group. Each SAR shall confer the right 
to the eligible employee to receive appreciation (cash 
settled / equity settled) with respect to the underlying 
Equity Share on the entitled shares after it has been 
exercised in accordance with terms of the Scheme.

	 The assumptions and models used for estimating 
fair value for share-based payment transactions are 
disclosed in Note 32.

3.4	 Taxes

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax 
credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the losses can 
be utilised. Significant management judgement is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely 
timing and the level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies. 

3.5	 Intangible asset including intangible asset under 
development

	 Intangible development costs are capitalised as and 
when technical and commercial feasibility of the 
asset is demonstrated, future economic benefits are 
probable. The costs which can be capitalized include 
the salary and ESOP cost of employees that are directly 
attributable to development of the asset for its intended 
use. Research and maintenance costs are expensed as 
incurred. Intangible assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
Refer Note 4.5 for the estimated useful life of Intangible 
assets. The carrying value of Intangible assets has been 
disclosed in Note 6.

3.6	 Property, plant and equipment

	 Refer Note 4.4 for the estimated useful life of Property, 
plant and equipment. The carrying value of Property, 
plant and equipment has been disclosed in Note 5.

3.7	 Revenue recognition 

	 Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control of 
promised services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration which the Group expects to 
receive in exchange for those services.

3.8	 Investments

	 Investment in associate is carried at cost in the 
consolidated financial statements.

3.9	 Estimation of uncertainties relating to the global 
health pandemic from COVID-19

	 In assessing the recoverability of assets including trade 
receivables, unbilled receivables and investments, 
the Company has considered internal and external 
information upto the date of approval of these financial 
statements including credit reports and economic 
forecasts. The Company has performed sensitivity 
analysis on the assumptions used and based on 
current indicators of future economic conditions, the 
Company expects to recover the carrying amount of 
these assets. The eventual outcome of impact of the 
global health pandemic may be different from those 
estimated on the date of approval of these financial 
statements.

4.	 Summary of Significant accounting policies

	 The following are the significant accounting policies 
applied by the Group in preparing Consolidated 
financial statement:

4.1	 Current versus non-current classification

	 The Group presents assets and liabilities in the Balance 
Sheet based on current/non-current classification.

An asset is treated as current when it is:

	 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or 
consumed in the normal operating cycle;

	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

	 Expected to be realised within twelve months 
after the reporting period; or

	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from 
being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
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A liability is current when:

	 It is expected to be settled in the normal operating 
cycle;

	 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after 
the reporting period; or

	 There is no unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-
current assets and liabilities.

	 The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition 
of assets for processing and their realisation in cash 
and cash equivalents. The Group has identified twelve 
months as its operating cycle.

4.2	 Business combinations and goodwill

	 Business combinations are accounted for using the 
acquisition method prescribed under accounting 
standard. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured 
at acquisition date fair value. 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

	 At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised 
at their acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, 
the liabilities assumed include contingent liabilities 
representing present obligation and they are 
measured at their acquisition fair values irrespective of 
the fact that outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is not probable. However, the following assets 
and liabilities acquired in a business combination are 
measured at the basis indicated below:

	 Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and the assets or 
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements 
are recognised and measured in accordance with Ind 
AS 12 Income Tax and Ind AS 19 Employee Benefits 
respectively. 

	 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the 
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with 
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This 
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in 
host contracts by the acquiree.

	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, any 
previously held equity interest is re-measured at its 

acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss.

	 Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess 
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and 
any previous interest held, over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

	 A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been 
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit 
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the 
cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, 
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit 
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based 
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any 
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or 
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 
reversed in subsequent periods. 

	 Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit and part of the operation within that 
unit is disposed off, the goodwill associated with the 
disposed operation is included in the carrying amount 
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is 
measured based on the relative values of the disposed 
operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit 
retained. 

	 If the initial accounting for a business combination is 
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional 
amounts for the items for which the accounting is 
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted 
through goodwill during the measurement period, 
or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to 
reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, 
if known, would have affected the amounts recognized 
at that date. These adjustments are called as 
measurement period adjustments. The measurement 
period does not exceed one year from the acquisition 
date.

4.3	 Foreign currencies

	 The Group’s financial statements are presented in 
Indian rupees. The functional currency of Infibeam 
Avenues Limited (formerly known as Infibeam 
Incorporation Limited), Odigma Consultancy Solutions 
Private Limited, Infibeam Logistic Private Limited, DRC 
Systems India Limited (formerly known as DRC Systems 
India Private Limited), Infibeam Digital Entertainment 
Private Limited and Avenues Infinite Private Limited is 
the Indian Rupee. The functional currency of Vavian 
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International Limited and Avenues World FZ LLC is UAE 
Dirham. 

Transactions and balances

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded 
by the Group at the functional currency spot rate at the 
date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.

	 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the functional currency 
spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Exchange 
differences arising on settlement or translation of 
monetary items are recognised in statement of profit 
or loss. 

	 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial 
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair 
value in foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is 
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of 
non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated 
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on 
the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation 
differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is 
recognised in OCI or statement of profit or loss are also 
recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

	 The translations of financial statements of the foreign 
subsidiaries to the presentation currency is performed 
for assets and liabilities using exchange rate in the 
effect at the balance sheet and for revenue, expense 
and cash-flow items using average exchange rate for 
respective periods. The gains or losses resulting from 
such translations are included in currency translation 
reserve under other component of equity. When a 
subsidiary is disposed of, in full, the relevant amount 
is transferred to net profit in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss. However, when a change in the parent’s 
ownership does not result in loss of control of a 
subsidiary, such changes are recorded through equity.

4.3	 Fair value measurement

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell 
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

	 In the principal market for the asset or liability

Or

	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability.

	 The principal or the most advantageous market must 
be accessible by the Group.

	 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured 
using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming  
that market participants act in their economic best 
interest.

	 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes 
into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

	 The Group uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, 
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as 
described below, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

	 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

	 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable.

	 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable.

	 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred 
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at 
the end of each reporting period.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has 
determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis 
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset 
or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as 
explained above.

	 This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. 
Other fair value related disclosures are given in the 
relevant notes.

	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions
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	 Quantitative disclosures of fair value 
measurement hierarchy

	 Financial instruments (including those carried at 
amortised cost)

4.4	 Property, plant and equipment

	 The Group has elected to continue with the carrying 
value for all of its property, plant and equipment’s 
assets as recognised in its previous GAAP financial as 
deemed cost at the transition date, i.e., 1 April 2015.

	 Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, 
net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost 
of replacing part of the plant and equipment and 
borrowing costs for long-term construction projects 
if the recognition criteria are met. When significant 
parts of Property, plant and equipment are required 
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises 
such parts as individual assets with specific useful 
lives and depreciates them accordingly. All repair and 
maintenance costs are recognised in statement of 
profit or loss as incurred. 

	 Capital work-in-progress comprises cost of fixed assets 
that are not yet installed and ready for their intended 
use at the balance sheet date.

	 An item of property, plant and equipment and any 
significant part initially recognised is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or 
loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss when the asset is 
derecognised.

	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation is calculated on written down value based 
on useful lives as prescribed under Part C of Schedule 
II to the Companies Act 2013, which represents the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. Assets individually 
costing less than ` 5,000 are fully written off in the year 
of acquisition. Depreciation is calculated on a written 
down value basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows: 

	 Building – 60 years 
	 Leasehold Improvements - 10 years 
	 Plant and equipment - 5 to 10 years
	 Furniture & Fixtures - 10 years
	 Vehicles - 8 years
	 Computer & Peripherals - 3 to 6 years

	 The Group, depreciates certain items of building, plant 
and equipment over useful lives as prescribed under 
Part C of Schedule II to the Companies Act 2013, which 
represents the estimated useful lives of the assets. The 
management believes that these estimated useful lives 
are realistic and reflect fair approximation of the period 
over which the assets are likely to be used.

	 The residual values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

4.5	 Intangible Assets

	 The Group has elected to continue with the carrying 
value for all of its intangible assets as recognised 
in its previous GAAP financial as deemed cost at the 
transition date, i.e., 1 April 2015.

	 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured 
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is their 
fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost include acquisition and other 
incidental cost related to acquiring the intangible asset.

	 Research costs are expensed as incurred. Intangible 
development costs are capitalised as and when 
technical and commercial feasibility of the asset is 
demonstrated, future economic benefits are probable. 
The costs which can be capitalized include the salary and 
ESOP cost of employees that are directly attributable to 
development of the asset for its intended use. 

	 The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as 
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite 
lives are amortised over the useful economic life 
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset are considered to modify the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and 
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 
amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
lives is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

	 Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an 
intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset and are recognised in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Amortisation

	 Period of Amortisation of Intangibles is calculated as 
follows:

	 Computer software acquired on Amalgamation – 
6 years

	 Computer software acquired – 10 years (w.e.f. 
April 01, 2020)

	 Trademark acquired on Amalgamation - 25 years 
(w.e.f. April 01, 2020)

	 IT Platform acquired on Amalgamation - 5 years 
(w.e.f. April 01, 2020)

	 Customer Relationship acquired on Amalgamation 
- 25 years (w.e.f. April 01, 2020)

	 Internally generated Computer Software - 5 years 
(w.e.f. April 01, 2020)

Intangible assets under development

	 Expenditure incurred on acquisition /construction 
of intangible assets which are not ready for their 
intended use at balance sheet date are disclosed 
under Intangible assets under development. During 
the period of development, the asset is tested for 
impairment annually.

4.6	 Leases

Group as a lessee

	 The Group’s lease asset classes primarily comprise 
of lease for building. The Group assesses whether a 
contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether: (i) 
the contract involves the use of an identified asset (ii) 
the Group has substantially all of the economic benefits 
from use of the asset through the period of the lease 
and (iii) the Group has the right to direct the use of 
the asset. The Group applies a single recognition and 
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. For these 
short-term and low value leases, the Group recognizes 
the lease payments as an operating expense on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The Group 
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the 
underlying assets as below:

i)	 Right-of-use assets 

	 The Group recognises right-of-use assets at 
the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the 

date the underlying asset is available for use). 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement 
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use 
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentives received. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the shorter of the lease term and the 
estimated useful lives of the underlying assets 
(i.e. 30 and 60 years) If ownership of the leased 
asset transfers to the Group at the end of the 
lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a 
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using 
the estimated useful life of the asset. The right-of-
use assets are also subject to impairment. 

ii) 	 Lease Liabilities 

	 At the commencement date of the lease, the 
Group recognises lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in substance fixed 
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index 
or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees. The lease payments 
also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the 
Group and payments of penalties for terminating 
the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 
exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a 
rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are 
incurred to produce inventories) in the period 
in which the event or condition that triggers the 
payment occurs.

	 In calculating the present value of lease payments, 
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date because the 
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the 
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the 
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there 
is a modification, a change in the lease term, a 
change in the lease payments (e.g., changes 
to future payments resulting from a change in 
an index or rate used to determine such lease 
payments) or a change in the assessment of an 
option to purchase the underlying asset. The 
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Group’s lease liabilities are included in other 
current and non-current financial liabilities.

(iii)	 Short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets 

	 The Group applies the short-term lease 
recognition exemption to its short-term leases 
(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 
months or less from the commencement date 
and do not contain a purchase option). It also 
applies the lease of low-value assets recognition 
exemption to leases that are considered to be 
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. “Lease liability” and “Right of Use” asset 
have been separately presented in the Balance 
Sheet and lease payments have been classified 
as financing cash flows.
Group as a lessor

	 Leases in which the Group does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of an asset are classified as operating 
leases. Rental income from operating lease is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease.

4.7	 Government Grants
	 Government grants are recognised at their fair value 

where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Company will comply with all 
attached conditions.

	 Government grants relating to expense item is 
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the 
period that the related costs, for which it is intended to 
compensate, are expensed.

	 Government grants related to assets (i.e. those whose 
primary condition is that an entity qualifying for them 
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire long-
term assets), including non-monetary grants at fair 
value, are presented in the balance sheet by deducting 
the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the 
asset, in which case the grant is recognised in profit or 
loss as a reduction of depreciation expense.

4.8	 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations

	 Non-current assets and Disposal Group are classified 
as held for sale if their carrying amount is intended 
to be recovered principally through sale rather than 
through continuing use. The condition for classification 
of held for sale is met when the non-current asset or 
the Disposal Group is available for immediate sale 

and the same is highly probable of being completed 
within one year from the date of classification as held 
for sale. Non-current assets and Disposal Group held 
for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less cost to sell. Non-current assets and 
Disposal Group that ceases to be classified as held for 
sale shall be measured at the lower of carrying amount 
before the non-current asset and Disposal Group was 
classified as held for sale adjusted for any depreciation/ 
amortization and its recoverable amount at the date 
when the Disposal Group no longer meets the “Held 
for sale” criteria.

	 A discontinued operation is a component of the 
undertaking and entity that has been disposed off or is 
classified as held for sale and 
	 represents a separate line of business or 

graphical area of operations and;
	 is a part of a single coordinated plan to dispose 

off such a line of business or area of operations.
	 The results of discontinued operations are presented 

separately in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and 
Loss.

4.9	 Impairment of non-financial assets
	 Non-financial assets are evaluated for recoverability 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable 
amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell 
and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual 
asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash 
flows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets. In such cases, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash generated unit (CGU) to which 
the asset belongs.

	 If such assets are considered to be impaired, the 
impairment to be recognized in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss is measured by the amount by which 
the carrying value of the assets exceeds the estimated 
recoverable amount of the asset. An impairment loss 
is reversed in the statement of profit and loss if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. The carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, 
provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of any 
accumulated amortization or depreciation) had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior 
years. 

	 Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired.
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	 Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the 
recoverable amount of each CGU to which the goodwill 
relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is 
less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill 
cannot be reversed in future periods. 

	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
tested for impairment annually at the CGU level, as 
appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired.

4.10	 Borrowing cost

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its 
intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost 
of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the period in which they occur.

4.11	 Revenue Recognition

Sale of products

	 Revenue from sale of products is recognised when 
the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 
to customers, which generally coincides with delivery 
to the customers. Revenue from the sale of goods 
is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of returns and allowances, 
trade discounts and volume rebates.

Rendering of services

	 Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control of 
promised services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration which the Group expects to 
receive in exchange for those services.

	 Revenue from payment gateway services is recognised 
on settlement of transactions measured by value of 
transactions processed as per the rates and terms 
agreed between parties.

	 Revenue from Web Services is recognised upfront 
at the point in time when the service is delivered to 
the customer. In cases where implementation and 
/ or customisation services rendered significantly 
modifies or customises, these service is recognised 
proportionally over the period.

	 Registry Services revenues primarily arise from fixed 
fees charged to registrars for the initial registration 
or renewal of .ooo domain names. Revenues from the 
initial registration or renewal of domain names are 
deferred and recognized rateably over the registration 
term, generally one year and up to ten years. Fees 
for renewals and advance extensions to the existing 

term are deferred until the new incremental period 
commences. These fees are then recognized rateably 
over the renewal term.

	 Revenue is measured based on the consideration 
specified in a contract with the customer and excludes 
amounts collected on behalf of customers. The Group 
presents revenue net of discounts and collection 
charges. Revenue also excludes taxes collected from 
customers.

	 Contract assets are recognised when there is excess 
of revenue earned over billings on contracts. Contract 
assets are classified as unbilled revenue (only act of 
invoicing is pending) when there is unconditional right 
to receive cash, and only passage of time is required, as 
per contractual terms. 

	 Excess billing over revenue (“contract liability”) is 
recognised when there is billing in excess of revenues.

	 In accordance with Ind AS 37, the Group recognises an 
onerous contract provision when the unavoidable costs 
of meeting the obligations under a contract exceed the 
economic benefits to be received.

	 Contracts are subject to modification to account for 
changes in contract specification and requirements. The 
Group reviews modification to contract in conjunction 
with the original contract, basis which the transaction 
price could be allocated to a new performance 
obligation, or transaction price of an existing obligation 
could undergo a change. In the event transaction 
price is revised for existing obligation, a cumulative 
adjustment is accounted for.

	 The Group disaggregates revenue from contracts with 
customers by offering and geography.

	 The Group exercises judgement in determining 
whether the performance obligation is satisfied at 
a point in time or over a period of time. The Group 
considers indicators such as how customer consumes 
benefits as services are rendered or who controls the 
asset as it is being created or existence of enforceable 
right to payment for performance to date as per 
contract.

Interest income

	 For all financial instruments measured at amortised 
cost, interest income is recorded using the effective 
interest rate (EIR). The EIR is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the 
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost 
of a financial liability. When calculating the effective 
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interest rate, the Group estimates the expected cash 
flows by considering all the contractual terms of 
the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, 
extension, call and similar options) but does not 
consider the expected credit losses. Interest income is 
included in other income in the statement of profit or 
loss.

Rental income

	 Rental income arising from operating leases is 
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
terms and is included in other income in the statement 
of profit or loss due to its nature.

Export incentives

	 Export incentives are accounted on accrual basis based 
on services rendered.

4.12	 Financial instruments – initial recognition and 
subsequent measurement

	 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity.

a)	 Financial assets

(i)	 Initial recognition and measurement.

	 All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 
plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

(ii)	 Subsequent measurement

	 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
assets are classified in four categories:

	 Debt instruments at amortised cost

	 Debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

	 Debt instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL)

	 Equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

	 Equity instruments measured at fair value 
through statement of profit and loss (FVTPL)

	 Debt instruments at amortised cost: 

	 A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if 
both the following conditions are met:

-	 the asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and

-	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding.

	 After initial measurement, such financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included 
in other income in the statement of profit and loss. The 
losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss. This category generally 
applies to trade and other receivables.

	 Debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

	 A debt instrument is measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income if both of 
the following criteria are met:

-	 the objective of the business model is achieved 
both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets, and

-	 the asset’s contractual cash flows represent SPPI.

	 Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category 
are measured initially as well as at each reporting date 
at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized 
in the other comprehensive income (OCI). However, 
interest income, impairment losses & reversals and 
foreign exchange gain or loss are recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss. On de-recognition of the 
asset, cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
OCI is reclassified from the equity to statement of profit 
and loss. Interest earned whilst holding FVTOCI debt 
instrument is reported as interest income using the EIR 
method. 

	 Debt instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL)

	 FVTPL is a residual category for debt instruments. 
Any debt instrument, which does not meet the 
criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or 
as FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL.

	 In addition, the Group may elect to designate 
a debt instrument, which otherwise meets 
amortized cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income criteria, as at fair value 
through profit or loss. However, such election 
is allowed only if doing so reduces or eliminates 
a measurement or recognition inconsistency 
(referred to as ‘accounting mismatch’). The Group 
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has not designated any debt instrument as at 
FVTPL.

	 Debt instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognised in the Statement of profit 
and loss.

	 Equity instruments:

	 All equity investments in scope of Ind-AS 109 are 
measured at fair value. Equity instruments which 
are held for trading are classified as at FVTPL. 
For all other equity instruments, the Group may 
make an irrevocable election to present in other 
comprehensive income subsequent changes in 
the fair value. The Group makes such election 
on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is 
irrevocable.

	 If the Group decides to classify an equity 
instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value 
changes on the instrument, excluding dividends, 
are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling 
of the amounts from OCI to P&L, even on sale of 
investment. However, the Group may transfer the 
cumulative gain or loss within equity.

	 Equity instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in the statement of profit 
and loss.

	 Investment in associates: 

	 Investment in associates is carried at cost in the 
consolidated financial statements.

(iii)	 De-recognition of financial assets

	 A financial asset (or where applicable a part of a 
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from 
the consolidated balance sheet) when:

	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired, or

	 The Group has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the 
Group has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

	 When the Group has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent 
it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When 
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise 
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group 
has retained.

	 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset 
and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Group could be required to repay.

(iv)	 Impairment of financial assets

	 The Group recognizes loss allowances using the 
expected credit loss (ECL) model for the financial assets 
which are not fair valued through profit or loss. Loss 
allowance for trade receivables with no significant 
financing component is measured at an amount equal 
to lifetime ECL. For all other financial assets, expected 
credit losses are measured at an amount equal to the 
12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk from initial recognition in which 
case those are measured at lifetime ECL. The amount 
of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required 
to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the 
amount that is required to be recognised is recognized 
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.

b)	 Financial Liabilities

(i)	 Initial recognition and measurement

	 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, 
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings, payables, as appropriate.

	 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

	 The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other 
payables, loans and borrowings.

(ii)	 Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

	 The measurement of financial liabilities depends on 
their classification, as described below:

	 Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss
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	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are 
classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the 
purpose of repurchasing in the near term.

	 Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognised in the profit or loss.

	 Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at 
fair value through profit or loss are designated as such 
at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria 
in Ind-AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated as 
FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes 
in own credit risks are recognized in OCI. These 
gains/ loss are not subsequently transferred to P&L. 
However, the Group may transfer the cumulative gain 
or loss within equity. All other changes in fair value of 
such liability are recognised in the statement of profit 
and loss. The Group has not designated any financial 
liability as at fair value through profit and loss.

	 Loans and Borrowings

	 After initial recognition, interest-bearing 
borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
EIR amortisation process. 

	 Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance 
costs in the statement of profit and loss.

This category generally applies to borrowings.

(iii)	 De-recognition of financial liabilities

	 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

	 When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated 
as the de-recognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss.

c)	 Offsetting of financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and 
the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 

the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously.

4.13	 Inventories

	 Inventories comprise stock-in-trade, are valued at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes 
cost of purchase and other costs (net of refundable 
taxes and levies) incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition. In determining 
the cost, specific identification method is used. 

	 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

	 The comparison of cost and net realisable value is 
made on an item-by-item basis.

4.14	 Cash and cash equivalent

	 Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise 
cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less, which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

	 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term 
deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of 
the Group’s cash management.

4.15	 Treasury shares

	 The Group has created an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) 
for providing share-based payment to its employees. 
The Group uses EBT as a vehicle for distributing shares 
to employees under the employee remuneration 
schemes. The EBT buys shares of the company from 
the market, for giving appreciation (cash settled /
equity settled) to employees. The Group treats EBT as 
its extension and shares held by EBT are treated as 
treasury shares. 

	 Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury 
shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on 
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s 
own equity instruments. 

4.16	 Taxes

	 Tax expense comprises of current income tax and 
deferred tax.

Current income tax

	 Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
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paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

	 Current income tax relating to items recognised 
outside Statement of profit and loss is recognised 
outside Statement of profit and loss (either in other 
comprehensive income or equity). Current tax items 
are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulations are 
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate.

Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes at the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except:

	 When the deferred tax liability arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss;

	 In respect of taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
interests in joint arrangements, when the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary differences 
can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax 
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except:

	 When the deferred tax asset relating to the 
deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

	 In respect of deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associate and interests in joint arrangements, 
deferred tax assets are recognised  
only to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences 
can be utilised.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based 
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside 
Statement of profit and loss is recognised outside 
Statement of profit and loss. Deferred tax items are 
recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction 
either in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity.

	 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset 
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

	 The Group does not recognize tax credits in the nature 
of MAT credit as an asset since there is no convincing 
evidence that the Group will pay normal income tax 
during the specified period, i.e., the period for which 
tax credit is allowed to be carried forward. In the future 
year in which the Group recognizes tax credits as an 
asset, the said asset will be created by way of tax credit 
to the Statement of profit and loss.

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT)

	 Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) is in the nature of unused 
tax credit which can be carried forward and utilised 
when the Group will pay normal income tax during the 
specified period. Deferred tax assets on such tax credit 
is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
unused tax credit can be utilised in the specified future 
period.
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	 Acquired deferred tax benefits recognised within 
the measurement period reduce goodwill related to 
that acquisition if they result from new information 
obtained about facts and circumstances existing at the 
acquisition date. All other acquired tax benefits realised 
are recognised in profit or loss.

4.17	 Retirement and other employee benefits
a)	 Short Term Employee Benefits
	 All employee benefits payable within twelve months 

of rendering the service are classified as short term 
employee benefits. The undiscounted amount of 
short term employee benefits expected to be paid in 
exchange for the services rendered by employees is 
recognised during the year. 

b)	 Post-Employment Benefits
(i)	 Defined benefit plan
	 Gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit plan. The 

present value of the obligation under such defined 
benefit plans is determined based on the actuarial 
valuation using the Projected Unit Credit Method as 
at the date of the Balance sheet reduced by the fair 
value of any plan assets. The discount rate used for 
determining the present value of the obligation under 
defined benefit plan, are based on the market yields on 
Government securities as at the balance sheet date. 

	 Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains 
and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding 
amounts included in net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability and the return on plan assets (excluding 
amounts included in net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the 
Balance Sheet with a corresponding debit or credit to 
retained earnings through OCI in the period in which 
they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to 
Statement of Profit and Loss in subsequent periods.

	 Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on 
the earlier of:
	 The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, 

and
	 The date that the Group recognises related 

restructuring costs 
	 Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate 

to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group 
recognises the following changes in the net defined 
benefit obligation as an expense in the Statement of 
profit and loss:
	 Service costs comprising current service 

costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements; and 

	 Net interest expense or income

	 The Group has not invested in any fund for meeting 
liability.

4.18	 Share-based payments

	 Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the 
form of share-based payments, whereby employees 
render services as consideration for equity instruments 
(equity-settled transactions).

	 Equity-settled transactions

	 The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined 
by the fair value at the date when the grant is made in 
accordance with SEBI regulation and Ind As 102: Share 
based payment.

	 That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding 
increase in share-based payment (SBP) reserves in 
equity, over the period in which the performance and/
or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefits 
expense. The cumulative expense recognised for 
equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until 
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting 
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of 
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately 
vest. The statement of profit and loss expense or credit 
for a period represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of 
that period and is recognised in employee benefits 
expense. No expense is recognised for awards that do 
not ultimately vest because non-market performance 
and/or service conditions have not been met. 

	 The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share.

Employee Stock Appreciation Rights (SAR)

	 The Group has formed ‘Infibeam Employee Welfare 
Trust’ (IEW trust) for implementation of the schemes 
that are notified or may be notified from time to 
time by the Group under the plan, providing share 
based payment to its employees. IEW trust purchases 
holding Company’s shares out of funds provided by 
the Group. Accordingly, the Group has approved the 
grant of Employee Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) to 
the eligible employees of the Group. Each SAR shall 
confer the right to the eligible employee to receive 
appreciation (cash settled / equity settled) with respect 
to the underlying Equity Share on the entitled shares 
after it has been exercised in accordance with terms of 
the Scheme.

	 The Group follows the intrinsic value method to 
account for its Employee Stock Appreciation Rights 
(SARs). Compensation cost is measured by the excess, 
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if any, of the market price of the underlying stock over 
the exercise price as determined under the option 
plan. The market price is the closing price on the stock 
exchange where there is highest trading volume on 
the working day immediately preceding the date of 
grant. Compensation cost, if any, is amortised over the 
vesting period.

4.19	 Earnings per share

	 Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit 
or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders 
for the period by the weighted average number of 
equity shares outstanding during the year.

	 Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the 
profit or loss attributable to equity shareholders for 
the period by the weighted average number of equity 
shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted 
average number of equity shares that would be issued 
on conversion of all the dilutive potential equity shares 
into equity shares. The dilutive potential equity shares 
are adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the equity 
shares been actually issued at fair value (i.e. the average 
market value of the outstanding equity shares). Dilutive 
potential equity shares are deemed converted as of 
the beginning of the period, unless issued at a later 
date. Dilutive potential equity shares are determined 
independently for each period presented.

4.20	  Segment reporting

	 Based on “Management Approach” as defined in Ind 
AS 108 -Operating Segments, the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker evaluates the Group’s performance 
and allocates the resources based on an analysis of 
various performance indicators by business segments. 
Un allocable items includes general corporate income 
and expense items which are not allocated to any 
business segment.

	 Segment policies:

	 The Group prepares its segment information in 
conformity with the accounting policies adopted for 
preparing and presenting the financial statements of 
the Group as a whole. Common allocable costs are 
allocated to each segment on an appropriate basis.

4.21	 Dividend distribution

	 The Group recognises a liability to make cash 
distributions to equity holders of the Group when 
the distribution is authorised and the distribution is 
no longer at the discretion of the Group. As per the 
Companies Act, 2013, a distribution is authorised when 
it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding 
amount is recognised directly in equity.

4.22	 Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. When the Group 
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, 
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, 
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the 
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

	 If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost.

Contingencies

	 Provision in respect of contingencies relating to 
claims, litigation, assessment, fines, penalties etc. are 
recognised when it is probable that a liability has been 
incurred and the amount can be estimated reliably. 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets:

	 A contingent liability exists when there is a possible 
but not probable obligation, or a present obligation 
that may, but probably will not, require an outflow 
of resources, or a present obligation whose amount 
cannot be estimated reliably. Contingent liabilities 
do not warrant provisions, but are disclosed unless 
the possibility of outflow of resources is remote. 
Contingent assets are neither recognised nor disclosed 
in the consolidated financial statements. However, 
contingent assets are assessed continually and if it is 
virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will 
arise, the asset and related income are recognised in 
the period in which the change occurs.

4.23	 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

	 New and amended standards

	 Amendments to Ind AS 116: Covid-19- Related 
Rent Concessions

	 The amendments provide relief to lessees from 
applying Ind AS 116 guidance on lease modification 
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct 
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical 
expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether 
a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a 
lease modification. A lessee that makes this election 
accounts for any change in lease payments resulting 
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from the Covid-19 related rent concession the same 
way it would account for the change under Ind AS 
116, if the change were not a lease modification. This 
amendment had no impact on the standalone financial 
statements of the Company.

	 Amendments to Ind AS 1 and Ind AS 8: Definition 
of Material

	 The amendments provide a new definition of material 
that states, “information is material if omitting, 
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions that the primary 
users of general purpose financial statements make 
on the basis of those financial statements, which 
provide financial information about a specific reporting 
entity.” The amendments clarify that materiality will 
depend on the nature or magnitude of information, 
either individually or in combination with other 
information, in the context of the financial statements. 
A misstatement of information is material if it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by 
the primary users. These amendments had no impact 
on the standalone financial statements of, nor is there 
expected to be any future impact to the Company.

	 Amendments to Ind AS 107 and Ind AS 109: Interest 
Rate Benchmark Reform

	 The amendments to Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement provide a number of 
reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are 
directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. 
A hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives 
rise to uncertainty about the timing and/ or amount 
of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or 
the hedging instrument. These amendments have no 
impact on the standalone financial statements of the 
Company as it does not have any interest rate hedge 
relationships.

	 The amendments to Ind AS 107 prescribe the 
disclosures which entities are required to make for 
hedging relationships to which the reliefs as per 
the amendments in Ind AS 109 are applied. This 
amendment had no impact on the standalone financial 
statements of the Company.

4.24	 Standards issued but not yet effective

	 There are no standards that are issued but not yet 
effective on March 31, 2021.
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7. Financial assets
7 Investments	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

NON-CURRENT INVESTMENT 
(A)	 INVESTMENT IN EQUITY INSTRUMENT IN ASSOCIATES STATED AT COST 
a.	 Investment in Associates (Unquoted) 

Avenues Payments India Private Limited 
34,791 ( 31 March 2020 : 34,791) equity shares 214.03 214.03 
Less: Share of profit / (loss) (45.84) (19.69)
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 
Nil (31 March, 2020: 14,400) equity shares - 60.00 
Less: Share of profit / (loss) - (22.48)
Infibeam Global EMEA FZ - LLC 
36,016 ( 31 March 2020 : 36,016) equity shares 675.86 675.86 
Less: Share of profit / (loss) 2,392.20 2,277.01 
Richrelevant Limited - - 
Less: Share of profit / (loss) 90.87 90.46 

3,327.12 3,275.18 
b.	 Investment in Associates (Quoted) 

DRC Systems India Limited 
11,47,500 ( 31 March 2020 : Nil) equity shares 30.60 - 
Less: Share of profit / (loss) (1.21) - 

29.39 - 
c.	 Investment in others (Unquoted) 

NSI Infinium Global Limited 
1830 (March 31, 2020 : Nil) equity shares 605.16 - 
Less: Share of profit / (loss) (38.29) - 
Less : Provision for Diminution in value of Investment (526.12) - 
JRI Technology Private Limited (Investment) 
220,625 ( 31 March 2020 : 220,625) equity shares 15.79 15.79 
Tradohub B2B Limited 
355,320 ( 31 March 2020 : 355,320) equity shares 600.00 600.00 

656.54 615.79 
d.	 Investment in others (Quoted) 

Suvidhaa Infoserve Limited 
1,00,85,953 (March 31, 2020: Nil) equity shares 523.86 - 

523.86 - 
(B)	 INVESTMENT IN PREFERENCE INSTRUMENT STATED AT COST 

Investment in Associates (Unquoted) 
Avenues Payments India Private Limited 30.00 30.00 
4,876 (31 March 2020 : 4,876) preference shares 

30.00 30.00 
Total Non - Current Investments 4,566.91 3,920.97 
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Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

(C)	 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 
Investment in associate held for sale (unquoted) carried at cost
NSI lnfinium Global Limited 
1830 (March 31, 2020 : 1830) equity shares - 605.16 
Less: Share of profit / (loss) - (38.29)

- 566.87 
Total Investments 4,566.91 4,487.84 
Total non-current investment 4,566.91 3,920.97 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 4,539.78 4,487.84 
Impairment of investment (526.12) - 
Carrying value of unquoted investments 4,013.66 4,487.84 
Aggregate amount of quoted investments 553.26 - 
Impairment of investment - 
Carrying value of quoted investments 553.26 - 
Market Value of quoted investments 
Suvidhaa Infoserve Limited 
1,00,85,953 (March 31, 2020: Nil) equity shares (market value ` 104.8 per share) 1,057.01 - 
DRC Systems India Limited 
11,47,500 (March 31, 2020: Nil) equity shares (market value ` 292.65 per share) 335.82 - 
Market Value of quoted investments 1,392.82 - 

7 Loans	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Current 
Unsecured considered good 
Loans to related parties 10.02 0.01 
Loans to employees - 10.29 
Loan to others * 5.58 6.30 

15.60 16.60 
Total Loans 15.60 16.60 

*The above loans are unsecured, repayable on demand, interest free and the same has been given for the purpose of business operations. 
(Refer note 29)

(` in Million)
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7 Other financial assets	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Non-current 
Unsecured, considered good 
Security deposits* 8.39 5.60 
Bank deposits with original maturity of more than 12 months (including accrued interest) # 76.18 466.16 

84.57 471.76 
Current 
Unsecured, considered good 
Security deposits 7.79 8.73 
Unbilled revenue 763.89 526.65 
Advance to employees (refer note 29) 11.46 1.03 
Other assets 142.33 - 
Bank deposits maturing within 12 months from reporting date (including accrued interest)# 740.20 202.43 
Interest accrued but not due on bank deposits 3.93 4.06 
Unsecured, considered doubtful 
Security deposits 1.35 1.35 
Less: Allowances for doubtful security deposits (1.35) (1.35)

1,669.60 742.90 
Total other financial assets 1,754.17 1,214.66 

* Pertains to deposit given to director of the Company (refer note 27) 

# Fixed deposits of ` 645.34 million (March 31, 2020: ` 562.12 million) are under lien against credit facilities from banks.

7 Trade receivables	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Trade receivables 
Unsecured, considered good 729.09 533.50 
Unsecured, considered doubtful 75.30 54.04 

804.39 587.54 
Less: Allowances for doubtful debts (75.30) (54.04)
Total Trade and other receivables 729.09 533.50 

(i) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 180 days 

(ii) For amount dues and terms and conditions relating to Related Party Transactions, refer note 27 

(iii) For explanation on Company’s credit risk management process, refer note 33
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7 Cash and cash equivalent	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Balance with Bank 
Current accounts 1,025.67 650.02 
Balance with bank in nodal accounts 747.96 212.58 
Cash on hand 0.36 0.96 
Fixed deposit having maturity less than three months 0.15 - 

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,774.14 863.55 

7 Other bank balance	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at March 31,2021 As at March 31, 
2020

Deposits with original maturity of more than three months but less than 12 months (refer 
notes below) 7.17 124.82 

Earmarked balances for unclaimed dividend 0.30 0.30 
Total other bank balances 7.47 125.13 
(i) Fixed deposit of ` 7.17 million (March 31, 2020: ` 10.53 million) are under lien against 
credit facilities from banks. 
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,781.62 988.67 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Balance with Bank 
Current accounts 1,025.67 650.02 
Balance with bank in nodal accounts 747.96 212.58 
Cash on hand 0.36 0.96 
Fixed deposit having maturity less than three month 0.15 - 

1,774.14 863.55 
1,774.14 863.55 

7 Financial assets by category	 (` in Million)

Particulars Cost FVOCI FVTPL Amortized cost 
March 31, 2021 
Investment 
- Equity shares 3,880.38 656.54 
- Preference shares 30.00 
Trade receivables 729.09 
Loans 15.60 
Cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances 1,781.62 
other financial assets 1,754.17 
Total Financial assets 3,910.38 656.54 - 4,280.47 
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Particulars Cost FVOCI FVTPL Amortized cost 
March 31, 2020 
Investment - - 
- Equity shares 3,759.30 615.79 82.76 - 
- Preference shares 30.00 - - 
Trade receivables - 533.50 
Loans - 16.60 
Cash and cash equivalents and other bank balances - 988.67 
other financial assets - 1,214.66 
Total Financial assets 3,789.29 615.79 82.76 2,753.44 

For Financial instruments risk management objectives and policies, refer Note 33 

Fair value disclosures for financial assets and liabilities and fair value hierarchy disclosures for investment are in Note 33

Note 8 : Other assets	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Non-current 
Unsecured, considered good 
Capital advances 581.90 339.03 
Prepaid expense - 1.18 
Security deposit 0.15 0.03 

582.05 340.24 
Current 
Unsecured, considered good 
Advance to suppliers 531.78 555.69 
Balance with government authorities 48.02 177.01 
Prepaid expenses 50.63 102.30 
Other assets 21.51 16.25 
Receivable for settlement of payment gateway transaction (refer note 36) 3,977.59 1,398.22 
Unsecured, considered doubtful 
Advance to suppliers 2.99 2.99 
Less : Allowance for doubtful advances (2.99) (2.99)

4,629.54 2,249.48 
Total 5,211.59 2,589.71 

(` in Million)
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Note 9 : Income tax assets (net)	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Tax paid in advance (net of provision) ( refer note 22) 270.92 205.76 
Total 270.92 205.76 
Provision for tax (net of advance tax) ( refer note 22) 48.05 49.64 
Total 48.05 49.64 

Note 10 : Equity share capital	

Particulars 
As at March 31,2021 As at March 31, 2020 

No. of shares ` in Million No. of shares ` in Million 
Authorized share capital* 
Equity shares of ` 1 each 1,400,000,000 1,400.00 897,500,000 897.50 
0.01% cumulative compulsory convertible 
Preference shares of ` 10 each ** - - 250,000 2.50 

Issued and subscribed share capital 
Equity shares of ` 1 each 1,331,053,580 1,331.05 664,720,260 664.72 

Subscribed and fully paid up 
Equity shares of ` 1 each 1,331,053,580 1,331.05 664,720,260 664.72 
Total 1,331,053,580 1,331.05 664,720,260 664.72 

* represents authorized share capital as per scheme of arrangement approved by National Company Law Tribunal, Ahmedabad Bench 
dated May 7, 2018. Company has made requisite filing with Ministry of Corporate Affairs on May 10, 2018

** 2,50,000 (Two Lakhs Fifty Thousand) 0.01% Compulsory Convertible Preference Shares of ` 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each, amounting to 
` 2.50 million, forming a part of the Authorized Share Capital of the Company were reclassified into 25,00,000 (Twenty Five Lakhs) Equity 
Shares having Face Value of Re. 1 (Rupee One Only) each amounting to ` 2.50 million pursuant to the Equity Shareholders’ approval in the 
Extra Ordinary General Meeting of Infibeam Avenues Limited held on March 09, 2021.

10.1. Reconciliation of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the Reporting period	

Particulars 
As at March 31,2021 As at March 31, 2020 

No. of shares ` in Million No. of shares ` in Million 
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 664,720,260 664.72 663,392,240 663.39 
Add: 
Shares allotted pursuant to exercise of 
Employee Stock Option Plan 806,530 0.81 1,328,020 1.33 

Issue of Bonus shares 665,526,790 665.53 
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,331,053,580 1,331.05 664,720,260 664.72 
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10.2. Terms/Rights attached to the equity shares

The Company has equity shares having a par value of Re1 per share. All equity shares rank equally with regard to dividend 
and share in the Company’s residual assets in proportion of amount paid up. The equity shares are entitled to receive 
dividend as declared from time to time. Each holder of the equity shares is entitled to one vote per share. 

On winding up of Company, the holder of equity shares will be entitled to receive the residual assets of Company, remaining 
after distribution of all preferential amounts in proportion to number of equity shares held. Terms attached to stock options 
granted to employees are described in note 30 regarding employee share based payments.

10.3. Number of Shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5% Shares in the Company	

Name of the Shareholder 
As at March 31,2021 As at March 31, 2020 

No. of shares % of shareholding No. of shares % of shareholding 
Vishal A Mehta 119,918,800 9.01% 59,959,400 9.02%
Infinium Motors Private Limited 115,763,750 8.70% 53,047,220 7.98%
L7 Hitech Private Limited 74,494,209 5.60% - 0.00%
Vishwas A Patel 153,191,324 11.51% 76,595,662 11.52%

Note: As per records of the Company, including its register of shareholders / members and other declarations received from the shareholders 
regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownerships of shares.

10.4. Shares reserved for issue under options

For information relating to Infibeam Avenues Limited (formerly known as Infibeam Incorporation Limited) Employee Stock 
Option Plan, including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year and options outstanding at 
the end of the reporting period please refer to note 30.

10.5. Distribution made and proposed	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Cash dividends on Equity Shares declared and paid:
Interim dividend for Year Ended 31 March, 2021: ` Nil Per share (31 March, 2020: ` 0.10 
Per Share) 66.37 

Less: Paid to IEW Trust (refer note 37) (0.23)
Net interim dividend paid - 66.14 
Proposed dividends on Equity Shares:
Final cash dividend for March 31, 2021: ` 0.05 Per share (March 31, 2020: Nil) 66.55 - 
(including Payable to IEW trust)
Note: Refer note 27 for dividend paid to related party transactions
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Note 11 : Other Equity	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Capital reserve 

Opening balance 100.00 - 

Add: transfer on forfeiture of equity share warrants - 100.00 

Balance at the end of the year 100.00 100.00 

General reserve 

Opening balance 0.00 105.22 

Less : Distribution of Net assets of demerged undertakings adjusted on account of scheme 
of arrangement (refer note : 35) - (107.31)

Add: Addition on account of lapse of options 0.15 2.10 

Balance at the end of the year 0.15 0.00 

Securities premium account 

Opening balance 25,136.73 25,054.39 

Less: capitalization on issue of bonus shares (665.53) - 

Add: on exercising of options 32.62 82.33 

Balance at the end of the year 24,503.82 25,136.73 

Foreign currency monetary item translation reserve 

Opening balance (2.17) (23.04)

Add: adjustment during the year 17.56 20.88 

Balance at the end of the year 15.39 (2.17)

Employees Stock Options Outstanding (Net) (Refer Note 30) 

Opening balance 206.93 239.20 

Add : Employee compensation expense for the year 106.93 52.16 

Less: Transfer to securities premium on exercise of options (32.62) (82.33)

Less: Reversal due to lapse of options (0.15) (2.10)

Balance at the end of the year 281.08 206.93 

Money received against share warrants 

Opening balance - 100.00 

Less: transfer to Capital Reserve on forfeiture of equity share warrants - (100.00)

Balance at the end of the year - - 

Treasury Shares (refer note 37) 

Opening balance (396.06) (396.06)

Add : (Purchase)/sale of treasury shares by the trust during the year - - 

Balance at the end of the year (396.06) (396.06)

IEW Trust Reserve (refer note 37) 

Opening balance 0.00 0.00 

Add : received during the year - - 

Balance at the end of the year 0.00 0.00 
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Retained earnings 

Opening balance 2,323.20 1,633.30 

Less : Distribution of Net assets of demerged undertakings adjusted on account of scheme 
of arrangement (refer note : 35) - (308.90)

Add: profit for the year 723.34 1,079.92 

Add: OCI for the year (0.08) (0.99)

3,046.45 2,403.34 

Less: Appropriation 

Interim Dividend paid (refer note 27) - (65.39)

Dividend Distribution Tax - (14.06)

Transition impact on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 “Leases" - (0.70)

Balance at the end of the year 3,046.45 2,323.20 

Total Other equity 27,550.85 27,368.63 
Securities Premium Reserve 

Where the Company issues shares at a premium, whether for cash or otherwise, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of 
the premium received on those shares shall be transferred to “Securities Premium”. The Company may issue fully paid-up 
bonus shares to its members out of the Securities Premium and the Company can use this reserve for buy-back of shares.

General reserve 

General Reserve is created out of the profits earned by the Company by way of transfer from surplus in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss. The Company can use this reserve for payment of dividend and issue of fully paid-up bonus shares.

Employees Stock Options Outstanding 

The share based option outstanding account is used to recognize the grant date fair value of options issued to employees 
under group’s employee stock option schemes.

Money received against share warrants 

The Board of Directors of Infibeam Avenues Limited (formerly known as Infibeam Incorporation Limited) in its meeting held 
on February 14, 2018 issued 21,45,002 warrants to TV18 Broadcast Limited (a company not forming part of promoter and 
promoter group) on preferential basis with a right to apply and get allotment of equity shares of the Company of face value 
of Re 1 each within a period of 18 months from the date of allotment of warrant at a price of ` 186.48 (including premium of 
` 185.48 each) aggregating to consideration not exceeding ` 400.00 million. The Company has received ` 100.00 million on 
March 28, 2018 and allotted warrants for the same on March 29, 2018. On expiry of right to apply and get allotment of equity 
shares, the money received against share warrants are forfeited and transferred to Capital Reserve.

(` in Million)
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Note 12 : Financial liabilities
12 Borrowings	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Long-term Borrowings 
Secured 
Term loan from bank (refer note below) 110.41 175.81 
Total long-term borrowings 110.41 175.81 
Short-term Borrowings 
Secured 
Term loans from banks (refer note below) 87.90 87.90 
Total short-term borrowings 87.90 87.90 
Total borrowings 198.31 263.71 

Terms of borrowings: 

Term Loan:

The company has a Rupee Term Loan sanctioned facility of ` 507.1 million (previous year ` 427.5 million) from IndusInd Bank 
Limited. The facility carries interest of 10.35% till May 13, 2020 and interest of 10% from May 14, 2020. The facility is secured 
against the mortgage of Gift Two building, Gift City , Gandhinagar. The term loan is repayable in quarterly installments of  
` 22.5 million each.

Loan Covenant: 

Bank loans availed by the Company are subject to certain covenants relating to Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR), Interest 
Coverage Ratio etc. which Company has to maintain from Financial Year 2019.

12 Trade payable	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Current 
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 2.67 3.48 
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 212.81 295.99 

215.48 299.47 
Total 215.48 299.47 

(i)	 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-90 days terms. 

(ii)	 For disclosure required under Section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006, refer note 29. 

(iii)	 For explanation on Company’s liability risk management process, refer note 33. 

(iv)	 Refer note 27 for trade payable to related parties.
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12 Other financial liabilities	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Non-current 

Lease Liability 42.84 34.66 

42.84 34.66 

Current 

Employee benefits payable 36.35 31.32 

Creditor for capital goods 50.39 40.63 

Interest accrued and due on term loan 7.58 0.08 

Creditor for expenses 16.43 16.92 

Other payables 81.91 41.39 

Unpaid dividends 0.30 0.30 

Lease Liability 19.04 13.13 

Security deposits from merchants 252.76 20.44 

Provision for expenses 94.99 65.18 

Payable to Company for reimbursement of expenses (net) 0.02 1.24 

Book overdraft - 20.15 

559.77 250.79 

Total 602.62 285.45 

12 Financial liabilities by category	 (` in Million)

Particulars FVTPL FVOCI Amortized cost 
March 31, 2021 
Borrowings - - 198.31 
Trade payable - - 215.48 
Other financial liabilities - - 602.62 
Total Financial liabilities - - 1,016.40 

Particulars FVTPL FVOCI Amortized cost 
March 31, 2020 
Borrowings - - 263.71 
Trade payable - - 299.47 
Other financial liabilities - - 285.45 
Total Financial liabilities - - 848.62 

For Financial instruments risk management objectives and policies, refer Note 33 

Fair value disclosures for financial assets and liabilities and fair value hierarchy disclosures for investment are in Note 33.
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Note 13 : Provisions	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Long Term 
Provision for employee benefits (refer Note 26) 
Provision for gratuity 49.51 44.27 

49.51 44.27 
Short Term 
Provision for employee benefits (refer Note 26) 
Provision for gratuity 13.91 12.33 

13.91 12.33 
Total 63.42 56.60 

Note 14 : Other current liabilities	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31,2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Current 
Unsecured, considered good 
Advance from customers 41.40 132.30 
Excess billing over revenue 10.25 56.31 
Provision for expenses 3.21 7.28 
Other liabilities 1.54 0.60 
Payable for settlement of payment gateway transaction (refer note 36) 5,078.15 1,817.81 
Statutory dues including provident fund and tax deducted at source 26.76 21.58 

5,161.32 2,035.88 
Total 5,161.32 2,035.88 

Note 15 : Revenue from operations	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Sale of services 6,760.35 6,327.16 
Total 6,760.35 6,327.16 

Refer note 43 Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 115 “Revenue from contract with customers”:
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Note 16 : Other income	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Interest income on: 
- bank deposits 47.29 54.86 
- Others 19.35 15.43 
Rental income** 8.13 - 
Net gain on account of foreign exchange fluctuations - 15.25 
Short Term Capital Gain on sale of mutual funds 0.29 1.46 
Excess Provision written back 10.92 0.07 
Liabilities / Provision no longer required written back 5.39 19.97 
Miscellaneous income 8.81 9.61 
Total 100.19 116.65 

** The Company has entered into lease agreement for office premises with its subsidiary and associate companies. The leasing agreement 
is cancellable, and renewable on a periodic basis by mutual consent on mutually accepted terms including escalation of lease rent. Lease 
income from related parties recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss for the year amounts to ` 5.80 million (March 31, 2020 : Nil). 
(refer note 27)

Note 17 : Employee benefits expense	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Salaries, wages and bonus^ 572.02 472.76 
Contribution to provident fund and other funds (refer note 26) 17.62 13.09 
Share based payments to employees* 24.31 42.59 
Staff welfare expenses 1.34 3.86 
Total 615.29 532.29 
^Salaries, wages and bonus (net of capitalization) 
Salaries, wages and bonus 577.47 119.91 
Less : Cost capitalized (5.45) - 
Salaries, wages and bonus cost for the year 572.02 119.91 
* Employee stock option outstanding expenses 
Share based payment expenses 106.93 52.16 
Less : Deductions on account of Scheme of arrangement (refer note 35) - (8.79)
Less : Cost capitalized (75.61) - 
Less: Cost recovered from associates (7.01) (0.79)
ESOP cost for the year 24.31 42.59 

Note 18 : Finance costs	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Interest expense on: 

- Bank loans 26.63 34.49 
- Statutory dues 1.37 0.68 
- Others 0.68 0.94 

Interest on lease payment 5.74 5.25 
Other borrowing cost 2.14 1.07 
Total 36.56 42.42 
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Note 19 : Depreciation and Amortization expense	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Depreciation on Tangible assets (refer note 5) 440.49 355.26 
Amortization on Intangible assets (refer note 6) 291.54 503.10 
Depreciation on Right of use assets (refer note 5) 18.54 14.94 
Total 750.56 873.31 

Note 20 : Other expenses	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Telephone and other communication expenses 11.10 9.37 
CSR Expenses (refer note 40) 9.65 7.30 
Power and fuel 10.03 11.11 
House keeping 0.03 0.09 
Legal and professional fees 39.36 26.14 
Office expenses 29.01 20.53 
Printing and Stationary 0.01 0.05 
Rent (refer note 32) 8.89 6.02 
Rates and taxes 7.42 47.20 
Repairs and maintenance 
Other 0.34 1.16 
Security service charges 0.44 0.22 
Travelling and conveyance 2.06 11.76 
Payment to auditors (refer note 21) 7.19 6.77 
Web hosting and server support expenses 19.70 20.69 
Web service expenses 17.24 25.40 
Net loss on account of foreign exchange fluctuations 12.01 - 
Event management expenses - 0.45 
Service charges 2.16 7.08 
Director sitting fees 1.16 1.46 
Postage and courier 0.14 2.96 
Sales promotion 10.74 38.72 
Advertising expenses 57.73 42.90 
Loss on sale of fixed assets - 0.27 
Allowance for doubtful debts 32.97 26.56 
Balances written off 14.10 (0.00)
Miscellaneous expenses 5.87 5.26 
Total 299.34 319.45 
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Exceptional items	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
IND AS impact on fair value of investment - 82.76 
Total - 82.76 

Note 21 : Payment to auditors	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
As auditor 
Statutory audit 2.51 2.10 
Limited review 4.61 4.50 
Certification charges 0.03 - 
Reimbursement of expenses 0.03 0.16 
Total 7.19 6.77 

Note 22 : Income tax
The major component of income tax expense for the years ended March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 are :	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Tax paid in advance (net of provision) 270.92 205.76 
Total 270.92 205.76 
Provision for tax (net of advance tax) 48.05 49.64 
Total 48.05 49.64 

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Statement of Profit and Loss 
Current tax (of continued as well as discontinued operations) 
- for the current year 77.69 115.37 
Deferred tax (of continued as well as discontinued operations) 
Deferred tax expense/ (credit) relating to origination and reversal of temporary difference 38.22 96.84 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss 115.91 212.21 

Note : The Group elected to exercise the option permitted under Section 115 BAA of the Income Tax Act, 1961 as introduced by the Taxation 
Laws (Amendment) ordinance, 2019. Accordingly, the Company has recognized the provision for income tax for the year ended March 31, 
2021 and re-measured its deferred tax basis the rate prescribed in the said section. Accordingly, previous periods tax expenses are not 
comparable.
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Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by domestic tax rate for the year ended March 31, 2021 
and March 31, 2020.
A) Current tax	 (` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Accounting profit before tax from continuing operations 731.53 795.30 
Accounting profit before tax from discontinuing operations (12.49)
Total profit before tax from operations 731.53 782.81 
Enacted tax rate 25.17% 34.94%
Computed expected tax expense 184.11 273.51 
Adjustments
Deferred tax not recognized not considered reasonably uncertain of realization 9.13 - 
Effect of non-deductible expenses (44.05) 22.92 
Effect of tax paid under differential tax rate - (0.31)
Tax on different rates (0.30) (3.45)
Tax benefit on brought forward losses 13.74 (25.18)
Excess of amortization of fixed assets under income-tax law over amortization provided in 
accounts (0.04) (5.10)

Employee benefit payable (0.09) 1.39 
Tax exempt income of foreign subsidiaries (62.61) (18.72)
Other adjustments 16.03 (32.86)
Income tax expenses: 115.91 212.21 

B) Deferred tax	 (` in Million)

Particulars 
Balance Sheet Statement of Profit and Loss 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

Deferred income tax assets

Excess of depreciation/ amortization on 
fixed assets provided in accounts over 
depreciation/ amortization under Income 
tax Act, 1961 

(7.03) (7.08) (0.04) (5.10)

Provision for employee benefits 13.18 18.26 5.08 (1.61)

Lease hold Property INDAS 116 1.15 - (1.15) - 

Provision for doubtful advances to suppliers - 0.91 0.91 (0.91)

Brought forward losses - - - 5.77 

Unabsorbed depreciation - 4.87 4.87 (4.65)

IPO Expenses 55.05 98.30 43.24 21.86 

Provision for diminution in value of 
investment and doubtful debts 19.43 20.40 0.97 (4.35)

Total deferred income tax assets 81.78 135.65 53.87 11.00 

Deferred income tax liabilities
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Particulars 
Balance Sheet Statement of Profit and Loss 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

Excess of amortization on fixed assets 
under income-tax law over amortization 
provided in accounts. 

(409.48) (425.13) (15.65) 86.36 

DTL on FV of investment adjusted against 
goodwill - (0.34) - (0.52)

Total deferred income tax liabilities (409.48) (425.47) (15.65) 85.84 

Deferred tax (expense) / income* 38.22 96.84 

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)* (327.70) (289.82)

(` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2021 

As at  
March 31, 2020 

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows 

Deferred tax assets 0.42 5.15 

Deferred tax liabilities (328.12) (294.97)

Deferred tax assets (net) (327.70) (289.82)

(` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021 

Year ended  
March 31, 2020 

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets / (liabilities), net 

Opening balance as of April 1 (289.82) (190.58)

Tax income/(expense) during the period recognized in profit or loss (38.22) (96.85)

Deferred tax liability on demerged subsidiaries - (2.04)

DTL on FV of investment adjusted against goodwill 0.34 (0.34)

Tax income/(expense) during the period recognized in OCI (0.00) (0.02)

Closing balance as at March 31 (327.70) (289.82)

* The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax 
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

In assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, management considers whether some portion or all of the deferred income 
tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable 
income during the periods in which the temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversals of 
deferred income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on the level of 
historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred income tax assets are deductible, 
management believes that the Group will realize the benefits of those deductible differences. The amount of the deferred income tax assets 
considered realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carry forward period 
are reduced.
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Note 23 : Contingent liabilities
The Company does not have any contingent liability as at balance sheet date.	 (` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Contingent liabilities not provided for
a. Claims against Company not acknowledged as debts - - 
b. Guarantees given by bank on behalf of the Company - - 

Note 24 : Capital commitment and other commitments	 (` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Capital commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not 
provided for (net of advance) 0.36 1,740.59 

Note 25 : Foreign Exchange Derivatives and Exposures not hedged
A. Foreign Exchange Derivatives: The Company does not have any foreign exchange derivatives

B. Exposure Not Hedged	 (` in Million)

Nature of exposure Currency
Year ended March 31, 2021 Year ended March 31, 2020 

Foreign 
currency 

Local currency 
(` Millions)

Foreign 
currency 

Local currency 
(` Millions)

Creditors for expenses USD 39,510 2.89 33,327 2.52 
Provision for expenses USD 6,650 0.49 6,250 0.47 

3.37 2.99 
Trade receivables USD 4,117,209 301.01 4,229,132 320.00 

EURO 277,082 23.76 43,132 3.57 
OMR 17,299 3.28 1,175 0.23 
SAR 38,601 0.75 308,891 6.22 
BHD 1,497 0.29 709 0.14 
GBP 22,882 2.31 26,899 2.52 
KWD 1,154 0.28 1,380 0.34 
QAR 90 0.00 - - 

Bank balance USD 3,645,156 266.50 522,388 39.53 
BHD 39,582 7.67 43,739 8.78 

EURO 45,953 3.94 6,420 0.53 
GBP 60,161 6.06 35,239 3.29 
KWD 18,093 4.37 15,294 3.77 
OMR 18,663 3.54 10,457 2.06 
QAR 96,940 1.93 59,420 1.23 
SAR 442,709 8.63 132,531 2.67 

Accrued revenue USD 993,464 72.63 1,154,938 87.39 
AED - - 14,520 0.30 
SAR 376,200 7.33 468,500 9.44 

714.30 492.00 
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The followings are the expected future benefit payments for the defined benefit plan :	 (` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Gratuity
Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period) 13.91 10.10 
Between 2 and 5 years 32.94 30.17 
Beyond 5 years 29.51 30.59 

76.36 70.85 
Total expected payments 76.36 70.85 

Risk Exposure :

i.	 Investment risk

	 For funded plans that rely on insurers for managing the assets, the value of assets certified by the insurer may not be 
the fair value of instruments backing the liability. In such cases, the present value of the assets is independent of the 
future discount rate. This can result in wide fluctuations in the net liability or the funded status if there are significant 
changes in the discount rate during the inter-valuation period.

ii.	 Market Risk (Interest Rate)

	 Market risk is a collective term for risks that are related to the changes and fluctuations of the financial markets. 
The discount rate reflects the time value of money. An increase in discount rate leads to decrease in Defined Benefit 
Obligation of the plan benefits & vice versa. This assumption depends on the yields on the corporate/government 
bonds and hence the valuation of liability is exposed to fluctuations in the yields as at the valuation date.

iii.	 Longevity Risk

	 The impact of longevity risk will depend on whether the benefits are paid before retirement age or after. Typically for 
the benefits paid on or before the retirement age, the longevity risk is not very material.

iv.	 Actuarial Risk

a.	 Salary Increase Assumption

	 Actual Salary increases that are higher than the assumed salary escalation, will result in increase to the Obligation 
at a rate that is higher than expected.

b.	 Attrition/Withdrawal Assumption

	 If actual withdrawal rates are higher than assumed withdrawal rates, the benefits will be paid earlier than expected. 
Similarly if the actual withdrawal rates are lower than assumed, the benefits will be paid later than expected. The 
impact of this will depend on the demography of the company and the financials assumptions.

v.	 Regulatory Risk 

	 Any Changes to the current Regulations by the Government, will increase (in most cases) or Decrease the obligation 
which is not anticipated. Sometimes, the increase is many fold which will impact the financials quite significantly.
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Note 27 : Related Party disclosures.
As per the Indian Accounting Standard on “Related Party Disclosures” (IND AS 24), the related parties of the Company are as 
follows :

Name of Related Parties and Nature of Relationship :

Description of relationship Name of the parties

Parties with whom transactions have been entered into

Company where Key Managerial Personnel can exercise 
control / significant influence

Tripwheels and Drive Private Limited (formerly known as Infinium Automall 
Private Limited) (upto March 14, 2020)

Infinium Communication Private Limited

Infinity Drive Private Limited (upto April 20, 2020)

Infinium Motors (Gujarat) Private Limited

Infinium Motors Private Limited

Avenues Enterprises Private Limited

Key Management Personnel ('KMP')

Managing Director Vishal Ajit Mehta

Executive Director Vishwas Ambalal Patel

Non-executive Directors Malav Ajit Mehta (upto June 05, 2020)

Ajit Champaklal Mehta

Roopkishan Sohanlal Dave

Keyoor Madhusudan Bakshi

Vijaylaxmi Tulsidas Sheth

Piyushkumar Sinha

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Hiren Padhya

Company Secretary (CS) Shyamal Trivedi

Relatives of KMP Jayshree Ajit Mehta

Nirali Vishal Mehta

Malav A. Mehta (with effect from June 06, 2020)

Anoli Malav Mehta 

Varini Vishwas Patel

Vivek Vishwas Patel

Description of relationship Name of the parties

Associate Company Avenues Payments India Private Limited

Instant Global Paytech Private Limited (upto May 05, 2020)

NSI Infinium Global Limited (upto March 31, 2020)

DRC Systems India Limited (with effect from April 01, 2020)

Infibeam Global EMEA FZ LLC
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Related Party Transactions

Particulars Period 
ending

KMP and 
relative of 

KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

Personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company Total 

Issue of equity shares on exercising of ESOP 
(Number of shares)
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 31-Mar-21 0.02 - - 0.02 

31-Mar-20 0.01 - - 0.01 
Company Secretary (CS) 31-Mar-21 0.03 - - 0.03 

31-Mar-20 0.04 - - 0.04 
Issue of equity shares pursuant to Bonus Issue 
(Number of shares) 31-Mar-21 255.31 58.39 - 313.70 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Issue of equity shares of DRC Systems India 
Limited pursuant to Scheme of Arrangement 
(Number of shares)

31-Mar-21 0.64 0.14 - 0.78 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Issue of equity shares of Suvidhaa Infoserve 
Limited pursuant to Scheme of Arrangement 
(Number of shares)

31-Mar-21 34.48 7.67 - 42.15 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Investment in equity shares
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 70.00 70.00 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Salaries and ESOP to key managerial personnel
Chief Financial Officer 31-Mar-21 5.87 - - 5.87 

31-Mar-20 5.01 - - 5.01 
Company Secretary 31-Mar-21 5.39 - - 5.39 

31-Mar-20 5.08 - - 5.08 
Rent Expense
Vishwas Patel (Executive Director) 31-Mar-21 12.79 - - 12.79 

31-Mar-20 12.79 - - 12.79 
Rent Deposits
Vishwas Patel (Executive Director) 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 2.45 - - 2.45 
Rent Income
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 0.03 0.03 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.30 0.30 
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 3.64 3.64 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 5.80 5.80 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
ESOP cost recovered
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.07 0.07 

(` in Million)
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Particulars Period 
ending

KMP and 
relative of 

KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

Personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company Total 

DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 6.94 6.94 
31-Mar-20 - - - - 

Interest income
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 0.22 0.22 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Director sitting fees to non-executive and 
independent directors 31-Mar-21 1.16 - - 1.16 

31-Mar-20 1.46 - - 1.46 
Sale of services / goods
Infinium Motors Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - 24.00 - 24.00 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 92.13 92.13 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 1.73 1.73 

31-Mar-20 - - 21.39 21.39 
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 1.87 1.87 
Receipt of services / goods
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 0.01 0.01 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Reimbursement of expenses from (amount 
receivable)
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.93 0.93 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 0.61 0.61 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Infinium Motors Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - 0.02 - 0.02 
Purchase of Fixed Assets
Infinium Motors Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - 9.88 - 9.88 
Purchase of Go Cards
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 1.86 1.86 

31-Mar-20 - - 1.13 1.13 
Loan given
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.75 0.75 
Avenues Payments India Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 10.00 10.00 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.01 0.01 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 30.07 30.07 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 

(` in Million)
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Particulars Period 
ending

KMP and 
relative of 

KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

Personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company Total 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 31-Mar-21 0.30 - - 0.30 
31-Mar-20 0.30 - - 0.30 

Company Secretary (CS) 31-Mar-21 - - - - 
31-Mar-20 0.30 - - 0.30 

Repayment of Loan given
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 30.07 30.07 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Chief Financial Officer 31-Mar-21 0.10 - - 0.10 

31-Mar-20 0.10 - - 0.10 
Company Secretary (CS) 31-Mar-21 0.30 - - 0.30 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Dividend paid 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 27.07 7.04 - 34.11 
Balance outstanding
Investment
Infibeam Global EMEA FZ LLC 31-Mar-21 - - 675.86 675.86 

31-Mar-20 - - 675.86 675.86 
Avenue Payment India Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 214.03 214.03 

31-Mar-20 - - 214.03 214.03 
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 30.60 30.60 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 60.00 60.00 
Investment (in Preference Shares) 
Avenue Payment India Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 30.00 30.00 

31-Mar-20 - - 30.00 30.00 
Trade receivable
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 27.00 27.00 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Loans and advances given
Avenue Payment India Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 10.01 10.01 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.01 0.01 
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.75 0.75 
Chief Financial Officer 31-Mar-21 0.70 - - 0.70 

31-Mar-20 0.50 - - 0.50 
Company Secretary 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 0.30 - - 0.30 
Receivables for reimbursement
NSI Infinium Global Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.93 0.93 
Rent Payable
Vishwas Ambalal Patel 31-Mar-21 6.46 - - 6.46 

31-Mar-20 1.10 - - 1.10 

(` in Million)
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Particulars Period 
ending

KMP and 
relative of 

KMP 

Company where 
Key Managerial 

Personnel can 
exercise control 

/ significant 
influence 

Associate 
Company Total 

Director sitting fees payable
Director sitting fees payable to non-executive and 
independent directors 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 0.14 - - 0.14 
Payable for settlement of payment gateway 
transactions
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 4.10 4.10 
Security deposit given
Vishwas Ambalal Patel 31-Mar-21 3.20 - - 3.20 

31-Mar-20 3.20 - - 3.20 
Other receivables on account of scheme of 
arrangement
DRC Systems India Limited 31-Mar-21 - - 15.00 15.00 

31-Mar-20 - - - - 
Security deposit taken
Instant Global Paytech Private Limited 31-Mar-21 - - - - 

31-Mar-20 - - 0.10 0.10 

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
(1)	 Transaction entered into with related party are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length 

transactions. Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. 
There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.

(2)	 For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts 
owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of 
the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

Commitments with related parties

The Group has not provided any commitment to the related party as at March 31, 2021 (March 31, 2020: ` Nil)

Note 28 : Earning per share	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 

Earing per share (Basic and Diluted)

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders 702.48 1,080.51 

From continuing operations 702.48 1,106.79 

From discontinued operations - (26.28)

Total no. of equity shares at the end of the year 1,331,053,580 664,720,260 

Add: Issue of Bonus shares during FY-2020-21 in the ratio of 1:1 * 664,720,260 

Total no. of equity shares at the end of the year 1,331,053,580 1,329,440,520 

* Since the bonus issue is an issue without consideration, the bonus issue is treated as if it had occurred prior to the beginning of the year 
FY-2020-21, the earliest period reported.

(` in Million)
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Weighted average number of equity shares	

For basic EPS 1,324,387,058 1,327,346,263 

For diluted EPS 1,340,367,904 1,335,801,971 

Nominal value of equity shares 1.00 1.00 

From continuing operations

Basic earning per share 0.53 0.84 

Diluted earning per share 0.52 0.83 

From discontinued operations

Basic earning per share - (0.02)

Diluted earning per share - (0.02)

Weighted average number of equity shares 

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic EPS 1,324,387,058 1,327,346,263 

Effect of dilution: Employee stock options 15,980,846 8,455,708 

Weighted average number of equity shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 1,340,367,904 1,335,801,971 

Note 29 : Dues to micro and small suppliers
The Ministry of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises has issued an office memorandum dated August 26, 2008 which 
recommends that the Micro and Small Enterprises should mention in their correspondence with its customers the 
Entrepreneurs Memorandum Number as allocated after filing of the Memorandum in accordance with the ‘Micro, Small 
and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006’ (‘the MSMED Act’) accordingly, the disclosure in respect of the amounts 
payable to such enterprises as at March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 has been made in the financial statements based on 
information received and available with the Company. Further in view of the Management, the impact of interest, if any, that 
may be payable in accordance with the provisions of the Act is not expected to be material. The Company has not received 
any claim for interest from any supplier as at the balance-sheet date.

(` in Million)

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

The principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as at 
the end of accounting year; 2.67 3.48 

The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the MSMED Act along 
with the amounts of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during 
each accounting year;

- - 

The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which 
has been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the 
interest specified under the MSMED Act;

- - 

The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of accounting year; and - - 

The amount of further interest due and payable even in the succeeding period, until such 
date when the interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise, for the 
purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under section 23 of the MSMED Act.

- - 

On basis of information and records available with the Group, the above disclosures are made in respect of amount due to the micro and 
small enterprises, which have been registered with the relevant competent authorities. The above information takes into account only those 
suppliers who have submitted their registration details or has responded to the inquiries made by the Company for this purpose.
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Note 30 : Share based payments
Employee stock option (ESOP) scheme (2013-14):

The scheme has been adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to resolution passed at its meeting held on February 
17, 2013, read with Special Resolution passed by shareholder of the company at the extra ordinary general meeting held 
on March 30, 2013. The plan entitles senior employees to purchase shares in the Company at the stipulated exercise price, 
subject to compliance with vesting conditions. All exercised options shall be settled in demat mode. As per the plan, holders 
of vested options are entitled to purchase one equity share for every option at an exercise price of Re 1 which is 93% to 98% 
below the market price at the date of grant.

Employee stock option (ESOP) scheme (2014-15) 

The scheme has been adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to resolution passed at its meeting held on February 
27, 2014, read with Special Resolution passed by shareholder of the company at the extra ordinary general meeting held 
on March 31, 2014. The plan entitles senior employees to purchase shares in the Company at the stipulated exercise price, 
subject to compliance with vesting conditions. All exercised options shall be settled in demat mode. As per the plan, holders 
of vested options are entitled to purchase one equity share for every option at an exercise price of Re 1 which is 93% to 98% 
below the market price at the date of grant.

Employee stock option (ESOP) scheme (2019-20) 

The scheme has been adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to resolution passed at its meeting held on June 29, 2019, 
read with Special Resolution passed by shareholder of the company at the extra ordinary general meeting held on July 30, 
2019. The plan entitles senior employees to purchase shares in the Company at the stipulated exercise price, subject to 
compliance with vesting conditions. All exercised options shall be settled in demat mode. As per the plan, holders of vested 
options are entitled to purchase one equity share for every option at an exercise price of Re 1 which is 93% to 98% below the 
market price at the date of grant.

Scheme ESOP Scheme 2013-14 ESOP Scheme 2019-20

Date of grant April 1, 2020 July 01, 2020 October 25, 
2020

January 01, 
2021 July 01, 2020 January 01, 

2021

Number of options granted 200,000 85,000 19,850 80,000 116,100 4,200,000 

Exercise price per option 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Vesting requirements

Vesting period 
as defined by 

the board in the 
letters issuing 
the options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined by 

the board in the 
letters issuing 
the options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined by 

the board in the 
letters issuing 
the options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined by 

the board in the 
letters issuing 
the options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined by 

the board in the 
letters issuing 
the options to 

employees.

Vesting period 
as defined by 

the board in the 
letters issuing 
the options to 

employees.

Exercise period 1 years - 5 years 1 years - 5 years 1 years - 5 years 1 years - 5 years 1 years - 5 years 1 years - 5 years

Method of settlement Demat mode Demat mode Demat mode Demat mode Demat mode Demat mode
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The following table sets forth a summary of the activity of options:	

Particulars

2020-21 2019-20 

ESOP 
Scheme 

13-14

ESOP 
Scheme 

14-15

ESOP 
Scheme 

19-20

ESOP 
Scheme 

13-14

ESOP 
Scheme 

14-15

ESOP 
Scheme 

19-20

Options 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 263,680 3,966,220 100,000 146,211 5,031,860 - 

Granted during the year 384,850 - 4,316,100 426,679 - 100,000 

Exercised during the year (369,380) (437,150) - (290,060) (1,037,960) - 

Lapse during the year (92,800) - (1,000) (19,150) (27,680) - 

Outstanding at the end of the year-Pre-Bonus 186,350 3,529,070 4,415,100 263,680 3,966,220 100,000 

Outstanding at the end of the year-Post-Bonus * 372,700 7,058,140 8,830,200 

Exercisable at the end of the year 372,700 7,058,140 8,830,200 263,680 3,966,220 100,000 
* In view of Bonus shares issued by the Company in the ratio of 1:1, the outstanding stock options as on the record date of Bonus are being 
entitled to bonus and hence the post bonus effect is considered for outstanding stock options as at March 31, 2021.

Expense arising from share- based payment transactions

Total expenses arising from share- based payment transactions recognized in profit or loss as part of employee benefit 
expense were as follows :

(` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20 
Employee stock option plan 24.31 42.59 
Total employee share based payment expense 24.31 42.59 

The fair value of the share based payment options granted on is determined using the black scholes model using the 
following inputs at the grant date which takes in to account the exercise price, the term of the option, the share price at the 
grant date, and the expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest 
rate for the term of the option.

Particulars March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

Option grant date April 1 , 
2020 July 01, 2020 October 25 , 

2020 
January 01, 

2021
April 01, 

2019 
October 25, 

2019 
January 01, 

2020 

Weighted average share price 35.97 60.82 83.07 86.41 43.19 45.01 55.12 

Exercise price 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Expected volatility 64% 56% 50% 49% 50% 71% 71%

Expected life (years) 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 

Dividend yield 0.29% 0.29% 0.29% 0.29% 0.47% 0.47% 0.47%

Risk-free interest rate (%) 5.83% 4.66% 4.94% 4.99% 6.31% 5.41% 5.03%

Fair market value share 36.12 61.01 82.62 84.72 41.67 43.99 52.92

Weighted average remaining 
contractual life (Years)
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Employee Stock Appreciation Rights (SAR)

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the Board of Directors of the Company, at its meeting held on July 13, 2017 and the 
special resolution passed by the Members of the Company on August 11, 2017, the Infibeam Stock Appreciation Rights 
Scheme 2017 (“SAR Scheme 2017”) was approved in accordance with the provisions of SEBI (SBEB) Regulations, having 
face value of ` 1.00 each. The Company has created “Infibeam Employees Welfare Fund” by way of a trust on September 
5, 2017 which will be involved in the execution of Infibeam Stock Appreciation Rights Scheme 2017 (SAR). Barclays Wealth 
Trustees (India) Private Limited (Barclays) are appointed as trustees of the same. Each SAR shall confer the right to the eligible 
employee to receive appreciation (cash settled / equity settled) with respect to the underlying Equity Share on the entitled 
shares after it has been exercised in accordance with terms of the Scheme.

SARs granted are as under:	

Particulars Approval Date No. of SARs 
post bonus

No. of SARs 
pre bonus

SAR Price 
post bonus

SAR Price 
pre bonus

Option grant date February 14, 2019 5,592,622 2,796,311 70.5 141

Movement in options:	

Particulars
SAR Scheme 2017 

As at  
March 31, 2021

SAR Scheme 2017 
As at  

March 31, 2020
SAR Scheme 2017
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,031,311 2,276,311 
Granted during the year 951,311 - 
Exercised during the year - - 
Lapse during the year (186,311) (245,000)
Outstanding at the end of the year -Pre-Bonus 2,796,311 2,031,311 
Outstanding at the end of the year-Post-Bonus * 5,592,622 - 
Exercisable at the end of the year-Pre-Bonus 1,845,000 2,031,311 
Exercisable at the end of the year-Post-Bonus * 3,690,000 - 

* In view of Bonus shares issued by the Company in the ratio of 1:1, the outstanding SAR as on the record date of Bonus are being entitled 
to bonus and hence the post bonus effect is considered for outstanding SAR as at March 31, 2021.

Note 31 : Segment reporting
Geographical segments for the Group are secondary segments. Segment revenue is analyzed based on the location of 
customers regardless of where the services are provided from. The following provides an analysis of the Company’s sales by 
Geographical Markets. For management purposes, the Group operates in three principal geographical areas of the world, 
in India, UAE and the other countries. 

A. Information about geographical areas

The Group operates in three principal geographical areas of the world, in India, middle east, and the other countries. As the 
Group does not operate in more than one business segment, disclosures for primary segment as required under Ind AS 108 
have not been given.

B. Unallocated items:

Domestic geographical segment includes certain assets which are common to all the geographical segments (i.e. India, UAE 
and Others).

C. Segment policies:

The Group prepares its segment information in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting 
the financial statements of the Company as a whole.
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D. Major customer
Revenue from one customer of the Group’s India segment is ` 1633.57 million which is more than 10 percent of the Group’s 
total revenue for the year ended March 31, 2021.
Revenue from one customer of the Group’s India segment is ` 1,644.58 million which is more than 10 percent of the Group’s 
total revenue for the year ended March 31, 2020.

(` in Million)

Period ending India UAE Others Total

Revenue from operations and other operating revenue 31-03-21 5,785.17 541.74 433.44 6,760.35 

31-03-20 5,395.78 675.83 255.54 6,327.16 

Carrying amount of segment non current assets* 31-03-21 21,598.87 131.00 18.27 21,748.14 

31-03-20 21,505.15 94.42 - 21,599.57 

* The carrying amount of non current assets, which do not include deferred tax assets, income tax assets and financial assets analyzed by 
the Geographical area in which the Assets are located.

Note 32 : Lease
The Group’s lease asset primarily consist of leases of buildings offices having the various lease terms. Effective April 1, 2019, 
the group adopted Ind AS 116 “Leases” and applied the standard to all lease contracts existing on April 1, 2019 using the 
modified retrospective method. Consequently, the Group recorded the lease liability at the present value of the remaining 
lease payments discounted at the incremental borrowing rate as on the date of transition and has measured right of use 
asset at an amount equal to lease liability adjusted for any related prepaid and accrued lease payments previously recognized.

The following is the summary of practical expedients elected on initial application:

(a)	 Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases of similar assets in similar economic environment with a similar 
end date

(b) 	 Applied the exemption not to recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease 
term on the date of initial application

(c)	 Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application
(d) 	 Applied the practical expedient by not reassessing whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the date of initial 

application. Instead applied the standards only to contracts that were previously identified as leases under Ind AS 17.

(e)	 Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or terminate the lease

Following is carrying value of right of use assets recognized on date of transition and the movements thereof during the year 
ended March 31, 2021 and March 31,2020:

(` in Million)

Particulars

Right to use asset 

Leasehold Building

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Opening Balance 45.19 - 

Transition impact on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 “Leases” (refer Note 3) - 60.13 

Total Right of Use on the date of transition 45.19 60.13 

Additions during the year 32.15 - 

Deletion during the year - - 

Depreciation of Right of use assets (refer note 5) 18.54 14.94 

Closing Balance 58.81 45.19 
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The following is the carrying value of lease liability on the date of transition and movement thereof during the year ended 
March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 :

(` in Million)

Particulars
Lease Liability 

Leasehold Building
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020

Opening Balance 47.79 - 
Transition impact on account of adoption of Ind AS 116 “Leases” - 60.13 
Additions during the year 29.25 - 
Finance cost accrued during the year 5.74 5.25 
Deletions - - 
Payment of lease liabilities (20.89) (17.59)
Closing Balance 61.89 47.79 
Current maturities of Lease liability (refer note 12) 19.04 13.13 
Non-Current Lease Liability (refer note 12) 42.84 34.66 

The following are the amounts recognized in statement of Profit & Loss :	 (` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021

Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Amortization of Right to use assets 18.54 14.94 
Interest on Lease obligation 5.74 5.25 

24.27 20.19 

The adoption of the new standard has also resulted in decrease in profit before tax and profit for the year 2019-20 by ̀  2.60 million (Increase 
in depreciation expense and finance cost by ` 14.94 million and ` 5.25 million respectively with corresponding decrease in other expense by 
` 17.59 million). The effect of this adoption is insignificant on earnings per share. Ind AS 116 has also resulted in an increase in cash inflows 
from operating activities and an increase in cash outflows from financing activities on account of lease payments by ` 17.59 million each. 
Total Deferred tax expense and deferred tax liabilities are decreased by ` 0.91 million.

The Group had total cash out flows for leases of ` 20.89 million in the current year (year ended March 31, 2020 ` 17.59 million). The entire 
amount is in the nature of fixed lease payments. The Company had non-cash addition to right of use assets of ` 32.15 million and lease 
liabilities of ` 29.25 million in the current year (year ended March 31, 2020 ` 60.13 million) on account of acquisition of right to use assets.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 10.65%

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities as the current assets are sufficient to meet the obligations 
related to lease liabilities as and when they fall due.
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Note 33 : Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management
A. Accounting classification and fair values

The significant accounting policies, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognized, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are 
disclosed in Note 2 to the Financial Statements.

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities:

As at 31 March 2021	 (` in Million)

Particulars

Carrying amount Fair value

Amortized 
Cost

Fair value through

Total

Level 1 - 
Quoted 
price in 

active 
markets

Level 2 - 
Significant 
observable 

inputs

Level 3 - 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs

TotalOther 
comprehensive 

income

Profit 
and loss

Financial assets
Non current 
investment - 656.54 - 656.54 - 656.54 - 656.54 

Other Non-current 
financial asset* 84.57 - - 84.57 - 84.57 - 84.57 

84.57 656.54 - 741.10 - 741.10 - 741.10 
Financial liabilities
Long term borrowing 110.41 - - 110.41 - 110.41 - 110.41 
Other financial 
liabilities-non-current 42.84 - - 42.84 - 42.84 - 42.84 

153.25 - - 153.25 - 153.25 - 153.25 

As at 31 March 2020	 (` in Million)

Particulars

Carrying amount Fair value

Amortized 
Cost

Fair value through

Total

Level 1 - 
Quoted 
price in 

active 
markets

Level 2 - 
Significant 
observable 

inputs

Level 3 - 
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs

TotalOther 
comprehensive 

income

Profit 
and loss

Financial assets
Non current 
investment - 615.79 82.76 698.55 - 698.55 - 698.55 

Other Non-current 
financial asset* 471.76 - - 471.76 - 471.76 - 471.76 

471.76 615.79 82.76 1,170.31 - 1,170.31 - 1,170.31 
Financial liabilities
Long term borrowing 175.81 - - 175.81 - 175.81 - 175.81 
Other financial 
liabilities-non-current 34.66 - - 34.66 - 34.66 - 34.66 

210.47 - - 210.47 - 210.47 - 210.47 

The management assessed that cash and cash equivalents, other bank balances, loans, trade receivables, trade payables, other current 
financial assets and other current financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments

* The management assessed that carrying value approximates to the fair value
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Fair value hierarchy

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 - Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 1 - Valuation technique and significant observable inputs for assets and liabilities

Current Investment represents investment in mutual funds. The fair value of investment is derived based on the fund 
statement provided by the fund manager.

Reconciliation of Level 1 fair values

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 1 fair values.
(` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20
Opening Balance on April 1, - - 
Purchases 152.49 550.50 
Sales (152.49) (550.50)
Closing Balance on March 31, - - 

Level 2 - Valuation technique and significant observable inputs for assets and liabilities

Long term borrowings represents loan taken from bank. The fair value of borrowing is derived based on market observable 
interest rate. 

The fair values of the unquoted non current investment have been estimated using a DCF model. The valuation requires 
management to make certain assumptions about the model inputs, including forecast cash flows and discount rate. The 
probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and are used in management’s estimate 
of fair value for these unquoted preference investments.

B. Financial risk management

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

	 Credit risk ;

	 Liquidity risk ; and

	 Market risk

i. Risk management framework

The Group’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework. The Group manages market risk through a treasury operations, which evaluates and exercises independent 
control over the entire process of market risk management. The treasury team recommends risk management objectives 
and policies. The activities of this operations include management of cash resources, borrowing strategies, and ensuring 
compliance with market risk limits and policies.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management 
standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations.

The audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and 
procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. 
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ii. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investments in debt 
securities. The carrying amount of following financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Financial Instruments and Cash Deposits

The Group maintains its Cash and cash equivalents and Bank deposits with banks having good reputation, good past track 
record and high quality credit rating and also reviews their credit-worthiness on an on-going basis.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables of the Group are typically unsecured. Credit risk is managed through periodic monitoring of the 
creditworthiness of customers to which Group grants credit terms in the normal course of business. The allowance for 
impairment of Trade receivables is created to the extent and as and when required, based upon the expected collectability 
of accounts receivables.

At March 31, 2021, the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables by geographic region was as follows:
(` in Million)

Particulars
Carrying amount

As at  
March 31, 2021

As at  
March 31, 2020

Domestic 397.41 200.48 
Other regions 331.68 333.02 

729.09 533.50 

Impairment

At March 31, 2021, the ageing of trade and other receivables that were not impaired was as follows.	 (` in Million)

Particulars

Carrying amount

As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020

Upto 0-180 days More than 180 days Upto 0-180 days More than 180 days

Gross 569.40 234.99 507.40 80.14 

Less: Allowances for doubtful debts (22.73) (52.57) (11.75) (42.28)

Net 546.67 182.42 495.65 37.86 

The above receivables which are past due but not impaired are assessed on individual case to case basis and relate to a 
number of independent third party customers from whom there is no recent history of default. These financial assets were 
not impaired as there had not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts were still considered recoverable 
based on the nature of the activity of the customer portfolio to which they belong and the type of customers. There are no 
other classes of financial assets that are past due but not impaired except for Trade receivables as at March 31, 2021 and 
March 31, 2020

iii. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without 
incurring unacceptable losses. The Group’s objective is to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash 
and collateral requirements. The Group closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a robust cash management system.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments:



Purpose Fuels Growth 259

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

(` in Million)

Particulars On demand Less than 1 year More than 1 year
Year ended March 31, 2021
Interest bearing borrowings* 87.90 110.41 
Trade payables 215.48 - 
Other financial liabilities 559.77 42.84 

- 863.15 153.25 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments:

(` in Million)

Year ended March 31, 2020
Interest bearing borrowings* 87.90 175.81 
Trade payables 299.47 
Other financial liabilities 250.79 34.66 

- 638.16 210.47 
* Includes contractual interest payment based on interest rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period over the tenor of the borrowings.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Group transacts business in local currency and in foreign currency, USD, EURO, OMR, SAR, 
BHD, GBP, KWD and QAR. The Group has foreign currency trade payables and receivables and is, therefore, exposed to 
foreign exchange risk. The Group does not use any derivative instruments to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency 
fluctuations.

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in USD, SAR, EURO and GBP rates to the 
functional currency of respective entity, with all other variables held constant. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency 
changes for all other currencies is not material. The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair value 
of monetary assets and liabilities.

(` in Million)

Change in USD rate Effect on profit 
before tax

March 31, 2021 +5% 31.84 
-5% (31.84)

March 31, 2020 +5% 22.20 
-5% (22.20)

Change in SAR rate Effect on profit 
before tax

March 31, 2021 +5% 0.84 
-5% (0.84)

March 31, 2020 +5% 0.92 
-5% (0.92)
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Change in EURO 
rate

Effect on profit 
before tax

March 31, 2021 +5% 1.39 
-5% (1.39)

March 31, 2020 +5% 0.21 
-5% (0.21)

Change in GBP rate Effect on profit 
before tax

March 31, 2021 +5% 0.42 
-5% (0.42)

March 31, 2020 +5% 0.29 
-5% (0.29)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s 
long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed plus variable rate borrowings.

Note 34 : Capital management
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the Group. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it 
maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder 
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions or its business 
requirements. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt 
divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings less cash 
and short-term deposits (including other bank balance).

(` in Million)

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2021 

Year ended  
March 31, 2020 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 13) 205.89 263.78 

Less: cash and cash equivalent and other bank balance (Note 7) (1,781.62) (988.67)

Net debt (1,575.73) (724.89)

Equity share capital (Note 11) 1,331.05 664.72 

Other equity (Note 12) 27,550.85 27,368.63 

Total capital 28,881.90 28,033.35 

Capital and net debt 27,306.17 27,308.46 

Gearing ratio - - 
In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial 
covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the 
financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches in the financial covenants 
of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current period.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended March 31, 2021, March 31, 2020.
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Note 35 :Demerger of business undertakings and subsidiary company
The Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, Ahmedabad Bench, vide its order dated November 27, 2020, sanctioned the 
Composite Scheme of Arrangement amongst Infibeam Avenues Limited (‘Infibeam’), Suvidhaa Infoserve Limited (‘Suvidhaa’), 
DRC Systems India Limited (‘DRC’) and NSI Infinium Global Limited (‘NSI’) and their respective shareholders and creditors 
under Sections 230 to 232 read with Section 66 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘Scheme’) 
leading to Transfer and vesting of the SME E-Commerce Services Undertaking from Infibeam to Suvidhaa and Themepark & 
Event Software Undertaking from Infibeam to DRC. The Scheme became effective upon filing of certified copy of the order 
with the Registrar of Companies (RoC) on December 2, 2020. The Appointed Date for the Composite Scheme of Arrangement 
was April 1, 2020 and the Record Date was set as December 11, 2020 for the purpose of determining the shareholders for 
issuance of Equity Shares. 

Demerger of Themepark & Event Software Undertaking :

In accordance with the provisions of the aforesaid scheme, upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and in consideration of 
the transfer and vesting of the Themepark & Event Software Undertaking into DRC pursuant to the provisions of this Scheme, 
DRC has, without any further act or deed, issued and allotted to each shareholder of lnfibeam, whose name is recorded in 
the register of members and records of the depositories as members of Infibeam, on the Record Date in the following ratio:

1 (One) equity share of ` 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each of DRC credited as fully paid-up for every 412 (Four Hundred Twelve) 
equity shares of Re. 1/- (Rupee One Only) each held by such shareholder in Infibeam

Demerger of SME E-commerce Services Undertaking:

In accordance with the provisions of the aforesaid scheme, upon the coming into effect of this Scheme and in consideration 
of the transfer and vesting of the SME E-commerce Services Undertaking into Suvidhaa pursuant to the provisions of this 
Scheme, Suvidhaa has, without any further act or deed, issued and allotted to each shareholder of lnfibeam, whose name 
is recorded in the register of members and records of the depositories as members of lnfibeam, on the Record Date in the 
following ratio:

197 (One Hundred Ninety-Seven) equity shares of Re. 1 /- (Rupee One Only) each of Suvidhaa credited as fully paid-up 
for every 1,500 (One Thousand Five Hundred) equity shares of Re. 1/- (Rupee One Only) each held by such shareholder in 
Infibeam

The shares have been allotted during the year post approval of scheme and the amount of distribution of net assets of the 
demerged undertakings have been adjusted against General Reserve and Retained Earnings under Other equity.

In accordance with the scheme, the demerger of undertakings has been accounted as prescribed by Ind AS 103 “Business 
Combinations”.

Accordingly, the accounting treatment has been given as under: -

All the assets and liabilities of demerged undertakings and subsidiary company (DRC) as at 1 April 2020 have been transferred 
at their book values from the financial statements of the Group and the net assets value have been adjusted against General 
Reserves and Retained earnings under Other Equity.

Further, the SME E-Commerce Services Undertaking, Themepark & Event Software Undertaking and subsidiary company 
(DRC) have been disclosed as discontinued operations and financial results of previous year presented have been restated 
accordingly, to disclose the results of demerged undertakings/company separately from the Group’s continuing business 
operations.
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Statement of Profit and Loss of demerged undertakings and subsidiaries:	 (` in Million)

Particulars
Themepark & 

Event Software 
Undertaking 

SME E-commerce 
Services 

Undertaking

DRC Systems 
Limited Total

Income
Revenue from operations 13.41 31.68 108.67 153.76 
Other Income - - 7.59 7.59 
Total income (I) 13.41 31.68 116.26 161.35 
Expenses
Employee benefits expenses 7.41 6.41 77.13 90.94 
Finance cost - - 1.06 1.06 
Depreciation and amortization expenses 27.85 9.79 2.58 40.22 
Other expenses 2.01 4.75 34.85 41.62 
Total expenses (II) 37.27 20.95 115.62 173.84 
Profit / (Loss) before share of associates (23.85) 10.73 0.64 (12.49)
Share in net profit / (loss) of associates (17.86)
Profit / (Loss) before tax (23.85) 10.73 0.64 (30.34)
Tax expenses (8.34) 3.75 0.52 (4.06)
Profit / (Loss) after tax (15.52) 6.98 0.11 (26.28)

Assets and liabilities transferred

The book values of the assets and liabilities of demerged undertakings and subsidiary company (DRC) transferred at the 
appointed date (April 01 , 2020) were as follows:

(` in Million)

Particulars Themepark & Event 
Software Undertaking 

SME E-commerce 
Services Undertaking

DRC Systems 
Limited Total

Assets:
Property, Plant and Equipment 0.12 0.07 1.78 1.97 
Other intangible assets 50.87 4.49 1.29 56.65 
Goodwill on consolidation - - 18.11 18.11 
Investments (held for sale) - 302.72 0.00 302.72 
Deferred Tax Assets - - 2.04 2.04 
Income tax assets (net) - - 0.27 0.27 
Trade receivables 1.06 1.53 36.55 39.14 
Cash and cash equivalents 3.99 40.80 5.26 50.05 
Other Financial Assets - - 1.77 1.77 
Other Current Assets - - 2.82 2.82 

56.04 349.60 69.88 475.52 
Liabilities:
Provisions-non-current - - 3.74 3.74 
Trade payable - - 13.62 13.62 
Other financial Liabilities 0.60 0.53 5.59 6.73 
Other current Liabilities 18.32 0.31 3.90 22.53 
Provisions-current - - 0.94 0.94 

18.93 0.84 27.80 47.57 
Net Assets Transferred 37.12 348.76 42.08 427.96 
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Net Assets Transferred as on April 01, 2020 adjusted against following in previous year :

General Reserve (Note 12) 107.31 
Retained Earnings (Note 12) 308.90 
Non-controlling Interest 11.75 

427.96 

Note 36 : Nodal account balance
The Group maintains nodal account with ICICI Bank, HDFC Bank and Kotak Mahindra Bank. The nodal accounts are operated 
as per RBI guidelines pertaining to settlement of payment for electronic payment transactions for payment gateway business. 
The balance in the nodal accounts represents money collected from customers on transaction undertaken and is used for 
settling of dues to various merchants as per RBI guidelines.

Receivable for settlement of transactions:

The balance in receivable for settlement of transaction represents the amount pending to be received from pooling bank 
account and payment gateway for successful online transaction completed by the customer of the merchant into the nodal 
accounts. These amounts once collected in Nodal account will be utilized for payment to the merchants.

Payable for settlement of transactions:

The balance in payable for settlement of transaction represents the amount pending to be paid to merchant for successful 
online transaction completed by the customer of the merchant. The amount for the nodal accounts are transferred to the 
merchant designated bank account as per RBI guidelines, after deducting applicable charges.

Note 37: Consolidation of Trust
The Group has formed ‘Infibeam Employee Welfare Trust’ (IEW trust) for implementation of the schemes that are notified 
or may be notified from time to time by the Group under the plan, providing share based payment to its employees. IEW 
trust purchases Parent Company’s shares out of funds provided by the Group. The Group treats IEW as its extension and 
accordingly shares held by IEW are treated as treasury shares.

The Consolidation of the IEW trust financials statements with that of the Group does not in any manner affect the independence 
of the trustees where the rights and obligations are regulated by the trust deed.

Own equity instruments (treasury shares) are deducted from equity.

(i) The sources and application of funds of the IEW Trust consolidated as at March 31, 2021 were as follows:

(` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20
Corpus Fund 0.00 0.00 
Borrowing 402.19 401.96 
Current liabilities and provision 40.44 40.29 
Cash and cash equivalents 0.01 0.26 
Non current investments 396.06 396.06 
Net asset / (liability) (46.56) (45.94)
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(ii) Impact on the Group’s profit and loss post IEW Trust consolidation for the year March 31, 2021	 (` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2019-20
Income
Dividend on equity - 0.28 
Expenses
Administrative expense 0.62 0.62 
Impact on profit before tax (0.62) (0.34)

(iii) Summarized statement of cash flows of the Trust consolidated for the year ended March 31, 2021

(` in Million)

Particulars 2020-21 2017-18
Cash and cash equivalents April 1, 0.26 0.02 
Cash flow from operating activities (0.48) (4.00)
Cash flow from investing activities - 0.28 
Cash flow from financing activities 0.23 3.96 
Cash and cash equivalents March 31, 0.01 0.26 

Other items adjusted owing to the Trust consolidation include :

(a)	 Treasury shares 

	 Upon consolidation, the investment in the Company’s equity shares made by IEW Trust is debited to the Company’s 
equity as treasury shares amounting to ` 396.06 million as at March 31, 2021 (previous year: ` 396.06 million).

(b)	 Dividend Income

	 The dividend income of the Trust is debited to the Company’s retained earning amounting to Nil as at March 31, 2021 
(previous year: ` 0.28 million) (shown as deduction from dividend paid).

(c)	 Other Non Current Financial Assets and other income

	 Loan advanced to the Trust is eliminated on consolidation amounting to ̀  402.19 million as at March 31 , 2021 (previous 
year: ` 401.96 million) forming a part of current loans. Accordingly, interest on above loan is also eliminated amounting 
to ` Nil (previous year: ` Nil).

(d)	 Interest Expenses

	 Due to significant difference in the purchase price of the shares acquired and prevailing market price of the share, 
the Company foresees inability of the ESOP Trust to service its loan obligations and interest payment temporarily. 
Accordingly the Company has reduced the interest on loan to zero.



Purpose Fuels Growth 265

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

Note : 38 Additional information as required by Paragraph 2 of the general instructions for 
preparation of consolidated financial statements to Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013

(` in Million)

Name of the entity in the 
group

Net assets i.e. total 
assets minus total 

liabilities
Share of profit or loss

Share of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

(OCI)

Share of Total 
Comprehensive Income 

(TCI)
As % of 

consolidated 
net assets

Amount
As % of 

consolidated 
profit

Amount
As % of 

consolidated 
OCI

Amount
As % of 

consolidated 
TCI

Amount

Parent
1. Infibeam Avenues Limited 
(formerly known as Infibeam 
Incorporation Limited)

91.15% 26,324.31 24.58% 172.66 -12017.36% 2.11 24.88% 174.77 

Subsidiary
Indian
1. Instant Global Paytech Pvt 
Ltd (w.e.f. 06.05.2020) 0.23% 66.56 0.56% 3.90 -395.74% 0.07 0.57% 3.97 

2. Infibeam Digital 
Entertainment Pvt. Ltd. -0.23% (65.36) -0.72% (5.08) 0.00% - -0.72% (5.08)

3. So Hum Bharat Digital 
Payments Private Limited 
(w.e.f. 20/02/2021)

0.95% 273.49 -0.01% (0.05) 0.00% - -0.01% (0.05)

4. Odigma Consultancy 
Solutions Pvt. Ltd. 0.70% 201.70 32.94% 231.37 41.77% (0.01) 32.93% 231.36 

5. Infibeam Logistics Pvt. Ltd. 1.12% 324.67 -2.42% (17.00) 0.00% - -2.42% (17.00)
6. Cardpay Technologies Pvt 
Ltd (w.e.f. 04.06.2020) 0.05% 15.69 -0.28% (1.95) 0.00% - -0.28% (1.95)

7. Avenues Infinite Private 
Limited 4.11% 1,186.59 0.12% 0.85 12831.11% (2.26) -0.20% (1.40)

Foreign - 
1. AI Fintech INC 
(w.e.f.09.06.2020) 0.43% 123.74 4.70% 33.04 0.00% - 4.70% 33.04 

2. Vavian International Limited 
(From July 1, 2018) 0.43% 124.72 3.61% 25.37 0.00% - 3.61% 25.37 

3. Avenues World FZ LLC (From 
July 1, 2018) 1.06% 305.78 27.63% 194.08 0.00% - 27.63% 194.08 

Associates - 
1. Avenues Payments India 
Private Limited 0.00% - -3.72% (26.14) 0.00% - -3.72% (26.14)

2. Instant Global Paytech Pvt 
Ltd ( up to 05.05.2020) 0.00% - -0.30% (2.10) 0.00% - -0.30% (2.10)

3. Infibeam Global EMEA FZ 
LLC 0.00% - 16.40% 115.19 0.00% - 16.40% 115.19 

4. Rich Relevants Ltd 0.00% - 0.06% 0.41 0.00% - 0.06% 0.41 
5. DRC Systems India Limited 
(w.e.f.01.04.2020) 0.00% - -0.17% (1.21) 0.00% - -0.17% (1.21)

Non-Controlling interest in 
subsidiary -0.01% (2.82) -2.97% (20.86) -359.78% 0.06 -2.96% (20.80)

Total 100% 28,879.08 100% 702.48 100% (0.02) 100% 702.46 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

Note : 40 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Activities:
a.	 The Group is required to spend ` 9.65 million (Previous Year ` 7.30 million) on CSR activities.

b.	 Amount spent during the year on:	 (` in Million)

Year ended 
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

In cash Yet to be 
paid in cash Total In cash Yet to be 

paid in cash Total

Construction / Acquisition of an Assets - - - - - - 
Contribution to Trust/Universities 9.65 - 9.65 7.30 - 7.30 
On Purposes other than (i) above - - - - - - 

Note : 41 Transfer Pricing
The Group transactions with associated enterprise is at arm’s length. Management believes that the group domestic 
transactions with associated enterprises post March 31, 2021 continue to be at arm’s length and that the transfer pricing 
legislation will not have any impact on the financial statements particularly on the amount of the tax expense for the year and 
the amount of the provision for taxation at the period end.

Note : 42
During the year ended March 2020, the Group has received Government grant amounting to ̀  95.85 million against purchase 
of qualifying assets (Office Building and Data Centre related infrastructure). The same have been deducted from the carrying 
amount of the qualified assets. Accordingly, depreciation expense on qualified assets has been less charged to the statement 
of profit and loss by ` 24.45 (Previous year: ` 9.67 million).

Note : 43 Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 115 “Revenue from contract with customers”:
a.	 Disaggregation of revenue

	 The table below presents disaggregated revenue from contract with customer for the year ended March 31, 2021 and 
March 31, 2020 by offerings.

i)	 Revenue by offerings	 (` in Million)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2021

For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

Digital Payment and Checkout Web Services 5,714.82 5,741.60 

E-Commerce Related Web Services 1,045.54 585.56 

Total 6,760.35 6,327.16 

Digital Payment and Checkout Web Services

	 It comprises revenue from providing complete, simple and secure online payment gateway and checkout web services, 
with a real-time Credit Card, Debit Card, Net Banking, Digital and Mobile Wallet including UPI Payments, Cash Card and 
Mobile Payment transaction validation process and platforms. This enables eCommerce websites to sell products and 
services online, and accept payments in real time.

E-Commerce Related Web Services

	 These primarily include a comprehensive suite of E-Commerce related web services comprising of domain registry, 
technical analysis and testing of software web services, digital advertising, and infrastructure related services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

ii)	 Refer note 31 for disaggregation of revenue by geographical segments

iii)	 The Group believes that this disaggregation best depicts how the nature, amount, timing of its revenues and cash 
flows are affected by industry, market and other economic factors.

b)	 Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligation

	 The aggregate value of performance obligations that are completely or partially unsatisfied as of March 31, 2021 is 
` 0.54 million (March 31, 2020 is ` 48.96 million) which is expected to be recognize as revenue within the next one 
year. Remaining performance obligation estimates are subject to change and are affected by several factors, including 
changes in the scope of contracts, periodic revalidations, and adjustments for currency.

c)	 Changes in contract assets are as follows:	 (` in Million)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2021

For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year 526.65 184.67 
Revenue recognized during the year 609.65 528.76 
Invoices raised during the year (372.41) (186.78)
Balance at the end of the year 763.89 526.65 

d)	 Changes in unearned and deferred revenue are as follows:	 (` in Million)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2021

For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year 56.31 227.17 
Revenue recognized that was included in the excess billing over revenue at the 
beginning of the year (54.61) (177.23)

Increase due to invoicing during the year, excluding amounts recognized as revenue 
during the year 8.55 6.37 

Balance at the end of the year 10.25 56.31 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021

Note : 44
World Health Organization (WHO) declared outbreak of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) a global pandemic on March 11, 
2020. Consequent to this, Government of India declared lockdown on 24-03-2020 which has impacted the business activities 
of the Group. On account of this, the Group has prepared cash flow projections and also, assessed the recoverability of 
receivables, contract assets, factored assumptions used in annual impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets 
having indefinite useful life, using the various internal and external information up to the date of approval of these financial 
statements. On the basis of evaluation and current indicators of future economic conditions, the Group expects to recover 
the carrying amount of these assets and does not anticipate any impairment to these financial and nonfinancial assets. The 
Group will continue to closely monitor any material changes to future economic conditions.

Note : 45
Previous year figures have been regrouped or recast wherever necessary to make them comparable with those of current 
year.

As per our report of even date
For Shah & Taparia For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Chartered Accountants Infibeam Avenues Limited 
ICAI Firm Registration No. 109463W (formerly known as Infibeam Incorporation Limited) 

CIN: L64203GJ2010PLC061366 

Ramesh Pipalawa Vishal Mehta Ajit Mehta 
Partner Managing Director Chairman 
Membership No.: 103840 DIN: 03093563 DIN: 01234707 

Gandhinagar Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021

Hiren Padhya Shyamal Trivedi
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Gandhinagar Gandhinagar
Date: May 27, 2021 Date: May 27, 2021
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